Hormonal modulation of ageing skin microstructure and mechanical properties

A thesis submitted to the University of Manchester for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in the Faculty of Faculty of Biology, Medicine and Health

2016

Charis R Saville

School of Biological Sciences

Table of Contents

	Title pa	ge	1
	Table of	Contents	2
	Table of	figures	5
	Table of	f tables	6
	Table of	f supplemental figures	6
	Abbrevi	ations	7
	Abstrac	+	11
	Declara	tion	12
	Acknow	ledgments	13
1	Introduc	tion	15
	1.1 Skir	n structure and function	15
	1.1.1	Epidermis	16
	1.1.2	Dermal epidermal junction	16
	1.1.3	Dermis	16
	1.1.4	Hypodermis	17
	1.1.5	Comparison of murine and human skin	18
	1.2 Ext	racellular matrix proteins	20
	1.2.1	Collagens	20
	1.2.2	Small leucine rich proteoglycans (SLRPs)	21
	1.2.3	Elastic fibres	21
	1.2.4	Composition of elastic fibres	22
	1.3 Skir	n Mechanics	25
	1.3.1	Measuring gross mechanics in vivo	25
	1.3.2	Measuring gross mechanics <i>ex vivo</i>	26
	1.3.3	Stress strain relationship of skin	26
	1.3.4	Viscoelastic properties - Stress relaxation	27
	1.4 Skir	n Ageing	27
	1.4.1	Intrinsic ageing	28
	1.4.2	Mechanisms of ageing	29
	1.4.3	Extrinsic ageing	31
	1.4.4	Estrogen and ageing	

1.5	Estrogen	
1.5.2	1 Estrogen Signalling	
1.5.2	2 Estrogen effects on skin	
1.5.3	3 Mouse models provide insight into the effects of estrogen on skin	
1.5.4	Estrogen receptor agonists and Selective Estrogen Receptor Modulators (38	SERMs)
1.6	Wound healing	
1.6.2	1 Haemostasis	
1.6.2	2 Inflammatory response	
1.6.3	3 Proliferative phase	
1.6.4	4 Re-epithelisation	
1.6.5	5 Restoration of the Dermis	
1.6.6	6 Angiogenesis	
1.6.7	7 Tissue remodelling	
1.7	Estrogen and wound healing	
1.7.3	1 Estrogen and inflammation	
1.7.2	2 Estrogen and re-epithelialisation	
1.7.3	3 Estrogen and matrix deposition	43
1.8	Conclusions, Hypothesis and Aims	
2 Mat	erials and Methods	47
2.1	Animal Experiments	
2.1.2	1 Ovariectomy	
2.1.2	2 Incisional wounding	
2.1.3	3 Tissue harvest	
2.1.4	4 Tissue processing	
2.2	Histological analysis	
2.2.2	1 Tissue sectioning	
2.2.2	2 Dewaxing and rehydration	
2.2.3	3 Immunoperoxidase staining	
2.2.4	Gamori's aldehyde fuchsin stain for elastic fibres	50
2.2.5	5 Picro-Sirius red staining for organised fibrillar collagen	50
2.2.6	6 Massons trichrome staining for collagen	50
2.3	Cell Culture	51
2.3.3	1 Culture of human dermal fibroblasts	51
2.3.2	2 Cell culture for Mass spectrometry	

2.4	Quantitative Real-time PCR	51
2.4.	1 RNA Extraction	51
2.4.	2 RNA quantification and cDNA synthesis	52
2.4.	3 Quantitative Real-Time PCR analysis (qPCR)	52
2.5	Protein analysis	53
2.5.	1 Western blot	53
2.5.	2 Extraction of cell deposited ECM for mass spectrometry	54
2.6	Mechanical Testing	55
2.6.	1 Tension testing to failure	55
2.6.	2 Cyclical loading and stress relaxation	55
2.7	Statistical Analysis	55
"Estroge 56	n mediates remodelling of the dermal elastic fibre system and hypodermal ac	lipocytes"
Prepared	for submission to: Journal of pathology	56
3 Estr adipocyt	ogen mediates remodelling of the dermal elastic fibre system and hypodermates and hypodermates and hypodermates	al 57
3.1	Abstract	58
3.2	Introduction	59
3.3	Methods	60
3.4	Results	64
3.5	Discussion	74
3.6	References	79
"A comb 84	ined mechanical and proteomic study of estrogen-deficiency as a model of sk	in ageing"
4 A co	ombined mechanical and proteomic study of estrogen-deficiency as a model of	of skin
ageing		85
4.1	Abstract	85
4.2	Introduction	86
4.3	Materials and Methods	87
4.4	Results	89
4.5	Discussion	98
4.6	References	104
"Signallii	ng through estrogen receptor alpha has an acute effect on elastic fibres"	107
5 Sigr	alling through estrogen receptor alpha has an acute effect on elastic fibres	108
5.1	Abstract	
5.2	Introduction	

	5.3	Methods
	5.4	Results
	5.5	Discussion122
	5.6	References
	5.7	Supplemental figures
6	Disc	ussion
	6.1	Acute estrogen deficiency leads to rapid loss of dermal elastic fibres chapter 3 130
	6.2 4	Acute estrogen deficiency is a key driver of age associated dermal protein loss chapter 131
	6.3 elastic	Signalling via estrogen receptor alpha may have important roles in the maintenance of fibres during acute estrogen deficiency chapter 5
	6.4	Overall conclusions
	6.5	Impact
	6.6	Effects on original hypothesis
	6.7	Further work
	6.8	References
7	Met	hod Appendix

Word count -36,261

Table of Figures

Figure 1.1. Simple overview of skin structure	. 15
Figure 1.2 . Comparison of human and murine skin structure.	. 19
Figure 1.3 . Dermal Elastic fibre system in mouse and human skin.	. 22
Figure 1.4. A Typical stress stain curve from skin.	. 27
Figure 1.5. Young and aged skin	. 29
Figure 1.6 Estriol, estradiol and estrone structures	33
Figure 1.7 synthesis of estrone, estradiol and estriol I	. 33
Figure 1.8 Human ER gene structure	. 34
Figure 1.9 Four main mechanisms of estrogen signallinge	. 35
Figure 1.10. An overview of the timeline of the stages of wound healing.	. 39
Figure 1.11. Estrogen affects many aspects of wound healing	. 43
Figure 2.1 Position of dorsal incisional wounds.	. 47

Figure 3.1 The mechanical properties of skin
Figure 3.2 Dermal collagen
Figure 3.3 Elastic fibre abundance and expression in vivo
Figure 3.4 - Estrogen treatment induces key elastic fibre proteins in human cell culture 71
Figure 3.5 Ovariectomy significantly increases adipose tissue and collagenase activity
Figure 3.6 Schematic representation of skin following estrogen deprivation and estrogen
replacement
Figure 4.1 Ageing and Ovx alter the mechanical properties of murine skin in contrasting ways90
Figure 4.2 Mass spectrometry reveals age and estrogen deprivation alter the dermal proteome
in similar ways
Figure 4.3 Only estrogen deficiency lead to significant alterations in the dermal proteome 93
Figure 4.4 ECM abundance does not correlate with mechanical properties
Figure 4.5 Age associated tissue stiffening may be due to AGE associated crosslinks
Figure 4.6 Summary schematic. Age and estrogen deficiency 103
Figure 5.1 Elastic fibres are acutely and selectively induced by ER alpha activation in
ovariectomised mice
Figure 5.2 Estrogen Receptor alpha KO skin displays reduced elastic fibre density115
Figure 5.3 ER β signalling exacerbates delayed wound elastic fibre deposition following
ovariectomy
Figure 5.4 Estrogen receptor agonist treatment locally alters estrogen receptor expression. 118
Figure 5.5 . ER α signalling prevents Ovx induced cutaneous adipose hypertrophy 120
Figure 5.6 Human dermal fibroblasts induce in vitro expression of elastic fibre components in
response to both ERalpha and ERbeta activation121

Table of Tables

Table 1.1 Collagen suprastuctures	21
Table 1.2 Phenotypic changes in ER null mice	38
Table 2.1 Tissue processing protocol	48
Table 2.2 Antibodies for immunohistochmical analysis	50
Table 2.3 qPCR cycling conditions	52
Table 2.4 Primer sequences	53
Table 2.5 Western blot antibody dilutions	53
Table 5.1 Primer sequences	112
Table 6.1 Overall conclusions	134

Supplemental Figures

Supplemental figure 5.1 Relative change in dermal elastic fibre quantity	126
Supplemental figure 5.2 Elastic fibres in healing 14 day wound bed	126
Supplemental figure 5.3 Estrogen receptor expression 7 weeks	127
Supplemental figure 5.4 The effects of hair cycle on adipose depth	127

Abbreviations

Aebp1- AE Binding Protein 1		
AFM - Atomic force microscopy		
AGE- Advanced glycation end-products		
Ahsg- Alpha 2-HS Glycoprotein		
AP-1- Activator protein 1		
Aspn- Asporin		
Bgn- Biglycan		
BMI – Body mass index		
Capg- Capping Actin Protein, Gelsolin Like		
Cma1- Chymase 1		
Col1a1-Collagen Type I Alpha 1 Chain		
Col1a2- Collagen Type I Alpha 2 Chain		
Col2a1-Collagen Type II Alpha 1 Chain		
Col3a1- Collagen Type III Alpha 1 Chain		
Col4a2- Collagen Type IV Alpha 2 Chain		
Col5a1- Collagen Type V Alpha 1 Chain		
Col5a2- Collagen Type V Alpha 2 Chain		
Col6a1-Collagen Type VI Alpha 1 Chain		
Col6a2- Collagen Type VI Alpha 2 Chain		
Col7a1- Collagen Type VII Alpha 1 Chain		

Col11a1-Collagen Type XI Alpha 1 Chain

Col14a1- Collagen Type XIV Alpha 1 Chain

cbEGF- calcium binding epidermal growth factor

- Cys- Cysteine
- DBD- DNA binding domain
- Dcn- Decorin
- DEJ-Dermo-epidermal junction
- DNA Deoxyribonucleic acid
- DPN-2,3-bis(4-hydroxyphenyl)-propionitrile
- Dpt- Dermatopontin
- DTT- Dithiothretol
- EBP- Elastin binding protein
- ECL Enhanced chemiluminescence
- ECM- Extracellular matrix
- EGF- Epidermal growth factor
- EMILIN- Elastin microfibril interface located protein
- EMILIN-1- Elastin microfibril interfacer 1
- ER Estrogen Receptor
- ERE- Estrogen response element
- ERK-Extracellular signal-regulated kinases
- Fbn1- Fibrillin 1
- Fbn2- Fibrillin 2
- Fbln5- Fibulin 5
- Fn1- Fibronectin 1
- GAG- Glycosaminoglycans
- Gsn- Gelsolin
- HDF Human dermal fibroblasts
- Hpx- Hemopexin
- HRT- Hormone replacement therapy
- Hspg2- Heparan Sulfate Proteoglycan 2
- IGF-1 insulin-like growth factor-1

Itih1- Inter-Alpha-Trypsin Inhibitor Heavy Chain 1

kDa- Kilodalton

- Lama2- Laminin Subunit Alpha 2
- Lama3- Laminin Subunit Alpha 3
- Lama4- Laminin Subunit Alpha 4
- Lama5- Laminin Subunit Alpha 5
- Lamb1- Laminin Subunit Beta 1
- Lamc1- Laminin Subunit Gamma 1
- LBD-ligand binding domain
- Lgals1- Galectin 1
- Lgals3- Galectin 3
- LOX- Lysyl oxidase
- LOXL1 Lysyl oxidase like
- LTBP- Latent transforming growth factor β -binding protein
- Lum- Lumican
- MAGP-1-3 Microfibril associated glycoprotein-1
- MAPK- Mitogen-activated protein kinase
- MCP- Macrophage Chemoattractant protein
- MIP- Macrophage Inflammatory protein
- MMPs matrix metalloprotienases
- Nid1-Nidogen 1
- Nid2-Nidogen 2
- OCT Optimum cutting temperature formula
- Ogn- Osteoglycin
- Ovx Ovariectomised
- PCR- Polymerase chain reaction
- PDGF- Platelet-derived growth factor
- PPT- 4,4',4"-(4-propyl-[1H]-pyrazole-1,3,5-triyl)
- Postn- Periostin
- PSR Picosirius red
- RNA Ribonucleic acid

- **ROS-** Reactive oxygen species
- SASP- Senescence-associated secretory phenotype
- SDS-PAGE sodium dodecyl sulfate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis
- SERMS Selective Estrogen Receptor Modulators
- Serpina1d-Serpina1d
- Serpina3k- Serpin Family A Member 3
- Sfn- Stratifin
- Shc SHC-transforming protein 1
- SLRPs Small leucine rich proteoglycans
- SPRRs Small proline-rich proteins
- Src- Proto-oncogene tyrosine-protein kinase
- TB Transforming growth factor beta binding
- TGF- β Transforming growth factor beta
- Tgfbi- Transforming Growth Factor Beta Induced
- TIMPs Tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases
- TNFα- Tumor necrosis factor alpha
- Trp Tryptophan
- Tyr- Tyrosine
- UVR Ultra violet radiation
- VEGF- Vascular endothelial growth factor

Abstract

Ageing tissue is characterised by an alteration in mechanical properties, with tissues becoming increasingly fragile, stiff and less resilient over time. This can lead to a loss of function in tissues which undergo a high degree of stretch and recoil, such as the skin, blood vessels and lungs. These changes are attributed to remodelling of the dermal extra cellular matrix (ECM) proteins which endow tissue with its mechanical properties. Principally the fibrillar collagens provide tensile strength, complemented by the elastic fibres which confer resilience and allow tissues to recoil following deformation. Intriguingly, at the time of menopause, which sees the cessation of the majority of circulating estrogen, skin undergoes accelerated ageing. This strongly suggests a direct link between circulating estrogen and youthful skin. Using an ovariectomised (Ovx) mouse model of human menopause the link between ageing, estrogen deficiency and the dermal ECM proteins was explored. Mechanical testing revealed a significant reduction in the tensile strength, Young's modulus and stress relaxation time of estrogen deprived tissue, indicating postmenopausal skin would be weaker, more lax and less able to withstand sustained force. Corresponding histological analysis highlighted the elastic fibres are dramatically reduced by estrogen deprivation with seemingly little effects on the fibrillar collagen abundance or alignment. Direct comparison between Ovx and age, reveals age affects mechanical properties in a completely opposing way, with aged tissue higher in tensile strength, Young's modulus and stress relaxation time compared to control and Ovx. Proteomic analysis by mass spectrometry confirmed elastic fibres to be highly sensitive to estrogen levels. Additionally small leucine rich proteoglycans (SLRP's) were also significantly reduced by estrogen deficiency, which could affect collagen fibrillogenesis and leave tissue weaker and more susceptible to damage. Despite the opposing effects on mechanical properties, ageing and estrogen deficiency had comparable effects on ECM abundance, suggesting the amount of ECM is not a predictor of mechanical properties; however disparity may be in part due to increased advanced glycation end product crosslinking. Further investigation suggests the mechanism for elastic fibre degradation may be via significant subcutaneous adipose hypertrophy and/or increased gelatinase activity. Both estrogen replacement and stimulation of estrogen receptor α with the agonist 2,3-bis(4hydroxyphenyl)-propionitrile (PPT) were found to prevent elastic fibre degradation and adipose hypertrophy. Additionally these treatments were also found to induce key elastic fibre proteins in both the mouse model and cultured human dermal fibroblasts. A deeper understanding of estrogen mediated ECM remodelling offers opportunities for targeted pharmacological intervention to slow the effects of menopause and ageing.

Declaration

No portion of the work referred to in the thesis has been submitted in support of an application for another degree or qualification of this or any other university or other institute of learning;

Copyright Statements

i. The author of this thesis (including any appendices and/or schedules to this thesis) owns certain copyright or related rights in it (the "Copyright") and s/he has given The University of Manchester certain rights to use such Copyright, including for administrative purposes.

ii. Copies of this thesis, either in full or in extracts and whether in hard or electronic copy, may be made **only** in accordance with the Copyright, Designs and Patents Act 1988 (as amended) and regulations issued under it or, where appropriate, in accordance with licensing agreements which the University has from time to time. This page must form part of any such copies made.

iii. The ownership of certain Copyright, patents, designs, trademarks and other intellectual property (the "Intellectual Property") and any reproductions of copyright works in the thesis, for example graphs and tables ("Reproductions"), which may be described in this thesis, may not be owned by the author and may be owned by third parties. Such Intellectual Property and Reproductions cannot and must not be made available for use without the prior written permission of the owner(s) of the relevant Intellectual Property and/or Reproductions.

iv. Further information on the conditions under which disclosure, publication and commercialisation of this thesis, the Copyright and any Intellectual Property University IP Policy (see http://documents.manchester.ac.uk/display.aspx?DocID=24420), in any relevant Thesis restriction declarations deposited in the University Library, The University Library's regulations (see http://www.library.manchester.ac.uk/about/regulations/) and in The University's policy on Presentation of Theses

Acknowledgements

Firstly I would like to thank my supervisors, Matthew Hardman for initially encouraging me to embark on this task and Mike Sherratt for his help support and reassurance during my PhD. Their help and guidance has been invaluable. I extend a special thank you to Elaine Emmerson, who from the goodness of her heart helped me enormously during my write up, despite being half way around the world. I would like to thank all members of the former Hardman lab Helen W, Laura, Nic, Clare, Helen T, Chris, Byron, Jeya, Matt, Anna, Ben, Gurdeep, Nurhuda and Pishya for their friendship and help over the years it has been a pleasure to work with you all. Thank you to Rachel Crompton who is always willing to offer help and advice in so many areas not just the crossword. I would also like to acknowledge the use of mice who give their lives during research. I would like to thank my Mum who has always encouraged and supported me and I admire her greatly. Lastly but certainly not least I would like to thank Matt Tickle for sticking with me and keeping me going when the tasks seemed too big.

Chapter 1 Introduction

1 Introduction

Age related changes in the mechanical properties of tissues can profoundly affect human morbidity. Dynamic tissues such as those within the cardiovascular, cutaneous and respiratory systems require optimal mechanical function to efficiently fulfil their role within the body. However, ageing can lead to degeneration and over-stiffening of these systems. It is the extracellular matrix (ECM) proteins which are principally involved in endowing tissues with their mechanical functions. The dermis of skin is a readily accessible tissue, which is rich in ECM, and prone to age related changes manifesting as an increase in wrinkling and laxity. A crucial event in skin ageing is the menopause, which sees the cessation of the majority of circulating estrogen in females, and the rapid onset of the signs of ageing.

1.1 Skin structure and function

Broadly speaking the skin can be divided into three main layers (Figure 1.1). The outermost epidermis provides a barrier to external challenges such as pathogens and chemicals, as well as mechanical damage (Winsor, 1944). This layer is highly cellular and avascular and is composed of layers of differentiating keratinocytes. Below this is the vascular dermis, a layer rich in ECM. These two layers are connected at the dermal-epidermal junction, a structure composed of hemidesmosomes and fibrils to anchor the layers together. The deepest layer of the skin termed the hypodermis is mainly composed of adipocytes which function to store fat as both an active energy store and passively for thermoregulation. In addition, it acts as a protective, cushioning layer against mechanical insult.





1.1.1 Epidermis

The human epidermis can be further divided into four layers (five in palmar plantar skin); the stratum corneum, the stratum lucidum (a thick, clear layer of dead cells only found in palmar and plantar skin), the stratum granulosum, the stratum spinosum and the stratum basale (Wickett, 2006). Keratinocytes which comprise 95% of the epidermis, originate from a pool of progenitor cells in the basal layer (stratum basale) differentiating as they move up through the layers towards the stratum corneum (Lai-Cheong, 2009). During their progression through this programmed process of terminal differentiation, keratinocytes synthesize major structural components of the epidermal barrier, such as keratin, filaggrin, loricrin and a large family of small proline-rich proteins (SPRRs). This differentiation is regulated by a calcium gradient with keratinocytes becoming increasingly permeable to calcium as they move through the epidermis (Eckert and Rorke, 1989). Ultimately, the cells die, extruding a mixture of lipids and forming an impermeable, highly cross-linked cell envelope: the stratum corneum (Eckert and Rorke, 1989). It is the unique composition of the stratum corneum which confers the majority of skin's barrier function (Winsor, 1944), and is the outermost protection from pathogens, chemical and mechanical damage. In human skin the stratum corneum is comprised of approximately 10 layers of flattened keratinocytes (Lai-Cheong, 2009). The remaining (non-keratinocyte) 5% of epidermal cells consists of melanocytes, Langerhans cells and Merkel cells (Lai-Cheong, 2009). Melanocytes reside in the basal layer where they synthesise melanin in organelles termed melanosomes. These melanosomes are the primary defence against UVR, forming a protective melanin cap over the nuclear DNA (Lai-Cheong, 2009). Langerhans cells are epidermal-specific antigen presenting cells (Holikova et al., 2001) while Merkel cells are thought to be the touch receptors of the skin, found in complex with nerve fibres where it is speculated that they respond to gentle indentation (Maricich et al., 2009).

1.1.2 Dermal epidermal junction

Linking the epidermis to the dermis below is a specialist area of anchoring proteins providing both a physical and signalling link between the two layers. This specialist basement membrane consists mainly, but not exclusively, of laminins, collagen IV and VII, nidogen, perlecan and fibulins 1 and 2 to create a scaffold to the collagen fibrils of the dermis, this is linked to the basal keratinocytes of epidermal region by hemidesmosomes (Burgeson and Christiano, 1997, Timpl, 1996).

1.1.3 Dermis

Below the epidermis lies the dermis, the thickest layer of the skin, the upper region is termed the papillary dermis and the deeper area the reticular dermis. This area is relatively acellular and rich in ECM components, principally collagen fibres, elastic fibres, proteoglycans and glycoproteins. It is this complex network of proteins which endows skin with its mechanical properties, conferring strength and flexibility (Gosline et al., 2002, Muiznieks and Keeley, 2013). The majority of the dermis is made up of collagen, endowing the skin with its characteristic strength and toughness. Collagen I accounts for approximately 90% of dermal collagen, while the remaining 10% is type III (Epstein and Munderloh, 1978). Elastic fibres, the other major component of the dermis, extend from the basement membrane layer to the subcutaneous layer and provide the skin with elastic qualities and the ability to return to a normal configuration after stretching (Wood, 1985, Wysocki, 1999). In addition, the dermis contains two other location-specific types of elastic fibres: superficial oxytalan fibres that extend from the dermal-epidermal junction and elaunin fibres which morphologically resemble elastin, and are comprised of bundles of fibrotubules that are connected to the elastic fibres of the reticular dermis (Cotta-Pereira et al., 1976).

The dermis also contains and extensive network of blood vessels, which along with their important role in thermoregulation support the epidermis above. The major cell type in the dermis is the fibroblast, which is responsible for the secretion of many of the ECM proteins. However it also contains mast cells, macrophages, lymphocytes, melanocytes and skin appendages such as hair follicles, sweat glands and sebaceous glands (Lai-Cheong, 2009).

1.1.4 Hypodermis

The hypodermis, sometimes termed the subcutaneous layer, is the deepest part of the skin and is comprised mainly of adipocytes, which have a large lipid-rich cytoplasm. Between these large round cells is a network of connective tissue containing blood vessels and nerves (Kanitakis, 2002). The hypodermis plays a role in the storage of fat to provide both energy and thermal insulation and additionally acts as a cushioning layer to protect the underlying bones and muscles from mechanical damage. The subcutaneous layer is composed of white adipose, which in mice lies below the panniculus carnosus and in humans forms the lowest layers of adipocytes (Driskell et al., 2014). There is also a second layer of adipose tissue found within the dermis which fluctuates dramatically and synchronously with hair cycling (Chase et al., 1953). As the hair follicle grows the adipocytes surround the growing follicle, increasing in both number and size, via differentiation of pre-adipocytes and hypertrophy as they fill with lipids (Rivera-Gonzalez et al., 2014). Pre-adipocytes are determined from pluripotent stem cells and have a fibroblast like morphology before a complex transcriptional cascade leads to terminal differentiation of the mature adipocyte filled with lipid (Rosen and MacDougald, 2006). This dynamic role for adipocytes in skin, where they fluctuate so dramatically is distinct from other tissues in which they have a much slower turnover (Splading et al., 2008). Alongside their roles in fat storage, to provide energy, the adipocytes are also important for secreting adiopkines,

such as leptin and adiponection. These are important in the regulation of food intake, metabolism and insulin resistance (Lafontan et al., 2012). The regulation of adipose homeostasis can be linked to hormonal changes, particularly thyroid where defective signalling increases adipocyte differentiation from preadipocyte cells (Carmean et al., 2013) Adipocytes are also known to be sensitive to estrogen signalling, which when reduced leads to increased adipose tissue (Heine , 2000, Nilsson 2007).

Overall the skin is a large and complex tissue, in order to study the mechanisms involved in driving estrogen deficiency induced ageing it is necessary to employ an animal model such as the mouse.

1.1.5 Comparison of murine and human skin

Practically, the mouse offers a valuable tool to study skin, due to its similarities in structure, comparable genetics and the ability to manipulate both surgically and genetically (Bockamp et al., 2002). However it is important to note that there a number of species-specific differences in skin structure between rodents and humans (Figure 1.2). Most notably, rodents are loose skinned with no direct association between the skin and underlying subcutaneous fascia, while humans, non-human primates and pigs are not (reviewed in (Davidson, 1998, Dorsett-Martin, 2004). Other differences include a higher density of appendages, a far reduced epidermal and dermal thickness and a lack of rete ridges (epidermal thickenings that extend downward between dermal papillae) in rodents (Treuting et al., 2012, Gudjonsson et al., 2007). Despite these differences rodents have proved to be an effective model of skin and ageing in humans (Hwang et al., 2011). The mouse has extensively been used in studies of estrogen deprivation, hormone replacement and signalling modulation effects on cutaneous healing (Emmerson et al., 2010, Campbell et al., 2010, Ashcroft and Ashworth, 2003). Dermal collagen distribution is similar in humans and mouse (Junqueira et al., 1983) and although histologically the elastic fibre network of the mouse appears finer than in human dermis the molecular composition and structure appear to be very similar (Parry, 2005) and the mouse model has been extensively used for elastic fibre research (Reviewed in Kielty et al., 2002a).





1.1.5.1 Mouse and human hair

One major difference between mouse and human skin is the abundance of hair and the density of the hair follicles within the skin. These are complex appendages often referred to as miniature organs with roles not only in hair growth but also in immune response and wound repair (Christoph, 2000, Langton, 2008). The hairs go through continuous regular cycling stages of growth termed anagen, regression termed catagen, resting termed teleogen and shedding termed exogen. In the mouse this is a synchronous cycle occurring approximately every 25 days as a wave moving caudal to rostral (Muller-Rover et al., 2001). In the human however the hair cycle is both much longer and asynchronous. The length of the hair represents the length of the anagen phase, which in human scalp can be around 8 years (Chase 1954). The human has different types of hair such as the small fuzzy hairs known as lanugo hair as well as very specific regional hair such as the eyebrows and eyelashes (Hess et al., 1990). Despite these differences the molecular signals which control morphogenesis of hair follicles are evolutionarily conserved from drosophila to mammals (Paus and Cotsarelis 1999) however with the hair follicles contributing to many processes they are an important consideration in skin research.

1.2 Extracellular matrix proteins

The age-related mechanical changes in skin are largely attributed to changes in the ECM proteins (Daly and Odland, 1979). The ECM is principally made up of a mesh of fibrous proteins and proteoglycans and also contains a number of enzymes, cytokines, inhibitors and adhesive glycoproteins (Frantz et al., 2010). It provides a physical scaffold for the cellular constituents of tissues while also playing a role in cell signalling and adhesion. It is the complex assembly of the ECM protein networks, which give tissues their mechanical properties such as stiffness and resilience. The fibrillar collagens make up around 70% of the dermal ECM (Lai-Cheong, 2009) and provide tensile strength which is complimented by the elastic fibres. By contrast, elastic fibres make up only 2% of the dermis (Hwang et al., 2011) but are essential to drive recoil back to resting state following deformation of a tissue (Kielty et al., 2002a). The proteoglycans resist compressive forces (Perrimon and Bernfield, 2001) and are important in the maintenance of hydration (Naylor et al., 2011). Adhesive proteins such as fibronectins and laminins are crucial for mediating cell attachment and tissue organisation, interacting with cells via transmembrane proteins such as the integrins. Cell-matrix interactions play key roles in migration and cell attachment as well as differentiation and gene expression (Gelse et al., 2003). ECM proteins are synthesised by fibroblasts and degraded by matrix metalloprotienases (MMPs), with MMPs being regulated by tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases (TIMPs).

1.2.1 Collagens

Collagens are a large family of structural extracellular proteins, characterised by their Gly-X-Y peptide repeat (often X is Proline and Y is Hydroxyproline) and a right handed triple helical conformation composed of 3 α -chains (Gordon and Hahn, 2010). The α -chains can be identical forming a homotrimer or different forming a heterotrimer. The triple helical molecules, termed tropocollagen, can then self-assemble into larger aggregates such as fibrils, and the structure is stabilised by hydrogen bonds forming between the high levels of hydroxyproline residues. Collagens are further characterised by this supramolecular arrangement (Table 1.1). Fibrillar collagens make up around 70% of dermal ECM, where they have important roles in providing tensile strength. The most abundant dermal collagen is type I which makes up almost 90% of the collagen content (Gordon and Hahn, 2010). The second most abundant is collagen type III making up almost all the remaining 10% (Gordon and Hahn 2010). Both collagen types I and III assemble into large fibril bundles, type I larger then type III. In human papillary dermis, these bundles are thinner and form a meshwork and as they move down into the reticular dermis they become thicker and less tightly woven forming a 'basket weave' orientation (Lavker et al., 1987, Graham et al., 2010). By electron microscopy collagen fibrils appear to have a banded pattern with a regular periodicity between the bands termed the D-period. This is due to the way in

which they assemble into fibrils and is found to be 67nm in tendon and has been reported to be 65nm in skin (Fang et al., 2012).

However, the skin contains at least 12 other collagen types which perform a range of crucial functions. These include the ubiquitous collagen type VI found throughout the whole dermis, in a number of different assemblies, such as microfibrils, hexagonal networks and broad bands. Although its exact function is unknown it is thought to be important for integrating and bridging ECM components (Birk and P, 2005). In contrast to collagen VI, collagen VII is highly localised to the basement membrane and has a specific role as an anchoring protein forming a bond between the dermis and epidermis (Steplewski et al., 2012).

Table 1.1 Collagen suprastuctures Adapted from (Birk and Bruckner, 2005)

Collagen Suprastructure	Collagen Type
Fibril	I, II, III, V, XI, XXIV, XXVII
Fibril-associated network	IX, XII, XIV, XVI, XIX, XX, XXI, XXII
Network	IV, VI, VII, X
Anchoring	VII
Transmembrane	XIII, XVII, XXII, XXV
Muliplexin	XV, XVIII

A key protein family associated with the correct formation of collagen fibrils and assemblies is small lucine rich proteoglycans.

1.2.2 Small leucine rich proteoglycans (SLRPs)

This family of proteins is characterised by a small protein core and a conserved region of lucinerich repeats. The SLRPs have crucial roles in the correct organisation of collagen fibres which are found in very different arrangements dependent on their location. The SLRP family is further divided into classes based on their evolution, connecting different collagens together, such as large collagen I fibrils to the smaller collagen structure and number of leucine repeats they contain (lozzo, 1999) Class I SLRPs are biglycan, decorin and asporin. Decorin may have roles in controlling fibril diameter, although reported findings are conflicting: one report concludes decorin reduces growth and increases diameter (Kuc and Scott, 1997) while another concludes it reduces fibril diameter (Douglas et al., 2006) and VI fibrils (Nareyeck et al., 2004).

1.2.3 Elastic fibres

The tensile strength provided by collagen is complemented by the elastic fibre network. These macro-molecular assemblies endow tissue with the ability to passively recoil following deformation (Kielty et al., 2002a). They display a high degree of architectural heterogeneity determined by function; in blood vessels they form concentric sheets of lamellae surrounding

the vessel to confer resilience, in ligaments they form solid rod like structures, whist in elastic cartilage they appear as a fine meshwork (Doliana et al., 1999). In human skin the elastic fibres display a thick, parallel, elastin-rich formation in the reticular dermis which branches into perpendicular fibres towards the papillary dermis (Figure 1.3A-B). These perpendicular fibres, termed oxytalan fibres, branch further into 'candelabra' like structures as they reach the dermo-epidermal junction (DEJ). However in murine skin they do not have the same architecture and instead are found in smaller lengths and more random orientation throughout the dermis (Figure 1.3C). The composition of the elastic fibres changes from elastin rich in the reticular dermis becoming increasingly fibrillin rich through the papillary dermis until they reach the DEJ (Langton et al., 2009).



Figure 1.3. **Dermal Elastic fibre system in mouse and human skin. (A)** The Human elastic fibre network shows a characteristic arrangement where thick elastic fibres (grey) of the reticular dermis become increasingly fibrillin rich (blue) fibres to form the oxytalan fibres of the papillary dermis. (Adapted from Naylor et al., 2011). Murine skin (C) has a less ordered and abundant elastic fibre system (stained dark purple) then human skin (B).

1.2.4 Composition of elastic fibres

The elastic fibres are composed of a number of molecules, primarily an elastin rich core surrounded by an outer mantel of fibrillin microfibrils, but additionally glycoproteins (MAGP-1), fibulins and EMILIN-1. The elastin core is a highly crosslinked polymer of its monomeric secreted precursor tropoelastin (Sandberg et al., 1971). Crosslinking is catalysed by members of the lysyl oxidase (LOX) family and lysyl oxidase like (LOXL1) proteins to stabilise the fibre (Partridge et al., 1963). The fibrillin microfibrils provide the initial structure for the elastic fibre and act as a scaffold onto which the tropoelastin is deposited and builds (Robb et al., 1999).

1.2.4.1 Elastin

Tropoelastin is a 60-70 kDa protein encoded by a single gene with at least 11 human splice variants identified (Wise and Weiss, 2009), which is suggested to allow fine tuning of the functional properties in different tissues (Kielty, 2006). Tropoelastin is a highly flexible multidomain protein, characterised by repeating hydrophobic and hydrophilic lysine-rich domains. It has approximately 40 lysine residues and around 35 of these become modified by LOX to form crosslinks of the elastin polymer. It is this highly crosslinked structure which gives elastin its stability, insolubility and longevity (Kielty, 2006, Wise and Weiss, 2009).

In the cell, tropoelastin associates with elastin binding protein (EBP) and is secreted to the cell surface. It then dissociates from EBP and aggregates by the process of coacervation. Tropoelastin undergoes crosslinking to form elastin aggregates and it is these polymers which are transferred to the microfibril scaffold. The structure becomes increasingly crosslinked as the elastic fibre builds (Wagenseil and Mecham, 2007). This highly organised process primarily takes place in early development and this process becomes inferior in mature tissues.

1.2.4.2 Fibrillin

The microfibrils which form the scaffold surrounding the elastin core are made up of fibrillin, primarily fibrillin-1. These are large 350kDa glycoproteins (Kielty et al., 2002b) containing 47 epidermal growth factor (EGF)-like domains, 43 of which are calcium binding (cbEGF) domains (Kielty et al., 2005). Binding of calcium is critical to the structural integrity of the fibrillin and gives it a rod like structure (Downing et al., 1996). Fibrillin-1 also contains seven TB/8-cystine motifs and a proline-rich domain, thought to be a flexible region close to the N-terminus. Fibrillin-1 monomers self-polymerise in a head to tail formation through N- and C- terminal interactions to form filaments (Olivieri et al., 2010). This process is preceded by processing of the N- and C- terminus domains by enzymes of the furin and PACE family (Kielty et al., 2002b). The filaments associate laterally such that there are 8 fibrillin-1 filaments in a cross section of a microfibril (Baldock et al., 2001). These assembled microfibrils form parallel bundles to which the tropoelastin aggregates become associated.

Imaging of microfibrils by rotary shadowing electron microscopy and atomic force microscopy shows that isolated microfibrils have a 'beads on a string'-like appearance with a regular periodicity between the 'beads' of 56nm in an untensioned microfibril (Sherratt et al., 2003, Kielty et al., 2002b, Sherratt et al., 2001). Although the average bead to bead distance is found to be 56nm, distances of up to 150nm have been reported after the application of tensile force (Baldock et al., 2001, Keene et al., 1991). This has led to the suggestion that microfibrils

themselves are elastic (Keene et al., 1991). When tissue is extended by 100% the bead to bead distance has been shown to reach 80nm and return to 56nm when untensioned in a revisable unfolding event (Wang et al., 2009, Wess et al., 1998). However extensions over 90nm require the breaking of covalent bonds and therefore cause an irreversible extension (Sherratt et al., 2003). Individual microfibrils have a Young's modulus, a measure of the mechanical properties of a linear elastic fibre, of between 78MPa and 90MPa. This, compared to the Young's modulus of elastin, which is closer to 1MPa, suggests microfibrils to be stiff and have a role in reinforcing the elastic fibre and acting as anchoring proteins (Sherratt et al., 2003).

1.2.4.3 Microfibril associated glycoprotein-1 (MAGP-1)

MAGP-1 was found to be associated with microfibrils in denatured tissue extracts and was therefore identified as a potentially important protein in microfibril structure (Rock et al., 2004). MAGP-1, which binds to the N-terminal of fibrillin-1 molecules and tropoelastin, is important for microfibril organisation (Rock et al., 2004). MAGP-1 is found to be localised close to the microfibril 'beads' binding in a calcium dependent manner, most likely via disulphide bonds (Kielty et al., 2002b, Kielty, 2006). It is the positively charged, C-terminal region of MAGP-1 which is thought to bind to the microfibril and the N- terminal domain has high affinity for TGF- β (Weinbaum et al., 2008, Isogai et al., 2003).

1.2.4.4 Latent transforming growth factor β-binding protein (LTBP)

The LTBP family shares a high level of similarity to the fibrillins; they contain calcium binding epidermal growth factor-like (cbEGF) domains and transforming growth factor β -binding protein like (TB) modules (Sinha et al., 1998, Kielty et al., 2002a). There are 4 members of the LTBP family and LTBP -1, 3 and 4 have been shown to bind TGF- β to form large complexes which are later crosslinked to the ECM (Kielty et al., 2002a). LTBP-2, however, does not bind TGF- β and is found to be associated with microfibrils. LTBP-2 binds via its C –terminal region to the N-terminal region of fibrillin-1. LTBP-2 is a binding partner of fibulin-5 and is believed to have a structural role in elastic fibres (Kielty et al., 2002a).

1.2.4.5 Fibulin-5

Fibulin-5 is a 51 kDa secreted glycoprotein essential for the formation of elastic fibres. It contains 6 cbEGF domains and an integrin binding RGD motif. Fibulin-5 mediates endothelial cell adhesion via binding to integrins $\alpha\nu\beta$ 3, $\alpha\nu\beta$ 5 and α 9 β 1. Mutations in fibulin-5 cause cutis laxa in humans, highlighting its importance in the elasticity of skin (Kadoya et al., 2005). In young photo-protected skin it is found in the reticular dermis along with the other elastic fibre components and in the papillary dermis it forms candelabra like structures perpendicular to the

epidermis. With age and sun exposure fibulin-5 has been found to be reduced and even disappeared completely from the reticular dermis (Kadoya et al., 2005).

1.2.4.6 Elastin microfibril interface located protein (EMILIN)

EMILIN is a 115kDa glutamic acid- and arginine-rich glycoprotein secreted into the ECM, where it aggregates via disulfide bonds to form a fine network at the interface between the elastin core and the microfibrils (Doliana et al., 1999). In development EMILIN is implicated in the early stages of elastogenesis, given that in the presence of anti-EMILIN antibodies elastin deposition was severely altered (Bressan et al., 1993).

The ECM proteins are one of the major contributors to the mechanical properties of skin providing tensile strength and elastic recoil to allow the tissue to fulfil its roles as a protective barrier.

1.3 Skin Mechanics

Although all layers of the skin contribute to the mechanical properties, with the stratum corneum being the stiffest, it is the dermis which dominates the gross mechanics of the skin (Silver et al., 1992). This is even more pertinent in murine skin where the epidermis is only a few cells thick. However, it is non-homogeneous, anisotropic (directionally dependent characteristics), viscoelastic (displaying both viscous and elastic behaviour) and highly flexible and *in vivo*, subject to both internal and external forces, making calculation of discrete measurements difficult. This has led to the development of a number of different *in vivo* methods being used to measure skin mechanics.

1.3.1 Measuring gross mechanics in vivo

A number of different testing methods to measure skin mechanics *in vivo* have been developed. These measure tensile or torsional forces applied parallel to the skin surface, or indentation, impact or elevation perpendicular to the skin surface (Rodrigues, 2001).

Tensile methods include the adherence of two tabs to the skin which are pulled apart by a known force and the distance between them measured. Although this is a relatively simple technique (Rodrigues, 2001). Torsion can be measured by adhesion of a rotatable disk to the skin and a guard ring is used to control the depth of mechanical deformation. The disk is used to apply torque and measures the degree of rotation and the deformation of skin over a period of time (Batisse et al., 2002, Sherratt, 2009).

The most widely used measure of skin elasticity and suppleness is elevation testing via suction. The application of negative pressure to the skin induces deformation, initially elastic deformation followed by viscoelastic deformation until total deformation is reached. Residual skin elevation can be measured when suction is released and is termed resilient distension. The time the skin takes to recover after removal of suction can be calculated in a ratio with initial deformation to quantify elastic recoil (Hendriks et al., 2003, Sherratt, 2009).

1.3.2 Measuring gross mechanics ex vivo

Ex vivo testing allows for more control of the mechanical measurement one is making, as the tissue is no longer subject to the complex forces associated with *in vivo* testing. However they are clearly less physiologically relevant as the skin in removed from its normal environment (Daly and Odland, 1979). One of the most straight forward methods for testing gross mechanics of skin is uniaxial tension testing where a strip of skin is loaded in one direction and yields a stress strain curve as described in the following section. This can be further loaded to failure as a measure of tensile strength (Jacquemoud et al., 2007). Biaxial tension testing has also been used, however this is a far more complex procedure, it does demonstrate that skin mechanical properties differ in different directions (Lanir and Fung, 1974). This anisotropic behaviour was first described by Carl Langer in the 19th century who mapped lines of tension in the skin, now described as Langer lines (Langer, 1978).

1.3.3 Stress strain relationship of skin

When load is applied to skin it yields a typically shaped stress strain curve where stress is load per cross sectional area and strain is % extension (Figure 1.4). This has been described by Gibson *et al* in 3 phases (Gibson et al., 1969). The initial portion corresponds to elastic deformation and during this phase there is realignment of the collagen fibres. The second phase is a viscoelastic curve which has been suggested to represent progressive alignment within the dermis and leads into the linear phase, phase 3, which shows characteristics of aligned collagen fibres and from the linear section an estimate of stiffness can be calculated as the Young's modulus (Stress/Strain).



Figure 1.4. A Typical stress stain curve from skin. Phase 1 is referred to as the toe region and corresponds to the initial gross realignment of collagen fibrils and elastic deformation. This is followed by phase 2, where the tissue behaves in a viscoelastic manner as the collagen fibrils continue to align the final phase 3 represents fully aligned collagen under load. The tangent A-B is the Young's modulus and gives an estimation of stiffness (Gibson et al., 1969).

1.3.4 Viscoelastic properties - Stress relaxation

As described by the stress strain curve above skin exhibits viscoelastic behaviour, this means it exhibits both viscous and elastic characteristics, viscous behaviour is associated with a loss of energy whereas elastic behaviour stores energy (Silver et al., 2001). This means that although the tissue will return to its original shape (at least partially) it will take time to do this introducing a time dependent element to the mechanical behaviour. This time dependent element can be measured through stress relaxation which is the time dependent decay of stress (Liu, 2008).

There are clear links between ageing skin and alterations in mechanical properties which have been suggested to be primarily due to alterations in the elastic fibre network (Daly and Odland, 1979), however, since findings vary a great deal between studies it is difficult to draw clear conclusions regarding mechanical remodelling as a key characteristic of ageing skin (Moronkeji and Akhtar, 2015).

1.4 Skin Ageing

The components of the skin, along with all tissues of the body, are subject to chronological ageing due to the passage of time, termed intrinsic ageing. Additionally, skin is also susceptible to a high degree of extrinsic ageing resulting from exposure to the environment, principally ultraviolet radiation (UVR). A combination of intrinsic and extrinsic factors contribute to altered homeostasis in aged skin, which manifest as wrinkling, sagging, fragility, atrophy and increased laxity. The ECM proteins are particularly susceptible to accumulation of damage over time

(Verzijl et al., 2000, Shapiro et al., 1991). Their longevity and extracellular location, allows them to accumulate damage outside of the protective intracellular environment. The half lives of many of the ECM proteins are measured in decades (Sherratt, 2009) and elastin synthesis is greatly downregulated after birth (Zhang et al., 1999) suggesting the elastic fibres are required to last our whole lifetime (Sherratt, 2009). The age-related changes in the mechanical properties of skin, such as stiffening and loss of elastic recoil, are largely attributed to changes in the ECM proteins (Daly and Odland, 1979).

1.4.1 Intrinsic ageing

Clinically, intrinsically aged skin presents with uniform pigmentation, fine wrinkles, loss of elasticity, reduced appendage density and increased fragility (Gilchrest, 1982, Kohl et al., 2011). Histologically it is characterised by a thinning of both the dermis and epidermis along with flattening of the DEJ (Gilchrest, 1982, Jenkins, 2002, Moragas et al., 1993) (Figure 1.5). There is a general loss of ECM, with dermal collagen reported to decrease by 1% per year in adulthood (Fenske and Lober, 1986), and by electron microscopy collagen bundles appear to become less tightly packed and more random in orientation (Lavker et al., 1987). Elastic tissue is gradually lost from the papillary dermis with increasing age (Francis and Robert, 1984). Lavker et al (Lavker et al., 1987) distinguishes two phases in this loss, initially a phase of hyperplasia where the number and thickness of elastic fibres increases, followed by a second phase of elastolysis where the thinner fibres of the papillary dermis are lost. Conversely, El-Domyati et al (El-Domyati et al., 2002) found that in photoprotected skin the amount of elastic tissue gradually decreased with thinning of the large fibres and shortening of the oxytalan fibres, such that by age 80 few oxytalan fibres could be seen. Reduction in total proteoglycans, which have important roles in binding water, leads to the increasingly dry skin associated with age (Ghersetich et al., 1994, Naylor et al., 2011).



Figure 1.5. Young and aged skin. Photoprotected human skin from young subject has abundant rete ridges. Photoprotected human skin from aged subject shows thinning of the epidermis with a loss of rete ridges and flattening of the DEJ. Mouse skin shows thinning of the epidermis and loss of ECM, though in contrast to human mouse skin does not have rete ridges.

1.4.2 Mechanisms of ageing

Numerous theories have been proposed to drive ageing and these can be broadly split into wear and tear theories, where the underlying premise is that tissue accumulates damage until it essentially wears out, or programmed longevity theories, which propose a genetic preprograming to enter life stages with specific age-related genes (Weinert and Timiras, 2003, Jin, 2010). Some of the proposed theories include the senescence, oxidative stress, endocrine, DNA damage and cross linking theories (Jin, 2010). Although these are described as individual theories, none are totally satisfactory or mutually exclusive, and there is clear involvement of multiple different mechanisms.

1.4.2.1 Senescence

Replicative cellular senescence was first described by Hayflick and Moorhead (1961) as the observation that cells undergo a finite number of cell divisions (Hayflick and Moorhead, 1961). This is now understood to be the result of age associated telomere shortening (Olovnikov, 1996). Teleomeres, which are long tandem repeats at the end of chromosomes, can become shortened by up to 150 base pairs with a single cell division (Harley et al., 1990). When telomeres become critically short cells can no longer divide and enter a senescent state (Hwang et al., 2011). Interestingly murine telomeres are far longer than their human counterparts and mouse cells have far more telomerase activity which actively lengthens telomeres and are therefore far less likely to entre a senescent state. Senescent cells were originally believed to be quiescent, however it is now understood they play an active role in tissue ageing, via an alteration in their expression profile, termed senescence-associated secretory phenotype

(SASP). Senescent cells secrete a number of pro-inflammatory cytokines and proteases which can have deleterious effect on the surrounding tissue (Campisi, 2013).

At the tissue level a slowing of cell division leads to an increasingly ageing cell population: aged fibroblasts in culture are reported to have a 3-fold reduction in population doubling time (Yoon et al., 2004). Further to this aged fibroblasts have a reduced capacity to synthesize ECM proteins and overall are less abundant in aged tissue (Fenske and Lober, 1986).

1.4.2.2 Oxidative stress

Oxidative stress or free radical theory is an accumulation-of-damage theory, where damage occurs to DNA and proteins via the production of reactive oxygen species (ROS). ROS, such as H_2O_2 , $O_2^{-1}O_2$, and OH^{-1} , are generated through aerobic metabolism as well as exogenous factors such as UV (Scharffetter-Kochanek et al., 1997). The presence of an unpaired electron makes these highly reactive molecules. The body, therefore, has a number of mechanisms to counteract the ROS produced. These include the antioxidant enzymes catalase and peroxidase and smaller electron donor molecules including NADH, ascorbic acid, tocopherols and carnosine act to scavenge ROS (Kohen, 1999). With increasing age tissue antioxidant levels fall and ROS levels rise (Kohen, 1999, Hu et al., 2000) leading to increased levels and accumulation of ROSassociated tissue damage. ROS can cause damage to DNA, proteins and lipids by different mechanisms, including single strand breaks or crosslinking of nucleic acids, crosslinking or degradation of proteins, addition of carbonyl groups and formation of advanced glycation endproducts (AGEs) (Bailey, 2001, Kohen, 1999, Miyata et al., 1997). Additionally ROS can also upregulate MAPK signalling via activation of fibroblast cytokine receptors (Sardy, 2009) leading to AP-1 mediated matrix metalloproteinase (MMP) transcription (Pimienta and Pascual, 2007) as well as directly activating inactive MMPs (Haorah et al., 2007).

The oxidative stress theory has been challenged by Gems and Doonan (Gems and Doonan, 2009) where studies in the lower organisms *C.elegans* and *Drosophila* failed to show an increase or decrease in lifespan with increases in antioxidant or oxidative stress, respectively. However the short natural lifespan and cellular rich nature of these organisms may not provide a good model of the effects of oxidative stress in higher organisms, where some ECM proteins are required to last for decades without the protection of cellular antioxidant mechanisms.

1.4.2.3 Crosslinking

The crosslinking theory was first proposed by Bjorkstein (Bjorksten, 1968) and suggests that it is the accumulation of crosslinks in proteins which causes age-associated damage to tissues. There are a number of crosslinking agents found in the body which could be responsible, including aldehydes, free radicles, sulphur and quinones, as well as antibodies (Bjorksten, 1968). One of the major ways crosslinking can occur is via glycosylation and AGEs then form crosslinks to one another. With regards to the ECM proteins crosslinking is believed to be a major contributor to age associated tissue stiffening. The initial crosslinks formed by LOX enzymes provide optimal elastic fibre characteristics; however accumulation of additional crosslinks leads to overstiffened fibres (Bailey, 2001). Additionally, aged tissue is also found to have an increase in LOX/LOXL enzymes which could further contribute to additional crosslinking in elastic fibres and fibrillar collagens (Langton et al., 2012).

1.4.2.4 Endocrine Theory

The endocrine theory of ageing is based on the idea that the ageing is due to changes in hormonal function and the way the body responds to endocrine signals. The theory places the hypothalamic pituitary axis (HPA) as a 'master regulator' to signal the onset and termination of different life stages (Weinert and Timiras, 2003). Signalling via the insulin/IGF-1 pathway is found to have an important role in the regulation of lifespan with a relationship between lowered insulin levels and longevity (Russell et al., 2007), and this could be the driver behind a number of aspects of ageing, via the switching on/off of hormone signalling. Of interest, it has been recently shown that estrogen can also signal through the IGF-1 receptor (IGFR) in the skin, offering one potential mechanism of its involvement in skin ageing (Makrantonaki et al., 2008, Emmerson et al., 2012).

1.4.3 Extrinsic ageing

While all tissues undergo intrinsic ageing, the skin is also uniquely subject to extreme extrinsic ageing, resulting from extensive exposure to environmental factors, predominantly UV exposure. Clinically, extrinsically aged skin presents with deep wrinkles and a leathery appearance, with irregular pigmentation and extensive loss of elasticity (Jenkins, 2002). However, it is changes in the dermal component which has the most profound impact. Fibrillar collagens types I and III are dramatically reduced and become more fragmented leading to reduced tensile strength (El-Domyati et al., 2002, Talwar et al., 1995). There is a loss of fibrillin rich microfibrils at the DEJ, chiefly fibrillin-1 and fibulin 5 (Watson et al., 1999), along with loss of the anchoring protein collagen VII (Tsoureli-Nikita et al., 2006). The loss of fibrillin-1 occurs in minimally photo exposed skin, so can be considered one of the earliest characteristics of photodamage (Langton et al., 2009). In the deeper dermis the response to chronic UV exposure is thought to initially be hyperplastic, where elastic fibres increase in number in response to damage which leads to an accumulation of elastoic disorganised elastic fibres (Watson et al., 1999).

1.4.3.1 Mechanisms of extrinsic ageing

The mechanisms of extrinsic ageing are mainly due to the effects of UVR. UVB is mainly absorbed by the epidermis, and subsequently photoageing is mainly caused by UVA which has a longer wavelength and penetrates deeper into the skin (Biniek et al., 2012). As UVR penetrates the skin the energy is absorbed by molecular regions known as chromophores. The absorption of photon energy leads to an excited state which can lead to a subsequent chemical reaction or change in protein structure directly. Alternatively the absorbed light can excite photosensitisers to a triplet state to form free radical species or energy transfer to O_2 to yield reactive singlet oxygen ¹O₂ (Thurstan et al., 2012, Poljsak and Dahmane, 2011). Additionally UVR induces activation of cytokines and growth factor receptors (Tsoureli-Nikita et al., 2006) which in turn reactivates protein kinase signalling pathways leading to transcription of MMPs via the AP-1 transcription factor. It was thought that MMP activation was the major cause of UVR induced ECM degradation (Fisher et al., 1996), however the low specificity of MMPs led Sherratt et al (Sherratt et al., 2010) to suggest specific loss of the fibrillin 1 and fibulin 5 from the DEJ must be due to a more precise mechanism of UVR-induced degradation. They found by atomic force microscopy (AFM) that exposure of isolated microfibrils to UVB increased 'bead' periodicity and flexibility and also led to fragmentation. The Cystine-Cystine bonds in fibrillin microfibrils play important roles in stabilising the fibrils. However, they are particularly susceptible to UVB damage either by direct absorption or electron capture from other chromophores. It has been proposed this may be a sacrificial role, acting as an endogenous sunscreen to protect other proteins (Hibbert et al., 2015). The other components of the elastic fibres, such as fibulins, LTBPs and the LOX enzymes are also found to be much richer in UVB chromophores than other ECM components such as collagen. The position in the papillary dermis also makes them more susceptible to the effects of the more biological active form of UVR, UVB, which is unable to penetrate to the deeper layers of the skin (Sherratt et al., 2010).

1.4.4 Estrogen and ageing

At the onset of menopause the dramatic decrease in the amount of circulating estrogen correlates with the reported increase in many of the characteristics of skin ageing, such as increased wrinkling, thinning and dryness (Verdier-Sevrain et al., 2006). There is a large body of evidence suggesting that these detrimental effects on skin post-menopause are at least partially reversed by hormone replacement therapy (HRT), which is reported to improve skin thickness, moisture and elasticity (Verdier-Sevrain et al., 2006). This will be explored in more detail in the following section.

1.5 Estrogen

 17β -estradiol, discovered in the 1920s (Allen , 1923) is the primary sex hormone in females. The estrogen family actually comprises 3 endogenous hormones, estrone, estradiol and estriol (Figure 1.6) with classical roles in embryonic and post-natal development, regulating sexual characteristics and reproduction (Korach, 1994). The menopause, which occurs at an average age of 51 years in the UK, marks the end of a woman's fertile period with a profound reduction in circulating hormones. Although estrogens have primary functions in reproductive tissues they effects throughout have in many tissues the body (Korach, 1994).



Figure 1.6 Estriol, estradiol and estrone structures. The 3 main endogenous estrogenic hormones are remarkably similar in structure, all containing a phenolic A-ring and hydroxyl D-ring.

Estrogens are predominantly synthesised in the ovaries of pre-menopausal women, with estradiol being the predominant type produced, while post-menopause synthesis shifts to peripheral tissues, with the most abundant estrogen being estrone (Hall and Phillips, 2005) (Figure 1.7). Moreover, alternative signalling (e.g. via IGF-1 crosstalk) may become more important post-menopause. The loss of estrogen following menopause increases the risk of developing a range of age-associated pathologies, eg. osteoporosis and cardiovascular disease (Korach, 1994) but also has profound effects on skin homeostasis and repair (Ashcroft and Ashworth, 2003).



Figure 1.7 The skin contains all the enzymes necessary for the synthesis of estrone, estradiol and estriol from the common precursor cholesterol

The most abundant sex steroid in humans is dehydroepiandrosterone (DHEA) which acts as an intermediate metabolite in the synthesis of many other steroid hormones. Importantly humans (but not rodents) have evolved intracrine mechanisms for the peripheral conversion of DHEA to other steroid hormones including estrogen (Pomari et al., 2016). Following menopause DHEA and DHEA-S (dehydroepiandrosterone-sulphate) provide the major source of steroid hormones in peripheral tissues with DHEA-S circulating at 10,000 times higher concentrations than estradiol in adult females (Labrie et al., 2000) and the levels in males are almost double that of females. The levels of DHEA fall with age and by age 50 are about 50% that of their peak (Librie et al., 2000) however by 70 years the levels fall dramatically to only 5-20% that of a young adult (Labrie et al., 1995).

1.5.1 Estrogen Signalling

Estrogen signals via two estrogen receptors ER α and ER β , members of the nuclear hormone receptor family (Figure 1.8). They are distinct proteins, encoded by genes on separate chromosomes. The first receptor to be identified was $ER\alpha$ in 1985 by Walter et al (Walter et al., 1985), however, it was over a decade later that the second receptor ER^β was identified from a prostate cDNA library (Kuiper et al., 1996). The human ERs share a 96% homology in the DNA binding domain (DBD) region highlighting a common function (binding to estrogen response elements [EREs] in target genes to activate transcription). By contrast the receptors share relatively low homology (53%) in their ligand binding domain (LBD), yet bind estrogen with roughly equal affinity (Thornton, 2002). Despite their similar function the two ERs are found to have different distributions in tissues, with distinct and often opposing actions. ER α is thought to be the dominant receptor in reproductive tissues and mammary gland and is also found in the cardiovascular system, bone, skin and brain. ER β is also found in reproductive tissues but is thought to predominate in peripheral tissues including skin, bone, lung, bladder, heart and kidney (Thornton, 2002). Of direct relevance to my PhD project the human and mouse ERs are functionally homologous, with a very high structural similarity of between 82% and 98% (Enmark and Gustafsson, 1999).



Figure 1.8 Human ER gene structure comparison illustrating high level of similarity in the C-region also termed DNA binding domain (DBD). The E/F region, also known as the Ligand binding domain (LBD) shows much less similarity, explaining how the two receptors can differentially bind the same ligand. Modified (Enmark and Gustafsson, 1999)

Estrogen can signal by a least four different mechanisms, outlined in Figure 1.9. In classical signalling, ligand binding causes intercellular ERs to dimerise and translocate to the nucleus where they act as transcription factors, activating or repressing expression by binding to the estrogen response element (ERE) of target genes, such as c-fos. Secondly, estrogen can induce/repress transcription of genes without an ERE, via alternative transcription factors, such as AP1 or SP1, with examples of such including epidermal growth factor and epidermal growth factor receptor (Hall and Phillips, 2005). Thirdly, ERs can signal in a ligand-independent manner, involving ER phosphorylation mediated by growth factors such as IGF. Indeed, skin ER/IGF crosstalk has recently been shown to be important for wound repair (Emmerson et al., 2012). The final mechanism is poorly characterised but thought to involve membrane ER activation of signalling pathways such as src/shc/ERK (Hall and Phillips, 2005). A further level of complexity is added by the numerous cell-type specific co-activators and co-repressors that can bind to and modulate the ER-DNA complex.



Figure 1.9 Four main mechanisms of estrogen signalling have been described (illustrated): a) classicalligand dependent; b) ERE-independent involving intermediary transcription factors (eg. AP1); c) classical ligand-independent involving growth factor-mediated receptor phosphorylation and; d) a rapidly transduced membrane receptor pathway that remains poorly characterised. (Heldring et al., 2007)

1.5.2 Estrogen effects on skin

Over the last two decades numerous studies have documented the cutaneous changes that occur post-menopause (see Emmerson and Hardman, 2012 for a recent review), where macroscopic changes include reduced epidermal and dermal thickness and increased wrinkling and sagging. Functionally, post-menopausal skin is less elastic, dry, flaky, bruises easily and is both more susceptible to wounding and less able to heal in a timely manner (Brincat et al., 1985). Initial studies exploring compositional changes in human skin, reported a decline in collagen content, by an average of 1-2% per year post-menopause (Brincat et al., 1987), leading to a reduction in dermal thickness and density which is correlated to post-menopausal years and

not chronological age (Brincat et al., 1985). Skin elasticity measured by suction is reduced by 0.55% per year following menopause (Sumino et al., 2004) and an intriguing early study also showed that elastic fibres are degraded prematurely in a cohort of women who had entered early menopause (at 30-37yrs) (Bolognia et al., 1989). Many of these changes can be prevented, or even reversed by estrogen treatment. Post-menopausal women have been treated with systemic estrogen for decades, in the form of hormone replacement therapy (HRT). Studies have shown that collagen content is significantly increased in the skin of post-menopausal women receiving HRT compared to those who were not (Brincat et al., 1987, Sauerbronn et al., 2000).

HRT has also been linked to increased epidermal thickness post-menopause (Hall and Phillips, 2005, Rauramo and Punnonen, 1969) and mechanistically estrogen increases keratinocyte proliferation (Kanda and Watanabe, 2004) and, at least in vitro, prevents H_2O_2 induced apoptosis (Kanda and Watanabe, 2003). A large study of nearly 4000 women found post-menopausal skin to be significantly dryer, with estrogen use functionally reversing this (Dunn et al., 1997, Verdier-Sevrain et al., 2006). HRT has been shown to significantly increase the water retention in the stratum corneum (Pierard-Franchimont et al., 1995) and epidermal sphingolipids are only altered in the aged skin of females (Denda et al., 1993), and again found to be reversed by HRT (Callens et al., 1996, Sator et al., 2001). The dermis is also in part responsible for skin hydration and in this region there are changes in polysaccharides and reduced sebum levels postmenopause (Pochi et al., 1979), with HRT improving sebum production by 35% compared to without (Callens et al., 1996). Polysaccharides are increased by estrogen treatment (Grosman et al., 1971) and glycoproteins are found to be increased with both the high levels of estrogen associated with pregnancy (Danforth et al., 1974) and HRT. A number of studies have explored skin extensibility in humans as a measure of elasticity. Pierard et al (Pierard et al., 1995b) found HRT to limit menopause-induced increase in forearm skin extensibility (loss of elastic recoi), later quantified by Sumino et al (Sumino et al., 2004) as a 5.2% increase in forearm skin elastic recoil following 12 months of HRT. Henry et al (Henry et al., 1997) report similar effects on facial skin extensibility and elasticity following HRT.

Further studies reports effects of local topical estrogen replacement in improving skin thickness (Shah and Maibach, 2001); increasing skin moisture content and barrier function (Pierard et al., 1995b); inducing dermal production of collagen I (Son et al., 2005); increasing the number, thickness and improving the orientation of dermal elastin fibres (Punnonen and Kuurne, 1987) and improving the macroscopic appearance of facial skin (Brincat et al., 1985) with a significant reduction in fine face wrinkles (Creidi et al., 1994). At a cellular level estrogen stimulates keratinocyte proliferation, inhibits apoptosis, dampens skin protease levels and protects against oxidative damage (Brincat, 2000). Collectively, these studies provide strong evidence that
hormonal changes post-menopause play a key role in accelerating matrix changes that are a normally characteristic of ageing, an effect that can be reversed by exogenous estrogen treatment. However, human studies provide little scope for functional exploration of the underlying mechanism, due to the wide variation of human genetics and confounding factors such as health, medication and lifestyle.

1.5.3 Mouse models provide insight into the effects of estrogen on skin

Murine models provide an opportunity to mechanistically address hormonal aspects of skin ageing. Here the surgical menopause model of ovariectomy (Ovx) has been important in rodents as a pre-clinical model of numerous aspects of menopause-associated human pathology, including osteoporosis, neurodegeneration and cardiac dysfunction, and as a model of perimenopausal symptoms, such as depression and hot flushes. Surprisingly, little skin research has been carried out with this model. Ovx is known to enhance sensitivity of rat skin to UV damage with accelerated photoageing, measured as wrinkling, a loss of elasticity and damage to elastic fibres (Tsukahara et al., 2001). This is supported by a mouse study where effects on skin extensibility and elastic recoil were measured. Here, ovariectomy significantly increased recoil time in UV exposed skin, associated with elevated tissue elastase activity (Tsukahara et al., 2004). Of note the recent work of Fang et al (Fang et al., 2012) who have combined cryosectioning with AFM, has revealed nanoscale changes in the morphology of dermal collagen fibrils in ovine Ovx samples. The second major advantage of mice is their genetic tractability. Indeed, mice have been generated lacking one or both of the ERs (Cicatiello et al., 1995, Dupont et al., 2000, Korach, 1994, Krege et al., 1998, Lubahn et al., 1993, Shughrue et al., 2002), or aromatase (ArKO) which disrupts estrogen biosynthesis (Fisher et al., 1998), or more complex Cre/LoxP conditional ER nulls (Campbell et al., 2010) and point mutants (Jakacka et al., 2002, Lee et al., 2001, Swope et al., 2002). Phenotypic analysis of these mice had provided, and continues to provide, insight into ER-mediated physiological roles in a range of tissues (summarised in Table 1.2). Of particular relevance ER null mice display a number of skin phenotypes. First to be reported were effects on hair follicles. In 2002 Moverare et al (Moverare et al., 2002), reported a role for ER α , but not ER β , in regulating hair cycle. In a subsequent study Ohnemus et al (Ohnemus et al., 2005) show that ER β does in fact play a role, regulating catagen induction. In the same studies ERa was suggested to be important for estrogen's effects on epidermal thickness. More recently ERs have been shown to play important roles in skin wound repair, where ER β predominates. Conditional null ER β (K14-cre;ER $\beta^{L2/L2}$) mice highlight a key role for epidermal ERβ in mediating estrogen's beneficial effects on healing in Ovx mice (Campbell et al., 2010). More recently still inflammatory cell-specific ERa has been shown to be important for eliciting the anti-inflammatory effects of estrogen during wound repair (Campbell et al., 2014).

Table 1.2 Phenotypic changes in ER null mice

	ΕRαKO		ERβKO	
System	3	4	8	Ŷ
Reproductive	Infertile	Infertile.	Fertile.	Subfertile. Few
(Emmen 2003)(Emmen and Korach,		Ovarian cysts.	ER6 _{ST} ^(L2/L2)	corpora lutea.
2003)		No	infertile	Less ovulation.
(Krege 1998)(Krege et al., 1998)		corpora lutea.		Smal litters.
(Dupont 2000)(Dupont et al., 2000)		Hypoplastic		
(Antal et al.,2008)(Antal et al., 2008)		uterus		
Cardiovascular	No histological		Systolic and diastolic	
(Otsuki 2003)(Otsuki et al., 2003)	cardiovascular		hypertension. Cardiac fibrosis	
(Fliegner et al.,2010)(Fliegner et al.,	abnormalities		and heart failure	
2010)				
Brain	Apoptosis of neurons in the frontal cortex of ArKO mice			
(Hill et al., 2009)(Hill and Boon, 2009)				
Social Interaction	-	Impaired social	Increased	Reduced social
(Choleris 2006)(Choleris et al., 2006)		discrimination	aggression	discrimination.
(Nomura 2006)(Nomura et al., 2006)				Anxiety.
(Ogawa 1998)(Ogawa et al., 1998)				
Bone	Decreased bone density		No	Increased bone
(Korach 1994)(Korach, 1994)	Shorter bones.		difference	density
(Walker 2004)(Walker and Korach, 2004)			compared	
			to WT	
Lung (Morani et al., 2006)(Morani et al.,			Alveoli defects	
2006)			and inflamma	ation
(Shim et al., 2003)(Shim et al., 2003)				

1.5.4 Estrogen receptor agonists and Selective Estrogen Receptor Modulators (SERMs)

Since publication of the Million Women Study drew links between HRT and increased risk of developing certain cancers (Beral, 2003, Beral et al., 2007) there has been drive to develop pharmacological modulators of ERs. These include receptor-specific agonists which are experimentally invaluable, and the more clinically-relevant mixed agonist/antagonists known as SERMs. The experimental ER α agonist PPT and the ER β agonist DPN have proved important for understanding the roles of ERs in wound healing, where it has been shown that ER β signalling promotes healing via epidermal cells (Campbell et al., 2010) and ER α drives macrophages toward a pro healing phenotype (Campbell et al., 2014). A different ER β ligand, WAY-200070, has been shown to dampen inflammation and MMP expression in UV-damaged skin (Chang et al., 2010). The SERMs tamoxifen, raloxifene and the naturally occurring phytoestrogen genistein have also been shown to promote skin healing (Emmerson et al., 2010, Hardman et al., 2008). Additionally, tamoxifen has also been shown to improve scarring in burn patients by reducing collagen synthesis via a reduction in TGF- β signalling. (Gragnani et al., 2010) Genistein has also been reported to improve the gross skin changes in ovariectomised rats (Polito et al., 2012). This

body of evidence clearly illustrates that ERs have important roles in the maintenance of skin structure and function, however the mechanisms remain to be fully elucidated.

1.6 Wound healing

Following injury the skin undergoes a complicated and co-ordinated sequence of events to repair itself, comprising of a number of overlapping phases with interaction between a wide range of cell types, ultimately leading to a healed wound. The first phase, haemostasis, occurs immediately following injury to prevent blood loss. This is followed by the inflammatory phase to prevent infection, then the proliferative phase occurs, within days of injury, to close the wound and the remodelling phase can persist for several years with the ultimate formation of mature scar tissue.



Figure 1.10. An overview of the timeline of the stages of wound healing. Haemostasis begins immediately after an injury and this is followed by infiltration of inflammatory cells in the first 24 hours. Then after a couple of days the proliferative phase begins to restore the damaged tissue. The final remodelling stage then begins and can last years as a more permanent collagen matrix is laid down.

1.6.1 Haemostasis

Haemostasis is the prevention of blood loss via the formation of a blot clot, which occurs almost immediately following injury. Surface activation of Hageman factor (Factor XII) and the release of procoagulant from damaged cells, along with the expression of surface membrane coagulation factors on activated platelets mediate the formation of the fibrin clot. At the end of damaged blood vessels thrombin catalyses conversion of soluble fibrinogen to insoluble fibrin, these fibrin strands form a meshwork between aggregated platelets and trap red blood cells to form the clot. The primary aim of this process is to prevent blood loss and act as protection from invading bacteria, but secondary to this it also it provides a matrix scaffold for invading host cells, required for successful healing. Once a suitable clot has formed this process must then be stopped. This occurs via release of prostacyclin to inhibit platelet aggregation, antithrombin III which inhibits thrombin and protein C which degrades coagulation factors V and VII. The platelets also release platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF) and Transforming growth factor beta (TGF- β). These regulatory proteins act as chemoattractants and mitogens for fibroblasts, and macrophages (Singer and Clark, 1999).

1.6.2 Inflammatory response

The inflammatory response begins very soon after injury and can last for days or weeks with a co-ordinated influx of immune cells. The first immune cells to arrive at the wound site are leukocytes, which initially leak from the damaged vessels. There is also rapid activation of tissue-resident immune cells such as mast cells (Noli and Miolo, 2001), Langerhans cells (Cumberbatch et al., 2000) and $\gamma\delta$ T cells (Jameson et al., 2004). Activation of these resident cells triggers a release of cytokines and chemokines and as such begins the active recruitment of immune cells. Degranulation of mast cells prompts vasopermeability to allow an influx of immune cells to the wound site (Noli and Miolo, 2001).

The first cells recruited to the wound site are neutrophils which arrive within minutes. They kill invading bacteria via phagolysosomes (Lee et al., 2003) as well as bursts of reactive oxygen species (Dovi et al., 2004). They also trap microbes in a mesh of extruded fibres which bind to bacteria (Brinkmann et al., 2004). Neutrophils also increase expression of integrins CD11 and CD18 on their surface, which along with factor X promotes attachment to blood vessels and facilitates migration to the wound site.

Except where there is considerable wound contamination the influx of neutrophils ceases within a few days and macrophages become the dominant immune cell type. Nearly all the neutrophils become trapped in the fibrin clot and are then extruded with the scab and the remaining senescent neutrophils are phagocytosed by macrophages (Newman et al., 1982).

Monocytes/macrophages peak at the wound site at around 24-48 hours post wounding. They leave the blood as monocytes and differentiate into macrophages as they alter gene expression in response to their surroundings (Martinez et al., 2006). They can differentiate into either classically (M1) or alternatively activated (M2) macrophages and these two types have distinct roles; M1 are pro-inflammatory in nature whereas M2 are anti-inflammatory and pro-angiogenic and are thought to have a pro-healing phenotype. Both these types of macrophage are present at the beginning of healing and as healing progresses M2 macrophages predominate (Deonarine et al., 2007).

Monocytes are drawn to the wound site in response to a number of chemoattractants such as Macrophage Chemoattractant protein (MCP) and Macrophage Inflammatory protein (MIP). Once in the wound site their main role is as phagocytes, removing matrix and cell debris (Eming et al., 2007). However aside from their role of cleaning the wound site they are also an important source of cytokines and growth factors to regulate the healing process, including but not limited to IL-1, TNF α , Vascular endothelial growth factor and fibroblast growth factors (Singer and Clark, 1999).

1.6.3 Proliferative phase

The proliferative phase involves re-epithelialisation to restore the epidermis, granulation tissue formation to reform the damaged dermal ECM and angiogenesis to re-establish blood flow to the newly formed tissue.

1.6.4 Re-epithelisation

Within hours of injury the keratinocytes at the wound edge begin to proliferate and migrate to close the wound and restore the epithelial barrier (Singer and Clark, 1999). In order to facilitate movement the cells must first undergo a number of changes to alter their adhesion to both one another and the dermis and basement membrane below. The keratin filaments retract back inside the cell and actin-rich pseudopodia form to allow the cells to crawl (Mitchison and Cramer, 1996). The keratinocytes upregulate expression of enzymes such as MMPs to degrade the matrix and allow the cells to "crawl" under the scab, eventually separating the viable tissue below from the transitory clot (Pilcher et al., 1999).

1.6.5 Restoration of the Dermis

Around 4 days after injury new stroma, termed granulation tissue, forms to restore the dermis and replace the fibrin clot. The main contributing cell type is fibroblasts which are recruited from healthy surrounding tissue and begin to divide, or differentiate from pluripotent resident cells (Fernandes et al., 2004). Fibroblasts also differentiate from the bone marrow fibrocytes and the circulating pericytes (Abe et al., 2001, Rajkumar et al., 2006). The fibroblasts begin to synthesise, deposit and remodel new matrix proteins; initially this is mainly fibronectin and collagen type III.

Fibroblasts close to the wound site form stress fibres to allow some contraction of the connective tissue. However, further to this light contractile ability some of the fibroblasts differentiate into contractile myofibroblasts in response to growth factors such as TGF β and begin to express α -smooth muscle actin. This leads to a stronger contraction of the wound bed to draw the edges of the wound together (Hinz, 2007).

1.6.6 Angiogenesis

The newly forming tissue requires the support of new blood vessels to sustain it. It is the generation of new vessels which gives granulation tissue its granular appearance. There are a wide variety of signalling molecules which control the complex process of angiogenesis; such as VEGF, angiogenin, angiotropin and TGF β along with many others. The new blood vessels are formed through the migration of endothelial cells in response to these signalling molecules (Singer and Clark, 1999).

1.6.7 Tissue remodelling

This phase involves the transition from a provisional matrix to the formation of a mature scar and can last for over a year. Following the initial rapid closure of the wound, a scar can appear elevated and pigmented. To restore the skin to as close to its original strength and appearance as possible requires a balance of collagen production, breakdown and remodelling and the regeneration of appendages such as hair follicles and sebaceous glands. In many cases the skin is never fully restored and a visible scar remains.

1.7 Estrogen and wound healing

Post-menopausal skin shows a delay in wound healing ability and an increased incidence of the development of chronic wounds, whilst HRT is able to improve healing (Ashcroft et al., 1997) and protect against the development of chronic wounds (Margolis et al., 2002). Additionally, topical estrogen has been shown to accelerate acute wound healing in both male and female elderly patients (Ashcroft et al., 1999). More recently a microarray study revealed that 78% of genes which were differentially expressed in elderly delayed healing wounds versus acute wounds from young males were estrogen regulated (Hardman and Ashcroft, 2008). Thus, estrogen is clearly clinically and physiologically important for effective wound repair.

Studies using the ovariectomised mouse model and estrogen replacement have shown that estrogen has numerous effects on many aspects of healing (Figure 11) (Emmerson et al., 2009). The Ovx mouse wound shows a delay in re-epithelialisation, increased inflammation and protease activity. Short term estrogen replacement is able to promote healing by increasing keratinocyte migration, dampening inflammation and increasing matrix deposition (Ashcroft et al., 1997, Ashcroft and Ashworth, 2003).

1.7.1 Estrogen and inflammation

In acute healing estrogen dampens the inflammatory response and prevents excessive recruitment of neutrophils to the wound site. Down-regulation of L-selectin by estrogen reduces

the homing signal to the wound site (Ashcroft et al., 1999). Subsequent dampening of wound neutrophil-derived elastase prevents excessive degradation of the matrix proteins. Estrogen also has an important function in the switching of macrophages towards a pro healing (TH2) phenotype, signalling predominantly via ER α (Routley and Ashcroft, 2009, Campbell et al., 2014).

1.7.2 Estrogen and re-epithelialisation

One of the key aspects of age-associated delayed healing is failure to restore the epidermal barrier. Estrogen is able to induce mitosis and promote migration of keratinocytes (Verdier-Sevrain et al., 2004, Campbell et al., 2010). In humans 3 months of HRT is able to reverse post-menopausal associated delayed re-epithelisation and individuals showed similar re-epithelialisation to pre-menopausal women (Ashcroft et al., 1997)

1.7.3 Estrogen and matrix deposition

Post-menopausal wounds also exhibit delayed deposition of collagen and subsequent remodelling, an effect which can be reversed by systemic HRT or topical estrogen treatment (Ashcroft et al., 1997, Ashcroft et al., 1999). In vivo estrogen promotes fibroblast proliferation, migration and increases collagen deposition whilst also dampening MMP activity (Stevenson et al., 2008, Ashcroft et al., 1999)



Figure 1.11. Estrogen affects many aspects of wound healing Right estrogen deficiency reduces keratinocyte migration and fibroblast number and increases inflammation leading to reduced matrix and delayed healing (Saville and Hardman, 2015)

1.8 Conclusions, Hypothesis and Aims

As we age the skin undergoes extensive, widespread changes, leading to deterioration in function and appearance. The skin acts as a visible representation, but ageing occurs simultaneously in all tissues of the body. It is known that age leads to alterations in mechanical function of tissues which can have serious health consequences and there is strong evidence to support a clear link between estrogen signalling and skin ageing. However much of the previous work has focussed on alterations in collagen fibrils and there is a lack of detailed understanding as to how estrogen deprivation affects elastic fibres and other matrix proteins.

The hypothesis which drives my project is:-

Estrogen deprivation drives skin ageing and mechanical alterations via loss of ECM homeostasis. Therefore, I hypothesize that estrogen replacement will have a protective effect. I have addressed this via 3 specific aims:

Aim 1 – Determine if

- 1) Estrogen deprivation induces selective remodelling of the dermal ECM.
- 2) Which mechanisms could drive ECM remodelling

This will be approached *in vivo* using the ovariectomised mouse model of menopause to understand the effects of estrogen deprivation on the gross mechanical properties of murine skin. Changes will be mapped to alterations in the key ECM proteins particularly changes in the elastic fibre proteins, using both histological and biochemical approaches to ascertain the contribution of catabolic and anabolic processes to alterations in ECM homeostasis with estrogen deficiency.

Aim 2 – Determine if estrogen deprivation models key aspects of skin ageing

This will be answered by comparison of the uniaxial tensile and viscoelastic testing from the ovariectomised model to the chronologically aged mouse. Followed by proteomic comparison (By Mass spectrometry) of the dermal ECM from the aged and ovariectomised mouse to offer a detailed understanding of the effect of these two states on dermal ECM components

Aim 3 - To determine if the effects of estrogen on the elastic fibre network are mediated via $ER\alpha$ or $ER\beta$ in both intact and wounded skin.

By utilising selective estrogen receptor agonists to modulate signalling *in vivo* in the Ovx mouse model we will assess the effect of signalling via $ER\alpha$ or $ER\beta$ on the elastic fibres in whole skin and

the re-deposition of elastic fibres into the healing wound. Additionally we will analysis the effects of the agonist's *in vitro* using human dermal fibroblast cell culture.

Chapter 2

Materials and Methods

2 Materials and Methods

2.1 Animal Experiments

All animal studies were carried out in accordance with UK home office regulations under approved licences. Mice were of the C57/BL6 genetic background

2.1.1 Ovariectomy

Mice undergoing bilateral ovariectomy were initially anesthetised via inhalation of isoflurane, nitrous oxide and pure oxygen. The lower ventral area was shaved and cleaned using an alcohol wipe (Seton healthcare, Liverpool, UK). A small horizontal incision was made through the skin, followed by a second incision, at 90° to the first, through the body wall. The uterus was identified by the fat pads and then the horns of the uterus were followed to identify the ovaries. The ovaries were removed using sharp sterile scissors and the body wall sutured with absorbable polyglycolic acid suture (Dexon II Johnson & Johnson). The skin incision was then closed using silk braided non-absorbable sutures (Ethicon Mersilk, Johnson & Johnson). An interperitoneal injection of 1mg/kg buprenorphine was given as an analgesic.

2.1.2 Incisional wounding

Mice undergoing incisional wounding were initially anesthetised via inhalation of isoflurane, nitrous oxide and pure oxygen. The dorsal area was shaved and cleaned using an alcohol wipe (Seton healthcare, Liverpool, UK). Two full- thickness wounds were made 2cm from the base of the skull and 0.5cm either side of the midline (Figure 2.1). Incisions were made through the skin and panniculus carnosus muscle using a sterile scalpel blade. An interperitoneal injection of 1mg/kg buprenorphine was given as an analgesic. The mice were then singularly housed in minimal bedding to prevent interference of the wounds and the wounds allowed to heal by secondary intension (Emmerson et al., 2009).



Figure 2.1 Position of dorsal incisional wounds. Two 1cm incisional wounds are made 2cm from the base of the skull and 0.5 cm either side of the midline through the dorsal skin and carnosus muscle.

2.1.3 Tissue harvest

On the day of sacrifice mice were euthanised via rising concentration of CO₂. Wounds were photographed using FujiFilm FinePix S5700 camera (Fuji, Tokoyo, Japan). The wounds were then excised and bisected then either formalin fixed (see appendix) for paraffin wax sectioning, embedded in optimum cryo medium (Klinipath) cooled in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80°C for cryotomy or 'snap frozen' by placing into cryo tubes and into liquid nitrogen prior to storage at - 80°C. Pieces of unwounded, shaved, dorsal skin were also collected and in the same manner. The ventral skin was shaved and collected in a full length strip and stored on ice for immediate mechanical testing. The uterus was removed to be weighed to ensure the ovariectomy had been effective. A shrunken uterus indicates systemic estrogen deprivation (Garcia-Perez et al., 2006).

2.1.4 Tissue processing

Following formalin fixation for 24 hours the tissue was transferred to 70% ethanol 30% dH_2O . The tissue was processed on a STP120 (Microm) tissue processor following the program described in Table 2.1

Step	Solution	Time (Min)	Temperature(°C)
1	90% IMS	45	Room Temp
2	95% IMS	45	Room Temp
3	100% IMS	45	Room Temp
4	100% IMS	45	Room Temp
5	100% IMS	45	Room Temp
6	Xylene	30	Room Temp
7	Xylene	30	Room Temp
8	Xylene	30	Room Temp
9	Wax	60	60
10	Wax	60	60

Table 2.1 Tissue processing protocol

IMS and Xylene supplied by Genta Medical, New York

Tissue was embedded into warm paraffin wax (RA Lamb) on a microm embedding station. The tissue was orientated with the cut edge of the downward in the block and cooled until solidified on a cold plate.

2.2 Histological analysis

2.2.1 Tissue sectioning

Slides were prepared from wax embedded fixed tissue. Glass microscope slides were pretreated with Vectabond reagent (Vector Laboratories, UK) (see appendix). Tissue was sectioned to 6μ m thickness on a RM2235 microtome (Leica, UK) and floated onto slides in a 50°C flotation bath (Medite TFB45). Slides were dried overnight in a drying oven at 37°C.

2.2.2 Dewaxing and rehydration

Prior to staining slides were submerged in xylene for 20 minutes to remove the wax then rehydrated through decreasing IMS alcohol concentrations 1 minute in each (2x100%, 90%, 70%, 50%) then placed into water before the appropriate staining was carried out.

2.2.3 Immunoperoxidase staining

Following dewaxing and rehydration the slides were heated in a microwave in citrate buffer (see appendix) for 2.5 minutes and allowed to cool for 15 minutes. Slides were then placed in phosphate buffered saline (PBS) for 2 minutes. A hydrophobic barrier was drawn around each section (ImmEdge Pen, Vector Laboratories) and the slides placed in a humidity chamber. Slides were incubated in 0.3% H₂O₂ (Sigma, UK) for 30 minutes to quench endogenous peroxidase activity. Slides were washed by submerging in PBS for 15 minutes. Sections were incubated for 20 minutes in the appropriate blocking serum, based on the host species of the secondary antibody (ABC Kit, Vector Laboratries) to prevent unspecific binding. Excess blocking serum was removed and the appropriate primary antibody was applied over the section and incubated overnight. A PBS control section was also prepared. Table 2.2 shows primary antibody concentrations. Slides were washed by submerging in PBS for 15 minutes then incubated for 30 minutes with the appropriate peroxidase anti IgG secondary antibody (ABC Kit, Vector Laboratories). Slides were washed in PBS for 15 minutes then incubated with ABC reagent for 30 minutes (ABC Kit, Vector Laboratories). Slides washed in PBS for 15 minutes. A drop of Nova Red reagent was pipetted over each section until a colour change was seen. Slides rinsed in water for 3 minutes. Slides were counter stained in Gills Haematoxylin (Vector Laboratories) for 30 seconds then rinsed in running water for 3 minutes. Slides were dehydrated by submerging in increasing alcohol concentrations (50%, 70%, 90%, 100%, 100%) for 1 minute each. Slides were then submerged in xylene for 20 minutes clearing. Slides were mounted with Pertex mounting medium (CellPath, Newton, UK) and glass coverslips.

Antibody	Working dilution	Manufacturer	Host species
Fbn-1	1:200	Santa Cruz (sc-7540)	Goat
Fbn-2	1:100	Genetex(GTX-100261)	Mouse
ER a	1:50	Santa Cruz (Sc-542)	Rabbit
ER β	1:50	Santa Cruz (Sc-8974)	Rabbit
AGE	1:100	ABCam (Ab23722)	Rabbit

Table 2.2 Antibodies for immunohistochmical analysis

2.2.4 Gamori's aldehyde fuchsin stain for elastic fibres

Following dewaxing and rehydration slides were incubated in Lugols Iodine solution for 30 minutes then rinsed in water for 3 minutes. Slides were incubated in 5% sodium thiosulpahte (Sigma, UK) for 5 minutes then rinsed in running water for 10 minutes. Slides were submerged in 90% IMS for 30 seconds then transferred into aldehyde fuchsin (see appendix) for 10 minutes. Slides were rinsed in water and then differentiated in 90% IMS. Slides were dehydrated by submerging in increasing alcohol concentrations (50%, 70%, 90%, 100%, 100%) for 1 minute each. Slides were then submerged in xylene for 20 minutes clearing. Slides were mounted with Pertex mounting medium (CellPath, Newton, UK) and glass coverslips.

2.2.5 Picro-Sirius red staining for organised fibrillar collagen

Slides dewaxed and rehydrated as described above then incubated in picro-sirius red stain for 1 hour. Slides were washed twice in 0.5% acetic acid for 10 minutes each. Slides were dehydrated by submerging in increasing alcohol concentrations (50%, 70%, 90%, 100%, 100%) for 1 minute each. Slides were then submerged in xylene for 20 minutes clearing. Slides were mounted with Pertex mounting medium (CellPath, Newton, UK) and glass coverslips (McConnell et al., 2016).

2.2.6 Massons trichrome staining for collagen

Slides dewaxed and rehydrated as described above then placed in picric acid solution for 1 hour. Slides were rinsed in running water until the water for 2 minutes then dipped in 90% IMS. Slides were stained in Weigert hematoxylin (see appendix) for 10 minutes then rinsed in running water for 10 minutes. Slides were then stained in Biebrich scarlet-acid fuchsin (see appendix) for 2 minutes then rinsed in distilled water. Slides then stained in phosphomolybdic/phospotungstic acid solution (See appendix) for 15 minutes. Then placed in aniline blue solution (See appendix) for 5 minutes and rinsed in distilled water. Slides were submerged in 1% acetic acid for 5 minutes then dehydrated by placing into 100% ethanol (Fisher scientific, UK) and cleared by submerging in xylene for 20 minutes. Slides were mounted with Pertex mounting medium (CellPath, Newton, UK) and glass coverslips.

2.3 Cell Culture

2.3.1 Culture of human dermal fibroblasts

Human dermal fibroblasts were a gift from Epistem (Manchester, UK) initially obtained, under informed consent, from the normal abdominal skin of a 38yr old female donor undergoing surgery.

Cells were cultured in phenol red free DMEM media (Sigma) supplemented with 10% charcoal stripped fetal bovine serum, 4mM L-glutamine (Sigma) and 1% penicillin-streptomycin (10,000 U/ml 10mg/ml stock) (Sigma) and used between passage 6 and passage 10. Both phenol red and unstripped serum have estrogenic activity (Welshons et al 1988, Berthios et al 1986). Cells were incubated at 37° C with 5% CO₂.

2.3.2 Cell culture for Mass spectrometry

Primary dermal fibroblast were plated into 6 well plates at 50 % confluence and allowed to adhere overnight. Fresh media was added on alternate days and half of the samples were supplemented with estrogen into the media at a final concentration of 10⁻⁷M. Cell matrix was extracted after 8 days culture using 2M NaCL 25mm ammonium bicarbonate 25mM dithiothretol.

2.4 Quantitative Real-time PCR

2.4.1 RNA Extraction

RNA was extracted from snap frozen tissue by homogenising in Trizol reagent (Life technologies, Invitrogen, UK) or from cultured cells by vortexing in Trizol reagent. A small piece of snap frozen tissue was added to 1 ml of Trizol and homogenised 3x 10 seconds using an ultra Turrax IKA-T1 homogeniser. For cells they were vortexed for 30 seconds in 500ml Trizol. 200µl of chloroform per 1ml of Trizol was added and shaken vigorously and incubated for 2 minutes. Samples were centrifuged at 12,500xg for 15 minutes at 4°C. The colourless upper phase was transferred to an RNAse free tube and an equal volume of 70% ethanol was added mixed by gently inverting. The solution was then purified using a PureLink RNA minikit (Invitrogen, UK) following the manufactures instructions. The solution was added to a spin column and centrifuged 12,000 rpm for 15 seconds and the flow through discarded. The column was washed with 700µl wash buffer 1 and centrifuged 12,000 rpm for 15 seconds. The column was placed into a new tube and washed 2x with 500µl wash buffer II (with ethanol added) by centrifugation at 12,000 rpm for 15 seconds. The flow through was discarded and the column membrane dried by centrifuging at 12,000 rpm for 1 minute. The RNA was eluted into an RNAse free tube by incubating with 30µl RNase free water for 1 minute, then centrifuging for 2 minutes at 12,000 rpm.

2.4.2 RNA quantification and cDNA synthesis

RNA yields were assessed using a Nanodrop 1000 spectrophotometer then cDNA was transcribed from 1µg of RNA (Promega RT kit and AMV-revese transcripate (Roche)) RNA was diluted to 1µg in 10µl of nuclease free water then incubated for 10 minutes at 70°C. Following this samples were incubated on ice for 2 minutes then the reaction mix added containing 4µl RT buffer, 2µl MgCl₂, 1µl random hexamer, 0.5µl Rnase inhibitor and 0.5µl reverse transcriptase. Samples then placed in the thermal cycler (TC-412 TECHNE) and incubated for 10 minutes at 25° C, 30 minutes at 55° C then 5 minutes at 85° C.

2.4.3 Quantitative Real-Time PCR analysis (qPCR)

qPCR was performed on an opticon qPCR thermal cycler (Bio-Rad,UK) using Mesa green mastermix (Eurogentec, Southhampton, UK). cDNA samples were diluted 1:20, 1:100 and 1:500 in nuclease free water and 10µl of each sample added to a 96 well plate. 15µl of reaction mastermix was added to each well, this contained 100pM of primer (0.225µl of each forward and reverse primer) 12µl of Mesa green and 2µl of nuclease free water. The plate was sealed with thermal film and loaded into the thermal cycler see table 2.3 for cycling conditions.

Step	Temp (°C)	Duration (mins)	
1. Enzyme activation	95	10	
2. Denaturation	95	0.25	
3. Annealing and Elongation	60	1	
4. Read Plate			
5. Amplification	Repeat steps 2-4 39 times		
6. Melt curve generation	60-90 increase	Read every 0.3 °C	

Table 2.3 qPCR cycling conditions

Gene expression was determined relative to a standard sample and normalised to an average of the housekeeping genes Gapdh and Ywhaz

Table 2.4 Primer sequences

Target Gene	Forward primer sequence	Reverse primer sequence
Fbn-1	CAGTGCATTAACACAACGC	TTCTTGCAGGTCCCATTTCC
FBN-1	CAGGACAGGCCCATGTTTTAC	GCACAGCAGAGCGTTTTTGT
Eln	TGTCCCACTGGGTTATCCCAT	CAGCTACTCCATAGGGCAATTT
ΕRα	AATAGCCCTGCCTTGTCCTT	ATAGATCATGGGCGGTTCAG
ERβ	TGTGTGTGAAGGCCATGATT	GTGTCAGCTTCCGGGCTACTC
Gapdh	TGCCACTCAGAAGACTGTGG	GGATGCAGGGATGATGTTCT
GAPDH	TGCACCACCAACTGAGC	GGCATGGACTGTGGTCATGAG
Ywhaz	TTGAGCAGAAGACGGAAGGT	GAAGCATTGGGGATCAAGAA

2.5 Protein analysis

2.5.1 Western blot

Protein separation was performed by SDS Polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis using 10% gel. Separating gels were made with a stacking gel on top (See appendix). Samples of cell culture media or extracted protein were mixed with 6µl of laemmli buffer (Bio-Rad, UK) containing 5% β -mercaptoethanol (Bio Rad, UK) and incubated at 100°C for 5 minutes to denature the protein then placed onto ice. The gels were placed in the running tank with TGS buffer (see appendix) and samples were loaded into the gel wells along with pre stained all blue standards (Bio-Rad). The gels were run at 90V for 2 hours with an ice pack to keep the temperature down. Proteins were then transferred onto a PVDF membrane (SLS,UK) in transfer buffer (See appendix) at 100V for 90 minutes. The membrane was then incubated overnight in 5% TBS-Tween milk at 4°C to block none specific binding sites. The membrane was washed in TBS-Tween for 15 minutes then incubated with primary antibody for 1 hour. The membrane was then washed 4x15 minutes with TBS-Tween and incubated with HRP-linked secondary antibody for 1 hour. The membrane was washed again as above then incubated for 5 minutes with ECL detection reagent (GE Healthcare, UK). Membranes were then developed on autoradiography film (Kodak). The pixel intensity from scanned images was measured using image J software (Image J, National Institutes of Health, USA) to give an estimate of the quantity of the protein present.

			1	
Antibody	Working	Manufacturer	Host	Secondary
5	8			5
	Dilution			(Amersham)
	1 200	C C (00.47500)	M	1 5000
Elastin	1:200	Santa Cruz (SC-17580)	Mouse	1:5000
β-actin	1:5000	Sigma (A5441)	Mouse	1:5000
'				

Table 2.5 Western blot antibody dilutions

2.5.2 Extraction of cell deposited ECM for mass spectrometry

Cells were cultured as described in section 2.3.1 following 8 days of culture the media was removed and cells washed with 2mls of warm PBS. Then 500µl of ExNa buffer (see appendix) was added to the first of duplicate wells and incubated at 37°C for 20 minutes. The same 500µl was added to the second duplicate well and incubated at 37°C for 20 minutes to combine the extracts together. Samples were then frozen at -20 until preparation for mass spectrometry.

The following day 50μ l of extracted ECM was added to 150ul of digest buffer in a tube containing immobilized trypsin beads (Perfinity Biosciences) and shaken overnight at 1400 rpm 37° C.

The following day 4μ l of 500mM DTT was added to the tubes and shaken at 1400rpm at 60°C for 10 minutes to reduce the disulphide bonds. Then 12μ l of 500mM iodoacetamide and shaken at 1400rpm at 25°C for 30 minutes in the dark to oxidise the reduced bonds. Additional DTT was then added to quench this reaction.

Tubes were centrifuged at 13000rpm for 10 minutes to separate from the beads and supernatant transferred to a LoBind tube (Eppendorf) the solution was then acidified with 5 μ l of 10% trifluoroacetic acid to make the extract water soluble.

Ethyl acetate (200µl) was added to each tube and vortexed for 1 minute then the tubes were centrifuged at 13000rpm for 1 minute. The organic molecules and surfacants partition into the top phase this was removed and the process repeated 2 more times with additional 200µl of Ethyl acetate. The samples were then dried down in a speed-vac before addition of 200µl of injection solution (See appendix).

100µl of POROS R3 beads were added to the wells of a 96 well filtration membrane plate with a collection plate below and centrifuged for 1 minute at 200xg to leave dry beads. The beads were then re-suspended in 50µl of 50% acetonitrile elution solution in water and the plate centrifuged again to dry the beads this was repeated. The beads were then re-suspended in 0.1% trifluoroacetic acid to wash the beads and centrifuged again to remove the liquid this was repeated.

100µl of sample was added to the beads and the beads re-suspended and centrifuged this was repeated until all the sample had been added and centrifuged through leaving the protein bound to the beads. The beads were then re-suspended in 0.1% trifluoroacetic and centrifuged to wash x2. The collection plate was washed with 50% acetonitrile prior to addition of 50µl

elution solution to the beads the plate was centrifuged then another 50μ l of elution solution was added and centrifuge again. The eluted solution was transferred from the collection plate into mass spectrometry vials and dried down in the speed vac. The samples were resuspended in 6μ l of injection solution and mixed. The peptide concentration was measured on the direct detect spectrometer and adjusted to 0.3mg/ml for injection on the LC column.

2.6 Mechanical Testing

2.6.1 Tension testing to failure

Ventral skin 1cm wide was excised from relevant experimental mouse groups and kept in PBS on ice. The end of the skin strip was placed into sandpaper to provide grip and clamped into the Instron 3344 (Instron, USA) fitted with a 100N load cell. The skin length was input into the Bluehills lite software (Instron, USA) then samples were loaded at a constant rate of 20mm/min until failure (I.e. the skin completely broke).

2.6.2 Cyclical loading and stress relaxation

Skin 1cm wide was excised from relevant experimental mouse groups and kept in PBS on ice. The end of the skin was placed into sandpaper to provide grip and clamped in the instron 5943 10N load cell (Instron, USA) and submerged in a PBS bath. The skin was loaded to cyclically loaded to 1N and unloaded at a rate of 10mm/min for 5 cycles and then loaded to 1 N and held at a constant strain and the load recorded as the tissue relaxed.

2.7 Statistical Analysis

One way ANOVA with Tukeys post hoc test (Graph pad prism software, USA) was used to compare the experimental groups (Intact/ Ovx and Ovx+E) in Chapter 3 (Young/ Ovx / Aged) Chapter 4 and (Intact / Ovx+Vehicle / Ovx+E / Ovx+PPT /Ovx+DPN). Comparison of 2 groups used a Mann-Whitney-U test to determine statistical significance (Graph pad prism software, USA).

Chapter 3 Results

"Estrogen mediates remodelling of the dermal elastic fibre system and hypodermal adipocytes"

CS was involved in experimental design and carried out experiments analysed results and prepared manuscript JS carried out mass spectrometry DH was involved in methodology for mechanical testing BD was involved in mechanical testing experimental design EE involved in manuscript preparation MH and MS were involved in experimental design and manuscript preparation.

Prepared for submission to: Journal of pathology

3 Estrogen mediates remodelling of the dermal elastic fibre system and hypodermal adipocytes

Charis R Saville^{1,2}, Joe Swift³, David F Holmes³, Brian Derby⁴, Elaine Emmerson⁵, Matthew J Hardman^{2#} and Michael J Sherratt^{1#}

¹Centre for Tissue Injury and Repair, Faculty of Medical and Human Sciences, ²The Healing Foundation Centre, Faculty of Life Sciences, ³Faculty of Life Sciences, ⁴School of Materials, The University of Manchester, Oxford Road, Manchester

⁵Cell and Tissue Biology, University of California, San Francisco, USA.

#These authors contributed equally

Running head: Estrogen and skin homeostasis

3.1 Abstract

Age-related remodelling of the dermal extracellular matrix is thought to be a key cause of skin fragility in the elderly population. The peri-menopausal period in females is also associated with rapid development of an age-like phenotype which can be reversed by hormone replacement therapy. Thus suggesting a direct link between circulating hormone levels and tissue ageing. Whilst attention has primarily focused on estrogen deprivation as a mediator of collagen fibril abundance and structure, the influence of estrogen on the elastic fibre system remains poorly defined. As components of this system are both sensitive biomarkers of ageing and key players in tissue homeostasis we hypothesed that estrogen is a direct mediator of elastic fibre network proteostasis.

Using the overiectomised (Ovx) mouse surgical menopause model we demonstrate that an acute, 7 week period of Ovx leads to major changes in the gross mechanical properties of excised skin, significantly reducing both tensile strength and Youngs' modulus (by 41.5% and 38% respectively). Systemic replacement of 17beta-estradiol to physiological levels fully protects against these mechanical changes. Moreover, this acute ovariectomy period revealed differential effects of hormone deprivation on dermal structural networks; significantly decreasing dermal elastic fibre abundance without discernible effect on collagen fibril organisation or abundance. Specific elastic fibre proteolysis may be driven by ECM protease activity, or a consequence of significant adipocyte hypertrophy. We also show that, conversely, 17beta-estradiol supplementation in Ovx mice protects the elastic fibre system and induces cultured human dermal fibroblasts to selectively upregulate the synthesis of tropoelastin, fibrillin-1 and associated elastic fibre associated proteins (including EMILINs and fibulins). These data suggest that the elastic fibre system may be a major target in estrogen-deprived tissues and that pharmacological intervention to modulate adipocyte phenotype may slow the acute effects of menopause and potentially the chronic effects of ageing in skin.

3.2 Introduction

As a consequence of increasing life expectancy the average woman now spends in excess of 30 years in a state of systemic estrogen deficiency. The onset of menopause and the subsequent loss of circulating sex steroid hormones, including estrogen, has profound effects on tissue homeostasis and function in disparate organs including the blood vessels, lungs, bone and skin (Tutino et al., 2015, Glassberg et al., 2014, Most et al., 1995, Tsukahara et al., 2004). In the skin, ageing and estrogen deprivation are associated with compositional and structural remodelling of the dermal extracellular matrix (ECM) and as a consequence, a loss of tissue resilience and increased tissue fragility (Escoffier et al., 1989, Thurstan et al., 2012, Verdier-Sevrain et al., 2006). These functional changes are thought to directly increase vulnerability of the elderly population to skin injuries, such as skin tears and pressure ulcers, which severely impact on individual wellbeing (Baranoski, 2000, Farage et al., 2009).

As yet, the pathological mechanisms which drive this loss of mechanical fidelity are poorly defined. Of the three skin layers (the epidermis, dermis and hypodermis) it is the ECM-rich dermis which is usually considered the principle mediator of mechanical properties. The most abundant protein in the dermis is type I collagen, which forms a "basket-weave" of tensile strength-conferring fibril bundles (Osman et al., 2013, Graham et al., 2010). There is a strong correlation between: i) the loss and structural remodelling of dermal collagen fibrils and chronic estrogen deprivation as a consequence of either menopause (in humans) or ovariectomy (Ovx: in animal models) and ii) collagen deposition following estrogen supplementation (Brincat et al., 1987, Brincat et al., 1985, Sauerbronn et al., 2000). In order to further characterise the mechanistic links between estrogen deprivation and dermal matrix remodelling it has proven necessary to use Ovx as an acute model of estrogen deprivation, thereby avoiding the confounding factors associated with chronological ageing (El-Domyati et al., 2002, Naylor et al., 2011).

In rodents surgical Ovx has been shown to successfully model many aspects of human menopause including osteoporosis, neurodegeneration and cardiac dysfunction (He et al., 2011, Huang and Zhang, 2010, Cavasin et al., 2003). In ovine skin Ovx promotes structural remodelling of cutaneous collagen fibrils whilst in rodents surgically induced estrogen deprivation impairs skin recoil and accelerates many of the manifestations of UVR mediated photo-damage (Fang et al., 2012, Tsukahara et al., 2004, Tsukahara et al., 2001). Notably, in the latter study, Tsukahara and colleagues demonstrate that Ovx also induces a loss of elastic recoil in murine skin.

Compared with fibrillar collagens, elastic fibres occupy only a small fraction of dermal volume. Their composition varies with dermal depth, but the large diameter elastic fibres in the reticular dermis are comprised of a cross-linked elastin core surrounded by an outer mantle of fibrillin microfibrils (Kielty et al., 2002) which in turn bind proteins including MAGP-1, and members of the emilin and fibulin families (Bressan et al., 1993, Gibson et al., 1989, Kielty et al., 2002). The link between circulating estrogen and elastic fibre remodelling remains poorly understood. However, it is becoming increasingly clear that fibrillin microfibrils play important roles in mediating, not only tissue mechanics, but also tissue homeostasis as a consequence of their ability to sequester extracellular cytokines (Ramirez and Rifkin, 2009). Further experimental evidence suggests that the amino acid composition of the fibrillins and other elastic fibre associated components, particularly their relatively high Cys, Trp and Tyr contents, predisposes them to oxidative damage arising from UVR exposure, smoking and/or raised BMI (Sherratt, 2009, Hibbert et al., 2015, Ezure and Amano, 2015, Just et al., 2007). Suggesting the elastic fibre proteins are likely to be highly affected by age associated alterations in their environment such as loss of circulating estrogen which acts as both a direct anti-oxidant and induces antioxidant enzymes (Baeza et al., 2010, Bottai et al., 2013).

Therefore in this study, we have tested the hypotheses that: i) estrogen mediates elastic fibre proteostasis and skin homeostasis in a murine model of menopause and ii) Human dermal fibroblasts are responsive to 17beta-estadiol treatment with respect to the elastic fibre proteins

3.3 Methods

Reagents, tissue samples and cultured cells

All reagents were obtained from Sigma-Aldrich Co. Ltd (Poole, UK) or BDH Ltd (Poole, UK), unless otherwise specified. Procedures involving mice accorded to the UK Animals (Scientific Procedures) Act 1986 under UK home office licence (40/3713). All mice used in this study were wild type C57/BL6 females (Envigo, UK) aged 7 weeks at the start of the experimental period. Primary dermal fibroblasts were derived from female abdominal human skin and maintained in phenol red-free DMEM supplemented with L-glutamine, 10% charcoal-stripped foetal calf serum and penicillin-streptomycin.

Ovariectomy and estrogen supplementation

Estrogen deprivation was induced in five mice (Ovx group) by bilateral ovariectomy as previously described (Emmerson et al., 2012). Briefly, the mice were anaesthetised using a mixture of oxygen, nitrous oxide and isofluorane. Following ventral laparotomy, ovaries were located via

exposure of the uterus and removed using sterile scissors. The body wall and skin were closed using sutures and buprenorphine (0.1mg/kg) administered as analgesia. Uterine atrophy was used to confirm estrogen deprivation at the time of tissue collection (Zhao et al., 2012) with uterine weight maintained by estrogen replacement (Ingberg., 2012). The potential protective effects of exogenous estrogen in skin were characterised in a further five mice which underwent Ovx but were also treated with a slow-release subcutaneous 17beta-estradiol replacement pellet (0.1mg -60 day release) (Innovative research of America, Florida, USA) inserted at the base of the neck (Ovx+E group). A final group of five mice served as age-matched controls with intact ovaries (Intact group). Mice were collected 7 weeks post ovx.

Mechanical characterisation of murine skin

The effects of Ovx and 17beta-estradiol supplementation on the tensile strength and stiffness of mouse skin were determined by stretching 10mm wide x 30mm long strips of ventral skin from each of the experimental groups (Intact, Ovx and Ovx+E n=5) using an instron 3344 100N load cell (Instron, USA). The tissue was loaded to failure at a rate of 20mm/min. The effects of estrogen deprivation on skin viscoelasticity were characterised by testing the stress relaxation behaviour of ventral skin in a PBS bath using an Instron 5943 10N load cell (Instron, USA). Skin from Ovx and intact control groups (n=5) was cyclically loaded to 1N at a rate of 10mm/min 5 times to precondition the tissue then loaded to 1N and held at a constant strain for 160 seconds. All data was collected and analysed using Bluehill software (Instron, USA).

Histological characterisation of murine skin: collagen and elastic fibre abundance, organisation and depth of subcutaneous fat.

Six µm thick histological sections were prepared from formalin-fixed, paraffin-embedded dorsal skin from the Ovx, Ovx+E and intact (n=5) groups described above. For each stain an average measure was taken from 5 fields of view from one section per mouse to cover the full section. Elastic fibres were stained using Gomori's aldehyde fuchsin (Gomori, 1950), and visualised by bright-field optical microscopy (Nikon eclipse E600 microscope/SPOT camera). Total tissue collagen was assessed by staining with Masson's trichrome and visualised using a microscope. Masson's trichrome is reported to stain amorphous collagen (Kim et al., 2012) but the most abundant dermal collagen, collagen I, only confers mechanical strength to tissues when assembled into fibrils. We have previously shown that staining with picosirius red (PSR) and illumination by crossed polarised light (Leica DMRB) selectively visualises organised fibrillar

collagen (McConnell et al., 2016). In this study, we stained mouse skin sections with PSR and visualised collagen birefringence using a Leica DMRB microscope. The proportion of tissue area occupied by elastic fibre, amorphous collagen and organised fibrillar collagen was semi-quantitatively assessed using ImageJ 1.46r software as previously described (Graham et al., 2011, McConnell et al., 2016). The ratio of thick and thin collagen fibrils was semi-quantitatively measured using the colour deconvolution plugin to split colour channels, a threshold applied and measured as percentage area (Cooper et al., 2015) (Image J, National Institutes of Health, USA). Finally the collagen orientation (also known as coherency) in the PSR/polarised light images was assessed as previously described using a well-established methodology (Rezakhaniha et al., 2012, McConnell et al., 2016)

In situ gelatinase activity in cryo preserved skin sections

Most ECM-proteases also act as gelatinases (Chakraborti et al., 2003). In order to quantify and localise the effects of Ovx and Ovx+E on mouse skin we used *in situ* gelatin zymography (Akhtar et al., 2014). Cryo-preserved skin in OCT was sectioned to a nominal thickness of 10 µm thick (Leica CM3050 cryostat). DQ gelatin (Sigma,UK) solution (1mg/ml Dq gelatin in low gelling temperature agarose) containing DAPI (1µg/ml) was pipetted over the section and coverslipped. Sections were incubated for 18 hours at 4 °C and images captured using an Olympus BX51 microscope/ CoolsnapES camera/ Metavue software (Molecular devices). Fluorescence was quantified as previously described using image J 1.46r software (National Institutes of Health, USA) (Akhtar et al., 2014).

In vivo expression of murine elastic fibre genes

RNA was extracted from snap frozen skin to assess the RNA expression levels of elastic fibre components elastin and fibrillin-1 following a standard protocol (Life Technologies UK). Briefly tissue was homogenised in Trizol reagent (Life Technologies) and extracted in chloroform then purified using the RNA purelink kit (Life Technologies UK). Subsequently cDNA was transcribed from RNA (Reverse Transcriptase kit, Promega, Madison USA) using Reverse Transcriptase (Roche, UK) and quantitative PCR was carried out on a Opticon quantitative PCR thermal cycler (Bio-Rad, UK). cDNA was diluted over 3 orders of magnitude and expression ratios normalised to housekeeping genes *Gapdh* (fwd-tgccactcagaagactgtgg rev-ggatgcagggatgatgttct) and *Ywhaz* (fwd-ttgagcagaagacggaaggt rev- gaagcattggggatcaagaa)

ECM gene expression by cultured human cells

Human dermal fibroblasts plated in 12 well plates at a seeding density of 0.17x10⁻⁶ cells per well were allowed to adhere overnight in a CO₂ incubator at 37oC. In n=3 wells 17beta-estradiol was added to the media to a final concentration of 10⁻⁷M. Cells were harvested 6 or 24 hrs post-treatment by removal of the media and addition of TRIzol reagent (Life Technologies, UK). RNA was extracted using the RNA Purelink kit (Life Technologies, UK),cDNA synthesis and qPCR were carried out as described above for fibrillin-1 *FBN-1* (fwd-caggacaggcccatgtttac rev-gcacagcagagcgttttgt) and housekeeping genes *GAPDH* (*fwd-* tgcaccaccaactgagc *Rev-ggcatggactgtggtcatgag*) *and YWAHZ* (fwd-acttttggtacattgtggcttcaa rev- ccgccaggacaaaccagtat)

Protein synthesis by cultured human fibroblasts: mass spectrometry and Western blotting

Dermal fibroblasts were plated into 2 x 6 well plates at a seeding density of 50 % confluence and allowed to adhere overnight. Fresh media was added on alternate days and half of the samples (6 wells) were supplemented with 17beta-estradiol into the media at a final concentration of 1µM. Cell matrix was extracted after 8 days culture using 2M NaCL 25mm ammonium bicarbonate and 25mM dithiothretol (DTT). The extracts were digested overnight using immobilized-trypsin beads (Perfinity Biosciences) in 1mM calcium chloride and 25mM ammonium bicarbonate. Further reduction and subsequent alkylation was carried out using 10mM DTT followed by 30mM iodoacetamide. The samples were acidified with 0.4% trifluoracetic acid. Samples were cleaned by biphasic extraction by vortexing centrifugation with ethyl acetate. Samples were subsequently dried down in a speed-vac. Peptide desalting was carried out using PORPS R3 beads (Thermo fisher scientific) washed in trifluroacetic acid in acetonitrile. Samples were dried down in speed vac and resuspended in acetonitrile trifluoroacetic acid in water and stored at 4 °C prior to analysis by mass spectrometry.

The digested samples were analysed by LC-MS/MS using an UltiMate[®] 3000 Rapid Separation LC (RSLC, Dionex Corporation, Sunnyvale, CA) coupled to an Orbitrap Elite (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA) mass spectrometer. Peptide mixtures were separated using a gradient from 92% A (0.1% FA in water) and 8% B (0.1% FA in acetonitrile) to 33% B, in 104 min at 300 nL min⁻¹, using a 75 mm x 250 μ m i.d. 1.7 μ M CSH C18, analytical column (Waters). Peptides were selected for fragmentation automatically by data dependant analysis. Data produced were searched using Mascot (Matrix Science UK), against the Uniprot database with taxonomy of human selected. Data were validated using Scaffold (Proteome Software, Portland, OR).

The influence of estrogen on tropoelastin synthesis by human dermal fibroblasts was also characterised immunologically by Western blotting. HDFs (n=3) were treated with fresh 17beta-estradiol supplmented media (1uM) on day 1, 3, 7 and 10. The media of control cells was also changed at the same time points. After 14 days, media was collected and added to lamelli sample buffer (Bio-Rad) containing 5% 2-mercaptoethanol (Bio-Rad). Media samples were separated by SDS-PAGE and blotted onto a nitrocellulose membrane. Membranes were blocked with 5% non-fat milk 0.1% tween (Sigma, UK) prior to incubation with primary antibodies to elastin or β actin and detection with peroxidase labelled secondary antibodies (GE Healthcare,UK) and ECL plus (GE Healthcare,UK). Primary antibodies used were against Elastin (Santa-Cruz, raised in mouse at 1:500, dilution) and β -actin (Sigma, raised in mouse at 1:5000 dilution).). The pixel intensity from scanned images was measured using image J software (Image J, National Institutes of Health, USA) to give an estimate of the quantity of the protein present.

3.4 Results

Estrogen modulates skin tensile strength, stiffness and viscoelasticity

As both menopause and Ovx are associated with profound structural and mechanical remodelling of skin (Sumino et al., 2004, Bolognia et al., 1989, Fang et al., 2012, Tsukahara et al., 2004) we first assessed the effects of acute estrogen deprivation, and the protective effects of estrogen in the form of 17beta-estradiol supplementation, on the tensile strength and stiffness of skin. Strips of ventral skin were loaded to failure at a uniform extension rate (Figure 3.1A). Breaking stress (and therefore tensile strength) was significantly lower in Ovx mouse skin compared to control skin (41.5%). 17beta-estradiol replacement (Ovx+E) fully restored breaking stress to pre-Ovx levels (43.9% vs Ovx) (Figure 3.1B). Skin stiffness (measured as Young's modulus, which quantifies resistance to deformation) can be calculated from the linear portion of the stress/strain curve where the tissue behaves in a Hookean manner (Figure 3.1 A). Young's modulus was significantly reduced in Ovx mouse skin, compared with control (44.5%) and again restored in Ovx+E (39%) tissues (Figure 3.1C). Collectively, these data demonstrate that estrogen has major effects on both the tensile strength and stiffness of skin over an acute time period.

Biological tissues behave in a viscoelastic manner displaying complex mechanical properties. To provide additional insight into these characteristics we next assessed the stress relaxation properties of ventral skin from ovariectomised (Ovx) versus intact (Int) mice. Skin strips were preconditioned by cyclically pre-loading to 1N for 5 cycles in order to negate the Mullins effect (Munoz et al., 2008) (Figure 3.1D). Stress relaxation analysis revealed that skin from

ovariectomised mice relaxed (that is lost tension) more quickly than corresponding control (Int) skin (Figure 3.1E), quantified as a significant alteration in the non-liner regression one phase decay time constant tau (Figure 3.1 F) p< 0.05 n=6. Collectively, these data indicate acute estrogen deprivation has a major impact on the mechanical properties of skin leaving skin weaker and more easily deformed.



Figure 3.1 The mechanical properties of skin. (A) The tensile strength of the tissue is characterised by the strain (extension) at breaking, whilst the stiffness (Young's modulus) of a tissue can be the estimated from the linear section of the curve. (B) The tensile strength of skin was significantly reduced in estrogen deprived mice (Ovx). Estrogen supplementation following surgery (Ovx+E) was protective. (C) Similarly, skin stiffness was significantly reduced in Ovx animals compared with intact controls and this mechanical remodelling was absent in Ovx+E mice. (D) Strips of ventral skin 1cm wide were cyclically loaded to 1N 5 times then held at the final strain at 1N and allowed to relax The curves become increasingly repeatable the biggest changes occur in the 1st 2 cycles we allowed 5 preloading cycles to reduce this variation. (E)The Ovariectomised skin relaxes quicker than the intact control meaning it loses tension faster and is therefore less resistant to constant force (F) Calculation of the time constant (Tau) from the non-linear regression one phase decay showed a significant difference in the curves . Data shown Mean +/-SEM N=4-5 *p<0.05

Dermal collagen abundance, organisation and orientation are insensitive to acute estrogen deprivation

As chronic estrogen deprivation has been clearly linked to changes in both the mechanical behaviour of skin and collagen fibril ultrastructure and abundance (Brincat et al., 1987, Brincat et al., 1985, Sauerbronn et al., 2000) we next used histological approaches to quantify the area fractions of amorphous collagen and organised fibrillar collagen across experimental groups. Intriguingly, the mechanical remodelling observed following Ovx was not correlated with total collagen content as measured using Massons trichrome. This staining showed no alterations in collagen abundance between any of the groups (Figure 3.2A). However, this histological stain binds to collagen triple helices and hence is insensitive to collagen type or the organisation of fibrillar collagen monomers into mechanically robust fibrils and fibril bundles (Lapiere et al., 1977, Graham et al., 2010). A complimentary technique, PSR-enhanced collagen birefringence, can specifically detect collagen organised into aligned fibril bundles which in turn have been associated with local mechanical stiffening (McConnell et al., 2016). Estrogen deprivation in this study also had no effect on the abundance (Figure 3.2B) or orientation (Figure 3.2C) of organised collagen as measured by PSR-ECB. Thus acute (7 weeks) estrogen deprivation has no obvious effect on the collagen fibrils and they are therefore not directly correlated in abundance to tensile strength.



Figure 3.2 Dermal collagen. (A) Total collagen, as visualised by Massons trichrome stain, was unaffected by Ovx or Ovx+E treatment. (B) PSR-enhanced collagen birefringence under polarised light was also estrogen insensitive. (C) Using collagen birefringence it is possible to quantify fibre orientation (coherency). Regions of aligned fibres would appear as similar colours. There was no significant differences in alignment between control, Ovx and Ovx+E mouse skin. Data shown Mean +/-SEM N=5 Scale bar =60µm

Estrogen deficiency profoundly affects both elastic fibre abundance and fibrillin-1 expression in vivo

As the mechanical testing data clearly demonstrated a relationship between circulating estrogen and skin mechanical properties we next characterised the abundance of elastic fibres in mouse skin. Estrogen-mediated changes in the dermal elastic fibre network were characterised using the elastic fibre stain Gamori's aldehyde fuchsin (Figure 3.3A). Ovx induced a significant (34%) reduction in tissue area occupied by elastic fibres compared with intact controls. 17betaestradiol replacement fully protected against this loss of dermal elastic fibres (Figure 3.3A). The expression of the main micro fibrillar component of elastic fibres, fibrillin-1, was significantly reduced in the skin of Ovx (but not Ovx+E) mice (Figure 3.3B). By contrast expression of the major elastic fibre protein, elastin did not differ between experimental groups (Figure 3.3C). Thus far murine models have provided key insights into the effects of estrogen on skin biology, however it is important to look for cross-species conservation. Therefore we next characterised the effect of estrogen on the synthesis of elastic fibres and other ECM proteins by cultured human dermal fibroblasts.



Figure 3.3 Elastic fibre abundance and expression in vivo. (A) Gamori's aldehyde fuchsin staining for tissue elastic fibres elastic fibres. (Elastic fibre appear dark purple). Compared with fibrillar collagens, elastic fibres occupy a much smaller tissue volume (5-6%) in intact control skin. The % area of tissue occupied by elastic fibres was significantly lower in Ovx, not significantly different in Ovx+E animals. (B) Relative expression of fibrillin-1 and elastin in murine skin. Ovx significantly decreased fibrillin-1 gene expression. Ovx mice continued to express higher levels of FBN-1 mRNA. (C) There was no significant effect of either Ovx or Ovx+E on tropoelastin expression. Data shown Mean +/-SEM A N=10 B N=4 **P<0.01 ***P<0.01 **P<0.001 * P<0.05 scale bar = 50μm

Estrogen mediates the *in vitro* expression and synthesis of elastic fibre associated proteins by human dermal fibroblasts

To test cell-intrinsic effects of estrogen we moved to cultured primary human fibroblasts. Here treatment with 17beta-estradiol significantly upregulated expression of the key elastic fibre component fibrillin-1 within just 24 hours (Figure 3.4A). To investigate global changes in cell derived matrix proteins as a direct consequence of estrogen treatment we carried out mass spectrometry analysis of cell culture-derived matrix. This analysis reveals 14 matrix proteins were significantly altered by estrogen treatment highlighting the important role of estrogen in the dermal ECM. Four of these proteins (29%) were directly associated with elastic fibre deposition (EMILIN1, EMILIN2, FBN1 and FBLN2) (Figure 3.4B). One key elastic fibre component missing from this list is elastin. However, as elastin is highly crosslinked and extremely difficult to extract for mass spectrometry. We thus used an alternative technique, western blot, to detect the soluble precursor to mature elastin, tropoelastin (Figure 3.4C). Quantification of pixel intensity revealed a strong trend towards increased tropoelastin production following 17beta-estradiol treatment, however this failed to reach statistical significance (Figure 3.4D).



Figure 3.4 - Estrogen treatment induces key elastic fibre proteins in human cell culture

(A) qPCR analysis shows upregulation of fibrillin-1 by estrogen treatment in human dermal fibroblasts (B) Mass spec analysis of cell culture derived matrix revealed that 28% (4 of 14) of all the proteins we identified as significantly altered by estrogen treatment in our samples are proteins directly linked to elastic fibre synthesis shown here as by black bars

(C-D)Tropoelastin (the soluble precursor of mature elastin) is upregulated by estrogen treatment and detected in the cell culture media by western blot UT is untreated cells +E is estrogen treatment at 10^{-7} M (C) and quantified as pixel intensity(D) Data shown mean +/- SEM N=3 ** P<0.01

Loss of elastic fibres correlates with increased dermal gelatinase acitivity and adipocyte hypertrophy

Within tissues, ECM proteins are primarily degraded by either matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) or cathepsins (Lu et al., 2011). Specifically, elastin and/or fibrillin act as substrates for MMP-2, -3, -7-, -9, -10, -12, -13 and -14 and cathepsin G (Schmelzer et al., 2012, Chakraborti et al., 2003). The activity of both enzyme families is commonly assessed by gelatin zymography. Here we used an *in situ* gelatin zymography approach to both localise and quantify relative gelatinase acitivty in cryo-preserved murine skin sections (Mook et al., 2003). Digital quantification reveals that dermal gelatinase acitivity was raised three weeks post-Ovx (Figure 3.5A) however by the seven week timepoint this difference was lost (Data not shown) with 17beta-estradiol supplementation fully protecting against this increase in proteolytic activity (Figure 3.5A). Increased gelatinase activity in estrogen deprived dermis could be driven by dermal fibroblasts (Philips and Devaney, 2003) epidermal macrophage (Campbell et al., 2010) or hypodermal adjpocytes (Ezure and Amano, 2015). Given the known association between increased subcutaneous fat, adipokine-mediated local protease activity and elastic fibre remodelling we characterised the effects of Ovx and Ovx+E on hypodermal remodelling. Ovx induced a significant 237% increase in the depth of the hypodermis (Figure 3.5B) and increased adipocyte size (Figure 3.5C) which was inhibited by 17beta-estradiol supplementation. This considerable increase in adipose tissue could be a driver of the observed elastic fibre degradation in the Ovx group.


Figure 3.5 Ovariectomy significantly increases adipose tissue and collagenase activity.

(A) Following 3 weeks of ovariectomy we see an increase in collagenase activity in the dermis by in situ zymography Here breakdown of fluorescein-labelled gelatin by photolytic digestion leads to bight florescence seen here as increase in brightness. (B) Seven weeks of ovariectomy leads to a 237% increase in the depth of adipose tissue and an increase in the size of the individual adipocytes (C) Data mean +/-SEM N= 5 ****P<0.0001

3.5 Discussion

This study set out to explore the relationship between estrogen-mediated alterations in skin structure and changes in skin mechanical properties. Our data reveal that estrogen deprivation profoundly alters the mechanical properties of murine skin over an acute, seven week time period. In the same period we see a significant loss of elastic fibres yet little observable effect on fibrillar collagen. This rapid elastic fibre remodelling in estrogen-deprived tissue correlates with substantial adipocyte hypertrophy which likely drives an observed increase in gelatinase activity. In line with a direct effect of estrogen deprivation we find that 17beta-estradiol supplementation is able to induce key elastic fibre components in both murine tissue and human dermal fibroblasts.

The first major finding from our study is that the mechanical properties of murine skin dramatically alter following Ovx. Indeed, estrogen deficiency led to substantially reduced tensile strength and a higher susceptibility to deformation under load, measured as a decreased Young's modulus. That exogenous 17beta-estradiol replacement completely protected against these changes, confirms estrogen's important role in maintaining skin strength and elastic properties This study builds upon non-quantitative data from Tsukahara *et al* suggesting a loss of elastic recoil in Ovx mice by an observed prolonged skin tenting after pinching (Tsukahara *et al*., 2004). A longer term, 6 month, study in rats also reported an Ovx induced loss of tensile strength and corresponding loss of collagen (Polito et al., 2012). In the human setting Pierard *et al* report increased skin extensibility in the peri-menopausal period (Pierard et al., 1995) which corresponds to our reported reduced Young's modulus on Ovx mice. There is surprisingly little data available on the mechanics of post-menopausal skin, however studies of aged human skin are conflicting, reporting the Young's modulus to increase (Agache et al., 1980), decrease (Boyer et al., 2009) or remain unchanged (Pierard and Lapiere, 1977, Leveque et al., 1980). Here variations in methodology make comparison and interpretation of the literature difficult.

A general, non-skin specific, consensus is that age leads to tissue stiffening (higher young's modulus) (Sherratt, 2013) which is opposite to our findings in the Ovx model. The skin, like many biological tissues, is structurally complex displaying material properties that are viscoelastic with a nonlinear response (Fung, 1993). Viscoelastic materials combine the laws of both elastic materials which respond in a liner fashion, loosing little energy when deformed, and viscous materials which respond in a time-dependent manner to strain, with energy loss, and plastic deformation (Silver et al., 2001). Here we have employed stress relaxation as a simple measure to explore these time dependent aspects of mechanical behaviour. We find that ovariectomy alters the stress relaxation response, accelerating the rate at which skin relaxes versus the intact

control mice. These complex mechanical properties suggest the tissue is less able to withstand constant force and would therefore appear more lax.

Taken together, these mechanical findings suggest that estrogen deficiency leads to an acute remodelling of cutaneous ECM, however, in humans other age-related factors or compensatory mechanisms (e.g. direct protein-crosslinking, or accumulation of AGE) may play a dominant role in determining mechanical properties. The Ovx mouse phenotype does appear to model some aspects of aged human skin which becomes weaker and more lax (Calleja-Agius et al., 2007) suggesting that age associated estrogen deficiency, may be a key contributor of age associated alterations in mechanical function of skin. However, in addition to estrogen deficiency aged human skin experiences a lifetime of UV exposure. UV dramatically alters the mechanical properties leading to stiffened tissues and disordered elastic fibre proteins (Alpermann and Vogel, 1978, Watson et al., 1999). Importantly, here skin becomes an accessible model tissue to explore estrogen related changes that are almost certainly common to other tissues in the body without the compounding UV associated contribution which is unique to human skin (Castelo-Branco et al., 1994, Castanedo-Cazares and Rodriguez-Leyva, 2015). Indeed, parallel changes in the mechanical properties of tissues such as the cardiovascular and respiratory systems will have very serious health consequences (Janssens et al., 1999, Lakatta and Levy, 2003, Graham et al., 2011).

At the molecular level a number of human studies have attributed age-associated changes in the appearance of skin, at least in part to a loss of fibrillar collagen (Calleja-Agius et al., 2007, El-Domyati et al., 2002, Verdier-Sevrain et al., 2006), with inferred effects on tensile strength (Oxlund, 1986). We therefore predicted altered abundance and/or orientation of dermal collagen fibrils in our Ovx mouse model. In fact, collagen remained unchanged after 7 weeks of Ovx, and we instead observed a major reduction in the dermal elastic fibre network, accompanied by reduced gene expression of the key elastic fibre component *fibrillin-1*. The rapidity of this loss was particularly surprising, challenging the long standing view that elastic fibres are subject to very little turnover (Ashcroft et al., 1997, Sherratt, 2009, Davidson et al., 1986). We note that in an ovine model, ovariectomised for a much longer period of 2 years, alterations in dermal collagen have been reported (Fang et al., 2012). However, our data now suggest that elastic fibres are highly susceptible to rapid remodelling. Indeed, elastic fibre alterations are prime candidates for mediating the major changes in skin mechanical properties observed in our model. Extrapolation to human would suggest that elastic fibres will be particularly important in early skin changes following menopause.

The mechanism(s) by which elastic fibres are remodelled in acute estrogen deprivation remain to be elucidated. There are potential anabolic or catabolic mechanisms, and the process is likely to be multifactorial with a balance between degradation and synthesis. A recent study by Ezure et al draws a clear link between BMI and elastic fibre degradation, with dermal elastic fibres decreased in females with high BMI (Ezure and Amano, 2015). To test this association as a potential mechanism for estrogen effects we quantified sub-cutaneous fat in our Ovx mice. Interestingly, adiposity was notably increased in Ovx skin. This would suggest adipocyte mediated gelatinase production as a likely contributing factor in the Ovx elastic fibre degradation. To test this further we measured local gelatinase levels in tissue from an earlier time point (3 weeks post Ovx). We observed strongly induced gelatinase activity, which with a wide range of protein targets (Chakraborti et al., 2003) implies a more catabolic environment early following estrogen deprivation. An alternative mechanism at play may be oxidative damage, as hypertrophic adipocytes have been positively correlated with increased oxidative stress (Matsumoto et al., 2014). Watson et al. (2014) suggest that the unusually high level of cysteine and methionine residues in fibrillin-1 microfibrils increase susceptibility to oxidative damage (Watson et al., 2014). Further, Hibbert et al. (2015) propose a sacrificial role to protect other oxidative damage-sensitive proteins (Hibbert et al., 2015). Estrogen is itself known to have anti-oxidative properties both directly and via induction of antioxidant enzymes (Emmerson and Hardman, 2012), so it is perhaps unsurprising that we see such improvements in the presence of estrogen in our study and this may indeed be a newly identified role for estrogen as an antioxidant. Another key consideration is the natural hair cycling which also has dramatic effects on the dermal adipose. The growth phase, known as anagen, leads to a large increase in both number and size of the adipocytes in the skin (Rivera-Gonzalez et al., 2014). For this study the influence of hair cycling was limited as much as practical by ensuring the mice were in the same hair cycle stage at the beginning of the experimental period and excluding data from animals in anagen at the time of collection. Additionally however the problem is exacerbated by the link between hair cycle and estrogen signalling, with ovariectomy known to induce anagen (Chanda, 2000) it is therefore likely these animals may have entered an additional round of hair cycling with the associated increase in adipose tissue which may have further exacerbated adipose linked elastic fibre degradation.

Our *in vivo* data are also consistent with estrogen directly inducing synthesis of new elastic fibres. This scenario clearly challenges the current dogma that elastic fibres are only laid down during development (Reviewed in Sherratt, 2009). To test this observation we used mass spectrometry to quantitatively analyse the *in vitro* deposited matrix from isolated human dermal fibroblasts directly treated with 17beta-estradiol. We found numerous ECM proteins

were directly induced or repressed following, estrogen treatment, with four identified proteins directly linked to elastic fibre deposition. Fibrillin-1 provides the initial scaffold onto which the elastin localises as the elastic fibre builds (Kielty et al., 2002). The protein, EMILIN-1, directly localises to the microfibril-elastin interface and has been suggested to play important roles in the regulating the deposition of tropoelastin onto the the microfibril scaffold (Bressan et al., 1993). Also induced is EMILIN-2 a less well-characterised family member which shares 70% similarity to EMILIN-1 (Doliana et al., 2001). Intriguingly, EMILIN-1 and EMILIN-2 can interact in a head to tail arrangement to form larger assemblies (Bot et al., 2015). Thus, co-ordinate induction of both family members by estrogen may be important in the context of elastic fibre assembly. Fibulin-2 is also found at the elastin microfibril interface and in skin is found to co-localise with fibrillin-1 (Reinhardt et al., 1996) suggesting this is also an important protein in the synthesis of mature elastic fibres. Up-regulation of these key proteins involved in the assembly of elastic fibres provides strong evidence that 17beta-estradiol treatment could lead to the formation of new elastic fibres.

Since high levels of crosslinking preclude extraction of the core elastic fibre protein elastin for MS analysis, we instead measured production of the soluble precursor tropoelastin in cell culture media by western blot. Tropoelastin was also strongly upregulated in human dermal fibroblast following 17beta-estradiol treatment, thus further confirming the role of estrogen in elastic fibre remodelling. Taken together, our data strongly suggest that estrogen acts as a potent inducer of cutaneous elastic fibre synthesis in both mouse and human. These data are supported by other human studies reporting increased mRNA for both fibrillin-1 and tropoelastin (Son et al., 2005) or an increase in total elastic fibres (Punnonen et al., 1987) following topical estrogen treatment.

In addition to their role in skin, elastic fibres are critical for normal function of many tissues including both the respiratory and cardiovascular systems. In these tissues rapid loss of elastic fibres following menopause would contribute to serious health issues in post-menopausal women. It is therefore likely that compensatory mechanisms may be at play in postmenopausal women. It is understood that ERs can signal in a ligand independent manner via growth factors such as IGF (Heldring et al., 2007, Emmerson et al., 2012, Aronica and Katzenellenbogen, 1993). This ligand independent signalling may become more prevalent in the postmenopausal period as estrogen itself declines. Indeed, a more detailed understanding of estrogen's dramatic effects on the elastic fibre system is essential to develop new pharmacological interventions based on the manipulation of ER signalling. The therapeutic use of estrogen has been controversial, since the Million Women and Women's Health Initiative studies drew links between HRT and certain cancers over 10 years ago (Banks et al., 2003, Beral et al., 2007), However, the skin offers a

unique opportunity for topical estrogen treatment, avoiding potential systemic side effects. Studies are now needed to determine the relative role of the estrogen receptors, ER α and ER β . Indeed, in the context of cutaneous wound repair we have previously demonstrated the therapeutic benefit of ER β selective activation (Hardman et al., 2008, Campbell et al., 2010, Emmerson et al., 2009). Further studies investigating the effect of selective estrogen signalling on tissue structure and mechanical properties should in the future allow a more targeted approach to treat a range of diseases caused by menopause-associated tissue dysfunction.

Overall we have demonstrated acute estrogen deprivation leads to severe alterations to the mechanical properties of the skin leaving it both weaker and more lax. There is a dramatic reduction in the volume of elastic fibres correlated with significant subcutaneous adipose hypertrophy and increased gelatinase activity. Additionally we have demonstrated human dermal fibroblasts to be highly responsive to estrogen treatment up-regulating a number of ECM proteins especially those related to elastic fibre formation. Summarised in figure 6



Figure 3.6 Schematic representation of skin following estrogen deprivation and estrogen replacement. Estrogen deprivation leads to an increase in subcutanous adipose tissue and MMP activity causing degradation of elastic fibres along with suppression of normal fibrillin expression. Estrogen treatment leads to upregulation of expression of fibrillin and elastin in fibroblasts.

3.6 References

- AGACHE, P. G., MONNEUR, C., LEVEQUE, J. L. & DERIGAL, J. 1980. Mechanical-Properties and Youngs Modulus of Human-Skin Invivo. *Arch Dermatol Res*, 269, 221-232.
- AKHTAR, R., CRUICKSHANK, J. K., ZHAO, X., WALTON, L. A., GARDINER, N. J., BARRETT, S. D., GRAHAM, H. K., DERBY, B. & SHERRATT, M. J. 2014. Localized micro- and nano-scale remodelling in the diabetic aorta. *Acta Biomater*, 10, 4843-51.
- ALPERMANN, H. & VOGEL, H. G. 1978. Effect of repeated ultraviolet irradiation on skin of hairless mice. *Arch Dermatol Res*, 262, 15-25.
- ARONICA, S. M. & KATZENELLENBOGEN, B. S. 1993. Stimulation of estrogen receptor-mediated transcription and alteration in the phosphorylation state of the rat uterine estrogen receptor by estrogen, cyclic adenosine monophosphate, and insulin-like growth factor-I. *Mol Endocrinol*, 7, 743-52.
- ASHCROFT, G. S., KIELTY, C. M., HORAN, M. A. & FERGUSON, M. W. 1997. Age-related changes in the temporal and spatial distributions of fibrillin and elastin mRNAs and proteins in acute cutaneous wounds of healthy humans. *J Pathol*, 183, 80-9.
- BAEZA, I., FDEZ-TRESGUERRES, J., ARIZNAVARRETA, C. & DE LA FUENTE, M. 2010. Effects of growth hormone, melatonin, oestrogens and phytoestrogens on the oxidized glutathione (GSSG)/reduced glutathione (GSH) ratio and lipid peroxidation in aged ovariectomized rats. *Biogerontology*, **11**, 687-701.
- BANKS, E., BERAL, V., BULL, D., REEVES, G., AUSTOKER, J., ENGLISH, R., PATNICK, J., PETO, R., VESSEY, M., WALLIS, M., ABBOTT, S., BAILEY, E., BAKER, K., BALKWILL, A., BARNES, I., BLACK, J., BROWN, A., CAMERON, B., CANFELL, K., CLIFF, A., CROSSLEY, B., COUTO, E., DAVIES, S., EWART, D., EWART, S., FORD, D., GERRARD, L., GOODILL, A., GREEN, J., GRAY, W., HILTON, E., HOGG, A., HOOLEY, J., HURST, A., KAN, S. W., KEENE, C., LANGSTON, N., RODDAM, A., SAUNDERS, P., SHERMAN, E., SIMMONDS, M., SPENCER, E., STRANGE, H., TIMADJER, A. & MILLION WOMEN STUDY, C. 2003. Breast cancer and hormone-replacement therapy in the Million Women Study. *Lancet*, 362, 419-427.
- BARANOSKI, S. 2000. Skin tears: the enemy of frail skin. Adv Skin Wound Care, 13, 123-6.
- BERAL, V., BULL, D., GREEN, J. & REEVES, G. 2007. Ovarian cancer and hormone replacement therapy in the Million Women Study. *Lancet*, 369, 1703-10.
- BOLOGNIA, J. L., BRAVERMAN, I. M., ROUSSEAU, M. E. & SARREL, P. M. 1989. Skin changes in menopause. *Maturitas*, 11, 295-304.
- BOT, S., ANDREUZZI, E., CAPUANO, A., SCHIAVINATO, A., COLOMBATTI, A. & DOLIANA, R. 2015. Multiple-interactions among EMILIN1 and EMILIN2 N- and C-terminal domains. *Matrix Biol*, 41, 44-55.
- BOTTAI, G., MANCINA, R., MURATORI, M., DI GENNARO, P. & LOTTI, T. 2013. 17beta-estradiol protects human skin fibroblasts and keratinocytes against oxidative damage. *J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol*, 27, 1236-43.
- BOYER, G., LAQUIEZE, L., LE BOT, A., LAQUIEZE, S. & ZAHOUANI, H. 2009. Dynamic indentation on human skin in vivo: ageing effects. *Skin Res Technol*, 15, 55-67.
- BRESSAN, G. M., DAGA-GORDINI, D., COLOMBATTI, A., CASTELLANI, I., MARIGO, V. & VOLPIN, D. 1993. Emilin, a component of elastic fibers preferentially located at the elastinmicrofibrils interface. *J Cell Biol*, 121, 201-12.
- BRINCAT, M., MONIZ, C. J., STUDD, J. W., DARBY, A., MAGOS, A., EMBUREY, G. & VERSI, E. 1985. Long-term effects of the menopause and sex hormones on skin thickness. *Br J Obstet Gynaecol*, 92, 256-9.
- BRINCAT, M., VERSI, E., MONIZ, C. F., MAGOS, A., DE TRAFFORD, J. & STUDD, J. W. 1987. Skin collagen changes in postmenopausal women receiving different regimens of estrogen therapy. *Obstet Gynecol*, 70, 123-7.
- CALLEJA-AGIUS, J., MUSCAT-BARON, Y. & BRINCAT, M. P. 2007. Skin ageing. *Menopause Int*, 13, 60-4.
- CAMPBELL, L., EMMERSON, E., DAVIES, F., GILLIVER, S. C., KRUST, A., CHAMBON, P., ASHCROFT, G. S. & HARDMAN, M. J. 2010. Estrogen promotes cutaneous wound healing via

estrogen receptor beta independent of its antiinflammatory activities. *J Exp Med*, 207, 1825-33.

CASTANEDO-CAZARES, J. P. & RODRIGUEZ-LEYVA, I. 2015. Skin biomarkers for neurodegenerative disease: a future perspective. *Neurodegener Dis Manag*.

- CASTELO-BRANCO, C., PONS, F., GRATACOS, E., FORTUNY, A., VANRELL, J. A. & GONZALEZ-MERLO, J. 1994. Relationship between skin collagen and bone changes during aging. *Maturitas*, 18, 199-206.
- CAVASIN, M. A., SANKEY, S. S., YU, A. L., MENON, S. & YANG, X. P. 2003. Estrogen and testosterone have opposing effects on chronic cardiac remodeling and function in mice with myocardial infarction. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol*, 284, H1560-9.
- CHAKRABORTI, S., MANDAL, M., DAS, S., MANDAL, A. & CHAKRABORTI, T. 2003. Regulation of matrix metalloproteinases: an overview. *Mol Cell Biochem*, 253, 269-85.
- CHANDA, S., ROBINETTE, C.L., COUSE, J. F., SMART, R. C. 2000 17β-estradiol and ICI-182780 regulate the hair follicle cycle in mice through an estrogen receptor-α pathway. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* 278 E202–E210
- COOPER, N. H., BALACHANDRA, J. P. & HARDMAN, M. J. 2015. Global Gene Expression Analysis in PKCalpha-/- Mouse Skin Reveals Structural Changes in the Dermis and Defective Wound Granulation Tissue. *J Invest Dermatol*, 135, 3173-82.
- DAVIDSON, J. M., HILL, K. E. & ALFORD, J. L. 1986. Developmental changes in collagen and elastin biosynthesis in the porcine aorta. *Dev Biol*, 118, 103-11.
- DOLIANA, R., BOT, S., MUNGIGUERRA, G., CANTON, A., CILLI, S. P. & COLOMBATTI, A. 2001. Isolation and characterization of EMILIN-2, a new component of the growing EMILINs family and a member of the EMI domain-containing superfamily. *J Biol Chem*, 276, 12003-11.
- EL-DOMYATI, M., ATTIA, S., SALEH, F., BROWN, D., BIRK, D. E., GASPARRO, F., AHMAD, H. & UITTO, J. 2002. Intrinsic aging vs. photoaging: a comparative histopathological, immunohistochemical, and ultrastructural study of skin. *Exp Dermatol*, **11**, 398-405.
- EMMERSON, E., CAMPBELL, L., ASHCROFT, G. S. & HARDMAN, M. J. 2009. Unique and synergistic roles for 17beta-estradiol and macrophage migration inhibitory factor during cutaneous wound closure are cell type specific. *Endocrinology*, 150, 2749-57.
- EMMERSON, E., CAMPBELL, L., DAVIES, F. C., ROSS, N. L., ASHCROFT, G. S., KRUST, A., CHAMBON, P. & HARDMAN, M. J. 2012. Insulin-like growth factor-1 promotes wound healing in estrogen-deprived mice: new insights into cutaneous IGF-1R/ERalpha cross talk. J Invest Dermatol, 132, 2838-48.
- EMMERSON, E. & HARDMAN, M. J. 2012. The role of estrogen deficiency in skin ageing and wound healing. *Biogerontology*, 13, 3-20.
- ESCOFFIER, C., DE RIGAL, J., ROCHEFORT, A., VASSELET, R., LEVEQUE, J. L. & AGACHE, P. G. 1989. Age-related mechanical properties of human skin: an in vivo study. *J Invest Dermatol*, 93, 353-7.
- EZURE, T. & AMANO, S. 2015a. Increment of subcutaneous adipose tissue is associated with decrease of elastic fibres in the dermal layer. *Exp Dermatol*, 24, 924-9.
- FANG, M., LIROFF, K. G., TURNER, A. S., LES, C. M., ORR, B. G. & HOLL, M. M. 2012. Estrogen depletion results in nanoscale morphology changes in dermal collagen. *J Invest Dermatol*, 132, 1791-7.
- FARAGE, M. A., MILLER, K. W., BERARDESCA, E. & MAIBACH, H. I. 2009. Clinical implications of aging skin: cutaneous disorders in the elderly. *Am J Clin Dermatol*, 10, 73-86.

FUNG, Y. 1993. Biomechanics: Mechanical properties of living tissues New York, Springer-Verlag.

GIBSON, M. A., KUMARATILAKE, J. S. & CLEARY, E. G. 1989. The protein components of the 12nanometer microfibrils of elastic and nonelastic tissues. *J Biol Chem*, 264, 4590-8.

 GLASSBERG, M. K., CHOI, R., MANZOLI, V., SHAHZEIDI, S., RAUSCHKOLB, P., VOSWINCKEL, R., ALINIAZEE, M., XIA, X. & ELLIOT, S. J. 2014. 17beta-estradiol replacement reverses agerelated lung disease in estrogen-deficient C57BL/6J mice. *Endocrinology*, 155, 441-8.
 GOMORI, G. 1950. Aldehyde-fuchsin: a new stain for elastic tissue. *Am J Clin Pathol*, 20, 665-6.

- GRAHAM, H. K., AKHTAR, R., KRIDIOTIS, C., DERBY, B., KUNDU, T., TRAFFORD, A. W. & SHERRATT, M. J. 2011. Localised micro-mechanical stiffening in the ageing aorta. *Mech Ageing Dev*, 132, 459-67.
- GRAHAM, H. K., HODSON, N. W., HOYLAND, J. A., MILLWARD-SADLER, S. J., GARROD, D.,
 SCOTHERN, A., GRIFFITHS, C. E., WATSON, R. E., COX, T. R., ERLER, J. T., TRAFFORD, A. W.
 & SHERRATT, M. J. 2010. Tissue section AFM: In situ ultrastructural imaging of native biomolecules. *Matrix Biol*, 29, 254-60.
- HARDMAN, M. J., EMMERSON, E., CAMPBELL, L. & ASHCROFT, G. S. 2008. Selective estrogen receptor modulators accelerate cutaneous wound healing in ovariectomized female mice. *Endocrinology*, 149, 551-7.
- HE, Y. X., ZHANG, G., PAN, X. H., LIU, Z., ZHENG, L. Z., CHAN, C. W., LEE, K. M., CAO, Y. P., LI, G.,
 WEI, L., HUNG, L. K., LEUNG, K. S. & QIN, L. 2011. Impaired bone healing pattern in mice
 with ovariectomy-induced osteoporosis: A drill-hole defect model. *Bone*, 48, 1388-400.
- HELDRING, N., PIKE, A., ANDERSSON, S., MATTHEWS, J., CHENG, G., HARTMAN, J., TUJAGUE, M., STROM, A., TREUTER, E., WARNER, M. & GUSTAFSSON, J. A. 2007. Estrogen receptors: how do they signal and what are their targets. *Physiol Rev*, 87, 905-31.
- HIBBERT, S. A., WATSON, R. E., GIBBS, N. K., COSTELLO, P., BALDOCK, C., WEISS, A. S., GRIFFITHS,
 C. E. & SHERRATT, M. J. 2015. A potential role for endogenous proteins as sacrificial sunscreens and antioxidants in human tissues. *Redox Biol*, 5, 101-13.
- HUANG, Y. H. & ZHANG, Q. H. 2010. Genistein reduced the neural apoptosis in the brain of ovariectomised rats by modulating mitochondrial oxidative stress. *Br J Nutr*, 104, 1297-303.
- INGBERG, E., THEODORSSON, A., THOEDORSSON, E.STROM, J.O. 2012 Methods fro long-term 17β-estradiol administation to mice *Gen Comp Endocrinol* 175 188-93
- JANSSENS, J. P., PACHE, J. C. & NICOD, L. P. 1999. Physiological changes in respiratory function associated with ageing. *Eur Respir J*, 13, 197-205.
- JUST, M., RIBERA, M., MONSO, E., LORENZO, J. C. & FERRANDIZ, C. 2007. Effect of smoking on skin elastic fibres: morphometric and immunohistochemical analysis. *Br J Dermatol*, 156, 85-91.
- KIELTY, C. M., SHERRATT, M. J. & SHUTTLEWORTH, C. A. 2002. Elastic fibres. *J Cell Sci*, 115, 2817-28.
- KIM, Y. T., PARK, J. C., CHOI, S. H., CHO, K. S., IM, G. I., KIM, B. S. & KIM, C. S. 2012. The dynamic healing profile of human periodontal ligament stem cells: histological and immunohistochemical analysis using an ectopic transplantation model. *Journal of Periodontal Research*, 47, 514-524.
- LAKATTA, E. G. & LEVY, D. 2003. Arterial and cardiac aging: major shareholders in cardiovascular disease enterprises: Part I: aging arteries: a "set up" for vascular disease. *Circulation*, 107, 139-46.
- LAPIERE, C. M., NUSGENS, B. & PIERARD, G. E. 1977. Interaction between collagen type I and type III in conditioning bundles organization. *Connect Tissue Res*, **5**, **2**1-9.
- LEVEQUE, J. L., DE RIGAL, J., AGACHE, P. G. & MONNEUR, C. 1980. Influence of ageing on the in vivo extensibility of human skin at a low stress. *Arch Dermatol Res*, 269, 127-35.
- LU, P., TAKAI, K., WEAVER, V. M. & WERB, Z. 2011. Extracellular matrix degradation and remodeling in development and disease. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol*, 3.
- MATSUMOTO, M., IBUKI, A., MINEMATSU, T., SUGAMA, J., HORII, M., OGAI, K., NISHIZAWA, T., DAI, M., SATO, A., FUJIMOTO, Y., OKUWA, M., NAKAGAMI, G., NAKATANI, T. & SANADA, H. 2014. Structural changes in dermal collagen and oxidative stress levels in the skin of Japanese overweight males. *Int J Cosmet Sci*, 36, 477-84.
- MCCONNELL, J. C., O'CONNELL, O. V., BRENNAN, K., WEIPING, L., HOWE, M., JOSEPH, L., KNIGHT, D., O'CUALAIN, R., LIM, Y., LEEK, A., WADDINGTON, R., ROGAN, J., ASTLEY, S. M., GANDHI, A., KIRWAN, C. C., SHERRATT, M. J. & STREULI, C. H. 2016. Increased peri-ductal collagen micro-organization may contribute to raised mammographic density. *Breast Cancer Res*, 18, 5.

- MOOK, O. R. F., VAN OVERBEEK, C., ACKEMA, E. G., VAN MALDEGEM, F. & FREDERIKS, W. M. 2003. In situ localization of gelatinolytic activity in the extracellular matrix of metastases of colon cancer in rat liver using quenched fluorogenic DQ-gelatin. *Journal of Histochemistry & Cytochemistry*, 51, 821-829.
- MOST, W., SCHOT, L., EDERVEEN, A., VAN DER WEE-PALS, L., PAPAPOULOS, S. & LOWIK, C. 1995. In vitro and ex vivo evidence that estrogens suppress increased bone resorption induced by ovariectomy or PTH stimulation through an effect on osteoclastogenesis. *J Bone Miner Res*, 10, 1523-30.
- MUNOZ, M. J., BEA, J. A., RODRIGUEZ, J. F., OCHOA, I., GRASA, J., PEREZ DEL PALOMAR, A., ZARAGOZA, P., OSTA, R. & DOBLARE, M. 2008. An experimental study of the mouse skin behaviour: damage and inelastic aspects. *J Biomech*, 41, 93-9.
- NAYLOR, E. C., WATSON, R. E. & SHERRATT, M. J. 2011. Molecular aspects of skin ageing. *Maturitas*, 69, 249-56.
- OSMAN, O. S., SELWAY, J. L., HARIKUMAR, P. E., STOCKER, C. J., WARGENT, E. T., CAWTHORNE, M. A., JASSIM, S. & LANGLANDS, K. 2013. A novel method to assess collagen architecture in skin. *BMC Bioinformatics*, 14, 260.
- OXLUND, H. 1986. Relationships between the biomechanical properties, composition and molecular structure of connective tissues. *Connect Tissue Res*, 15, 65-72.
- PHILIPS, N. & DEVANEY, J. 2003. Beneficial regulation of type I collagen and matrixmetalloproteinase-1 expression by estrogen, progesterone, and its combination in skin fibroblasts. *Journal of the American Aging Association*, 26, 59-62.
- PIERARD, G. E. & LAPIERE, C. M. 1977. Physiopathological Variations in Mechanical-Properties of Skin. *Arch Dermatol Res*, 260, 231-239.
- PIERARD, G. E., LETAWE, C., DOWLATI, A. & PIERARD-FRANCHIMONT, C. 1995. Effect of hormone replacement therapy for menopause on the mechanical properties of skin. *J Am Geriatr Soc*, 43, 662-5.
- POLITO, F., MARINI, H., BITTO, A., IRRERA, N., VACCARO, M., ADAMO, E. B., MICALI, A., SQUADRITO, F., MINUTOLI, L. & ALTAVILLA, D. 2012. Genistein aglycone, a soy-derived isoflavone, improves skin changes induced by ovariectomy in rats. *Br J Pharmacol*, 165, 994-1005.
- PUNNONEN, R., VAAJALAHTI, P. & TEISALA, K. 1987. Local oestriol treatment improves the structure of elastic fibers in the skin of postmenopausal women. *Ann Chir Gynaecol Suppl*, 202, 39-41.
- RAMIREZ, F. & RIFKIN, D. B. 2009. Extracellular microfibrils: contextual platforms for TGFbeta and BMP signaling. *Curr Opin Cell Biol*, 21, 616-22.
- REINHARDT, D. P., SASAKI, T., DZAMBA, B. J., KEENE, D. R., CHU, M. L., GOHRING, W., TIMPL, R. & SAKAI, L. Y. 1996. Fibrillin-1 and fibulin-2 interact and are colocalized in some tissues. *J Biol Chem*, 271, 19489-96.
- REZAKHANIHA, R., AGIANNIOTIS, A., SCHRAUWEN, J. T., GRIFFA, A., SAGE, D., BOUTEN, C. V., VAN DE VOSSE, F. N., UNSER, M. & STERGIOPULOS, N. 2012. Experimental investigation of collagen waviness and orientation in the arterial adventitia using confocal laser scanning microscopy. *Biomech Model Mechanobiol*, 11, 461-73.
- RIVERA-GONZALEZ, G., SHOOK, B., HORSLEY. V. 2014 Adiocytes in health and disease CSH perspec in med
- SAUERBRONN, A. V., FONSECA, A. M., BAGNOLI, V. R., SALDIVA, P. H. & PINOTTI, J. A. 2000. The effects of systemic hormonal replacement therapy on the skin of postmenopausal women. *Int J Gynaecol Obstet*, 68, 35-41.
- SCHMELZER, C. E., JUNG, M. C., WOHLRAB, J., NEUBERT, R. H. & HEINZ, A. 2012. Does human leukocyte elastase degrade intact skin elastin? *FEBS J*, 279, 4191-200.
- SHERRATT, M. J. 2009. Tissue elasticity and the ageing elastic fibre. Age (Dordr), 31, 305-25.
- SHERRATT, M. J. 2013. Age-Related Tissue Stiffening: Cause and Effect. Adv Wound Care (New Rochelle), 2, 11-17.

- SILVER, F. H., FREEMAN, J. W. & DEVORE, D. 2001. Viscoelastic properties of human skin and processed dermis. *Skin Res Technol*, **7**, 18-23.
- SON, E. D., LEE, J. Y., LEE, S., KIM, M. S., LEE, B. G., CHANG, I. S. & CHUNG, J. H. 2005. Topical application of 17beta-estradiol increases extracellular matrix protein synthesis by stimulating tgf-Beta signaling in aged human skin in vivo. J Invest Dermatol, 124, 1149-61.
- SUMINO, H., ICHIKAWA, S., ABE, M., ENDO, Y., ISHIKAWA, O. & KURABAYASHI, M. 2004. Effects of aging, menopause, and hormone replacement therapy on forearm skin elasticity in women. *J Am Geriatr Soc*, 52, 945-9.
- THURSTAN, S. A., GIBBS, N. K., LANGTON, A. K., GRIFFITHS, C. E., WATSON, R. E. & SHERRATT, M. J. 2012. Chemical consequences of cutaneous photoageing. *Chem Cent J*, 6, 34.
- TSUKAHARA, K., MORIWAKI, S., OHUCHI, A., FUJIMURA, T. & TAKEMA, Y. 2001. Ovariectomy accelerates photoaging of rat skin. *Photochem Photobiol*, 73, 525-31.
- TSUKAHARA, K., NAKAGAWA, H., MORIWAKI, S., KAKUO, S., OHUCHI, A., TAKEMA, Y. & IMOKAWA, G. 2004. Ovariectomy is sufficient to accelerate spontaneous skin ageing and to stimulate ultraviolet irradiation-induced photoageing of murine skin. *Br J Dermatol*, 151, 984-94.
- TUTINO, V. M., MANDELBAUM, M., TAKAHASHI, A., POPE, L. C., SIDDIQUI, A., KOLEGA, J. & MENG, H. 2015. Hypertension and Estrogen Deficiency Augment Aneurysmal Remodeling in the Rabbit Circle of Willis in Response to Carotid Ligation. *Anat Rec* (Hoboken), 298, 1903-10.
- VERDIER-SEVRAIN, S., BONTE, F. & GILCHREST, B. 2006. Biology of estrogens in skin: implications for skin aging. *Exp Dermatol*, 15, 83-94.
- WATSON, R. E., GIBBS, N. K., GRIFFITHS, C. E. & SHERRATT, M. J. 2014. Damage to skin extracellular matrix induced by UV exposure. *Antioxid Redox Signal*, 21, 1063-77.
- WATSON, R. E., GRIFFITHS, C. E., CRAVEN, N. M., SHUTTLEWORTH, C. A. & KIELTY, C. M. 1999. Fibrillin-rich microfibrils are reduced in photoaged skin. Distribution at the dermalepidermal junction. *J Invest Dermatol*, 112, 782-7.
- ZHAO, Q., SHEN,X., ZHANG, W.,ZHU, G., QI, J., DENG. L. 2012. Mice with increased angiogenesis and osteogenesis due to conditional activation of HIF pathway in osteoblasts are protected from ovariectomy induced bone loss. *Bone*, 50 763-770

Chapter 4 Results

"A combined mechanical and proteomic study of estrogendeficiency as a model of skin ageing"

Contributions: CS was involved in experimental design and carried out experiments analysed results and prepared manuscript JS carried out mass spectrometry DH was involved in methodology for mechanical testing BD was involved in mechanical testing experimental design EE involved in manuscript preparation MH and MS were involved in experimental design and manuscript preparation.

Prepared for submission to: Disease models and mechanisms

4 A combined mechanical and proteomic study of estrogendeficiency as a model of skin ageing

Charis R Saville^{1,} Joe Swift², David Holmes², Elaine Emmerson⁴, Brian Derby³, Michael J Sherratt^{1*}, Matthew J Hardman^{2*,}

¹Faculty of Medical and Human Sciences, The University of Manchester ² Faculty of Life Sciences, The University of Manchester ³ School of Materials, The University of Manchester

*These authors contributed equally

4.1 Abstract

Age related changes in tissue mechanical properties can have serious health consequences leading to a loss of function. Crucial for this study is the observation that the dramatic reduction in estrogen at time of menopause leads to a rapid increase in the signs of skin ageing. Using the ovariectomised mouse and chronologically aged mouse we have studied both the mechanical properties and proteome of the skin to assess if estrogen deprivation is a key driver of ageing.

We find that age and estrogen deprivation affects skin mechanical properties in contrasting ways, with age leading to tissue with increasing tensile strength and stiffness and estrogen deprivation causing a reduction in tensile strength and stiffness. However these two states have similar effects on dermal proteome, showing a trend towards a general loss of proteins with the exception of fibrillar collagen. Additionally we find that estrogen deprivation has more dramatic effects on the proteome than ageing, leading to statistically significant alterations in a number of proteins, particularly elastic fibre related proteins. Intriguingly these results suggest that the proteomic composition of the dermis does not directly affect the mechanical function.

4.2 Introduction

As the average age of the population increases it is becoming increasingly important to understand how ageing affects tissue structure. In general, ageing is associated with tissue atrophy (Fenske and Lober, 1986), chronic low level inflammation (Franceschi and Campisi, 2014) and loss of normal function. In humans, intrinsically aged (i.e. UV radiation-protected) skin is characterised by flattening of the dermal epidermal junction, thinning of the epidermis and loss of ECM proteins from the dermis. This dermal remodelling may be due to: i) an imbalance of normal homeostatic processes (which in turn may be caused by loss of dermal fibroblasts (Fenske and Lober, 1986) and/or the promotion of a catabolic phenotype (Varani et al., 2000)) or ii) the accumulation of damage by structural ECM proteins (Sherratt, 2009). In contrast to intracellular proteins which are rapidly recycled, and protected by antioxidant and damage detection mechanisms, many ECM proteins must function for decades in proteolytic environments (Shapiro et al., 1991, Sherratt, 2009).

Remodelling of the dermal ECM is thought to drive alterations in the mechanical properties of skin (Daly and Odland, 1979), including increased stiffness and reduced resilience and tensile strength. As a consequence aged skin is more fragile and susceptible to wounding, which in addition to other compounding age associated factors leads to a much higher incidence of chronic wounds in the elderly (Sgonc and Gruber, 2013, Sen et al., 2009) incurring a healthcare burden of up to £5.1bn annually in the United Kingdom (Guest et al., 2015). In addition to the need to understand and prevent skin ageing this organ may also serve as a model for age-related remodelling of other human ECM rich tissues such as the arteries and lungs (Sherratt, 2009, Akhtar et al., 2011).

The causative mechanisms of dermal remodelling in skin include accumulation of damage to both DNA and proteins via exposure to external factors, such as ultraviolet radiation (UVR) which in turn can generate reactive oxygen species (ROS) (Scharffetter-Kochanek et al., 1997). Although many anatomical skin sites are, in general, UV protected, these regions will be exposed to endogenous factors such as ROS generated through aerobic metabolism (Cooke et al., 2003) and to the dysregulation of cell-mediated proteolysis (via the expression of matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) (Haorah et al., 2007, Pimienta and Pascual, 2007) and their inhibitors (TIMPS)(West et al., 1989)). These latter pathways may be mediated by the accumulation of senescent cells which exhibit a senescence associated secretory phenotype (SASP) (Campisi, 2012). Crucially, in the period immediately following menopause women report a rapid onset of the signs of skin ageing, a phenomenon which can be prevented with hormone replacement therapy (Brincat, 2000). Estrogen deprivation may contribute to the visible signs of skin ageing as a consequence of its innate antioxidant properties (Baeza et al., 2010) or due to its ability to mediate the expression of endogenous antioxidants (Borras et al., 2005). There is compelling evidence which demonstrates that estrogen can protect both keratinocytes and fibroblasts from oxidative damage (Bottai et al., 2013). Estrogen can also influence protease activity, by inhibition of MMP-1, -2, -8, -9 and -13 expression (Son et al., 2005, Pirila et al., 2002, Pirila et al., 2001) and promotion of TIMP expression (Chen et al., 2003). Finally, estrogen can influence cell senescence (Olovnikov, 1996). Once thought to be quiescent it is now known that senescent cells secrete a wide variety of cytokines, chemokines and proteases, which in turn affect the surrounding tissue (Campisi, 2012). Estrogen can prevent cellular senescence in a dose dependent manner and reduce telomere shortening via increase in telomerase in endothelial progenitor cells (Imanishi et al., 2005).

Given the experimental evidence which suggests that acute estrogen deprivation induces compositional, structural and mechanical remodelling in skin, in this study we used gross mechanical testing and proteomic analyses to test the hypothesis that acute ovariectomy (and hence estrogen deprivation) can model the compositional, structural and mechanical consequences of skin ageing in young mice.

4.3 Materials and Methods

Aged and ovariectomised mice

All animal experiments were performed under UK home office licence (40/3713) following local ethics committee approval. All experimental mice were wild-type C57/Bl6 females. Otherwise healthy aged mice were sourced at 12, 20 and 24 months of age from Charles River laboratories.

Bilateral ovariectomy (Ovx) was carried out on mice aged 7 weeks as previously described (Emmerson et al., 2012). Briefly, the mice were anaesthetised using a mixture of oxygen, nitrous oxide and isofluorane. A small incision in the skin was made in the lower ventral side of the mouse, followed by an incision in the body wall. The ovaries were located by following the length of the uterus and removed using sharp sterile scissors while gripping the fallopian tubes with forceps. The body wall and skin were closed using sutures and buprenorphine (0.1mg/kg) administered as analgesic. All mice had age matched intact controls (n=5-6 per group for all groups).

Macro-mechanical testing of murine skin

Tensile testing was carried out to measure the breaking stress and stiffness of the skin. Ventral skin was shaved and excised from mice and stored in cold PBS. The excess fat was removed and then the skin was cut into strips 10mm wide 40mm long. These were gripped with sandpaper (5mm at each end) and clamped into an instron 3344 with a 100N load cell (Instron, USA) and loaded to failure are a rate 20mm/min (Cooper et al., 2015). From the stress strain curves generated an estimate of the Young's modulus (stiffness) was calculated as stress/strain at the liner portion of the curve, where stress refers to the force per cross sectional area and strain as a measure of the resultant deformation. The tensile strength was measured as stress at breaking. Stress relaxation data was obtained as a measure of the viscolelastic properties, this was collected using ventral skin as described above on an Instron 5943 with a 10N load cell (Instron, USA), in a PBS water bath. The skin was cyclically loaded to 1N at a rate of 10mm/min 5 times to precondition the tissue then loaded to 1N and held at a constant strain for 160 seconds. All data was collected using Bluehill software (Instron, USA). The average thickness of the samples was measured from histology and found to be unchanged between samples.

Histological and immunochemical analysis of skin structure

Six µm thick histological sections were prepared from formalin-fixed, paraffin embedded tissue. Elastic fibres were stained using Gomori's aldehyde fuchsin (Gomori, 1950), total collagen was stained using masons trichrome, orgainised fibrillar collagen was stained using picrosirius red (McConnell et al., 2016). Immunohistochemistry for Advanced Glycation End products was carried out with AGE antibody (Abcam,UK). Bound primary antibody was detected using Vectastain ABC kit and NovaRed detection kit (Vector Laboratories). Brightfield images were taken on a Nikon eclipse E600 microscope/SPOT camera. Pircosirius red images were captured using crossed polarised light which visualises organised fibrillar collagen (Leica DMRB) (McConnell et al., 2016). All images were analysed using ImageJ 1.46r software (National Institutes of Health, USA). To quantify elastic fibres, images (I.D blinded to measurer) were thresholded and the pixels measured as a % area (Graham et al., 2011). Collagen was measured using the colour deconvolution plugin (G.Landidni) (Image J, National Institutes of Health, USA).

Proteomic characterisation of aged and estrogen deficient skin

Immobilized-trypsin beads (Perfinity Biosciences) were suspended in 150 μ L of digest buffer (1.33 mM CaCl2, Sigma, in AB) and 50 μ L of dermal ECM extract and shaken overnight at 37 °C. The resulting digest was then reduced (addition of 4 μ L x 500 mM DTT in AB; 10 min. shaking at

60 °C) and alkylated (addition of 12 μ L x 500 mM iodoacetamide, Sigma, in AB; 30 min. shaking at RT). Peptides were acidified by addition of 5 μ L x 10% trifluoroacetic acid (Riedel-de Haën) in water, and cleaned by two-phase extraction (2 x addition of 200 μ L ethyl acetate, Sigma, followed by vortexing and aspiration of the organic layer). Peptides were desalted, in accordance with the manufacturer's protocol, using POROS R3 beads (Thermo Fisher) and lyophilized. Peptide concentrations (measured by Direct Detect spectrophotometer, Millipore) in injection buffer (5% HPLC grade acetonitrile, Fisher Scientific, 0.1% trifluoroacetic acid in deionized water) were adjusted to 300ng/ μ L prior to MS analysis.

Digested samples were analysed by LC-MS/MS using an UltiMate® 3000 Rapid Separation LC (RSLC, Dionex Corporation) coupled to an Orbitrap Elite (Thermo Fisher Scientific) mass spectrometer. Peptide mixtures were separated using a gradient from 92% A (0.1% formic acid, FA, Sigma, in deionized water) and 8% B (0.1% FA in acetonitrile) to 33% B, in 104 min at 300 nL min-1, using a 75 mm x 250 µm inner diameter 1.7 µM CSH C18, analytical column (Waters). Peptides were selected for fragmentation automatically by data dependent analysis. Spectra from multiple samples were aligned using Progenesis QI (Nonlinear Dynamics) and searched using Mascot (Matrix Science UK), against the UniProt human database. The peptide database was modified to search for alkylated cysteine residues (monoisotopic mass change, 57.021 Da), oxidized methionine (15.995 Da), hydroxylation of asparagine, aspartic acid, proline or lysine (15.995 Da) and phosphorylation of serine, tyrosine, threonine, histidine or aspartate (79.966 Da). Peptide detection intensities were exported from Progenesis QI as Excel spreadsheets (Microsoft) for further processing using code written in Matlab (The MathWorks USA)

4.4 Results

Ageing and estrogen deprivation alter mechanical properties of murine skin in contrasting ways

We found a strong positive correlation (R^2 =0.97) between age and the tensile strength of the skin; by 24 months it was 50% stronger than at 6 weeks. Conversely, ovariectomy led to a 32% reduction in strength after just 7 weeks of estrogen deprivation (p<0.05) (Figure 4.1A). This trend was mirrored in the Young's modulus, where increased age led to an increase in Young's modulus showing a positive correlation between age and tissue stiffness (R^2 =0.95) , while estrogen deprivation led to a reduction in Young's modulus and was therefore more compliant (p<0.05) (Figure 4.1B). Finally the visocoelastic properties were measured via stress relaxation and this also revealed differences, where the aged tissue relaxed slower (or retained tension for longer) than the control skin and Ovx tissue relaxed faster (lost tension more readily) indicative

of tissue being more yielding (Figure 4.1C). These dramatic alterations in mechanical properties suggest ECM proteins must be altered with both age and estrogen deficiency.



Figure 4.1 Ageing and Ovx alter the mechanical properties of murine skin in contrasting ways

(A) Increasing age leads to a linear increase in the tensile strength of the skin and by 24 months the skin is 50% stronger than at 6 weeks of age. 7 weeks of Ovx has the opposite affect and leads to a loss of tensile strength compared to 14 week age matched control.(B) Age also leads to a linear increase in stiffness measured as by the Young's modulus and Ovx lead s to significant a decrease in the Young's modulus, compared to 14 week age matched control. (C) The viscoelastic properties are also altered in opposing directions in response to ageing or Ovx, with age increasing stress relaxation time and ovx reducing stress relaxation time. * p < 0.05 (T-test) # p < 0.05 ##P<0.001 (Pearsons R score p value). Data in A and B is presented as mean +/- SEM n=5-6

Estrogen deprivation and age alter the dermal proteome in similar ways

To investigate further we studied the dermal ECM proteome by mass spectrometry analysis. Overall the dermal proteins from mice aged 20 months versus 14 week old mice which had undergone 7 weeks of estrogen deprivation exhibited a similar profile (Figure 4.2A). Many of the proteins (73.4%) were reduced by both age and estrogen deprivation (lower left quadrant), while estrogen deprivation alone led to a reduction in a larger number of proteins (39.5%) than age alone (34.3%). Interestingly and perhaps surprisingly the fibrillar collagens appeared to be increased in abundance by both ageing and estrogen deprivation (Figure 4.2B; upper right quadrant). Proteins which are differentially altered appear to be mainly basement membrane associated proteins (Figure 4.2C). This family of proteins appeared to be particularly sensitive to estrogen with many more reduced by estrogen deficiency than ageing (lower right quandrant). Small lucine rich proteoglycans SLRPs which are important for the correct organisation of collagen fibrils were reduced by both Ovx and age with the exception of biglycan which is sensitive only to estrogen deprivation (Figure 4.2D). Elastic fibre proteins were the family most reduced by Ovx with ageing reducing both fibrillin-1 and fibrillin-2 but not fibulin-5 (Figure 4.2E). There was no apparent differential expression in the remaining minor collagens between age and estrogen deficiency (Figure 4.2F). The majority of detected signalling proteins were reduced by both states with the exception of serpinald peptidase inhibitor which was the most upregulated protein detected in the Ovx tissue. Additionally Tgfβi and aebp1 were increased by both Ovx and ageing (Figure 4.2G).





Figure 4.2 Mass spectrometry reveals age and estrogen deprivation alter the dermal proteome in similar ways (A) Mass spectrometry reveals that the majority (73.84%) of dermal proteins are reduced by both ageing and ovariectomy and that ageing and Ovx have similar effects on the dermal proteome. (B) The majority of fibrillar collagens are increased (in abundance or extractability) by ageing and estrogen deficiency. (C) The basement membrane proteins appear more susceptible to estrogen deficiency than ageing. (D) All detected SLRPs are reduced by Ovx with all but biglycan reduced by ageing. \notin All detected elastic fibre proteins are reduced by Ovx and 2 of the 3 reduced by ageing. (F) Other matrix proteins appear more effected (reduced) by Ovx than age. (G) The majority of signalling proteins are reduced by both Ovx and ageing however Serpina1d is increased in estrogen deficient tissue alone with tgfbi and Aebp1 increased in both age an Ovx n=3

Seven weeks of estrogen deficiency leads to significant alterations in dermal proteins

Although we saw a clear trend in both estrogen-deficient and aged mice affecting the dermal proteins, Ovx elicited a more consistent response, reflected in the fact that only estrogen deficiency led to statistically significant alterations (P<0.05). The proteins most affected were key elastic fibre proteins; with a quarter of proteins detected as being significantly reduced by Ovx directly linked to elastic fibres. The SLRPs were also sensitive to estrogen deficiency and 4 of the 20 detected proteins were members of this family. The only protein significantly increased by estrogen deficiency was collagen 1 (Figure 4.3).



Figure 4.3 Only estrogen deficiency lead to significant alterations in the dermal proteome All the detected ECM proteins significantly altered (P<0.05) by estrogen deprivation. The most significantly affected family is the elastic fibre proteins (orange bars) which represent a quarter of all the significantly reduced proteins. The SLRP's (Yellow bars) are also a highly represented family significantly reduced. The only protein significantly increased following Ovx in collagen I (Red bars)

Alterations in mechanical properties are not due to ECM abundance

The mechanical properties of the skin are attributed to the ECM proteins, the most abundant of which is fibrillar collagen, which is principally responsible for tensile strength and elastic fibres which provide resilience. Mass spectrometry analysis highlighted changes in both these proteins which we investigated histologically. Massons trichorome staining for total collagen revealed no observable differences between the groups (Figure 4.4A). Next we stained for the elastic fibres and found they showed a trend towards reduction with chronological age and by 20 months were 14% lower than the 14 week old mice. However estrogen deprivation had a statistically

significant (p<0.001) effect reducing the elastic fibres to 39% compared to young intact controls (Figure 4.4B). The same trend was mirrored in the elastic fibre protein fibrillin-1 which is also only significantly reduced by Ovx not ageing (p<0.05) (Figure 4.4C). We found there is no correlation between the tensile strength of the skin and collagen content (Figure 4.4D). Similarly we also found no correlation between total collagen content and Young's modulus (Figure 4.4E) or elastic fibre content and Young's modulus (Figure 4.4F). As the alterations in the mechanical properties do not correlate with protein abundance we considered there may be differences in the collagen fibrils.



Figure 4.4 ECM abundance does not correlate with mechanical properties (A) Total dermal collagen is not altered by ageing or Ovx. (B) 20 months of ageing leads to a small reduction in elastic fibres of 14% however 7 weeks of estrogen deprivation leads to a reduction of 42% of the dermal elastic fibres. (C) The same pattern is observed in the elastic fibre component fibrillin-1 where estrogen deficiency leads to a significant loss. (D) Collagen abundance does not correlate with breaking strength. (E) Collagen abundance does not correlate fibres). Elastic fibres do not correlate with Young's modulus (F) n=5 * p<0.05 ***p<0.001 scale bar = 60 μ m data is presented as mean +/- SEM

Alterations in Mechanical properties may be due to crosslinking

As the mechanical properties show no correlation to the abundance of ECM proteins we considered if the observed changes were due to organisation, orientation or modification of the collagen fibrils. To address this we used picrosirruis red staining, which stains specifically for organised fibrillar collagen, however we did not see obvious observable alterations in abundance or composition of the collagen fibres following age or Ovx (Figure 4.5A) Additionally we did not see alterations in the orientation of the collagen fibrils measured as the coherency (Figure 4.5B). However we found that only age led to an increased level of AGEs (Figure 4.5C). Suggesting the age associated increase in strength and stiffness was related to an increase in protein crosslinks not to protein abundance







Figure 4.5 Age associated tissue stiffening may be due to AGE associated crosslinks Organised dermal fibrillar collagen is not seen to be significantly altered when stained with picrosirrius red in either (A) abundance (A) or (B) orientation. (C) Advanced glycation ends products are only increased by ageing and estrogen deficiency has no effect the high levels of AGE modified lysine in histones shows as nuclear staining n=5 **p<0.005data presented as mean +/- SEM

4.5 Discussion

Here we aim to investigate if estrogen deprivation is a key driver of skin ageing in postmenopausal women through changes in the ECM, since such changes in the ECM and mechanical properties of the tissue are the causative factors in the development of the characteristic signs associated with ageing skin.

Mechanical changes

We find that in the mouse model natural chronological ageing and estrogen deprivation have opposing effects in all the measured mechanical parameters, with age leading to tissue which is higher in tensile strength and stiffness as well as altered in its viscoeleastic properties, measured by an increase in stress relaxation time. Although estrogen deprivation also leads to striking alterations in the mechanical properties the changes are opposite to those with advanced age, leading to tissue which is weaker and more compliant with a faster stress relaxation time. In human skin torsion testing in vivo has shown the Young's modulus increases with age (Agache et al., 1980) however dynamic indentation reported the opposite (Boyer et al., 2009) though little has been reported on age related changes ex vivo. However, the reported literature varies greatly due to inconsistency and difficulties which arise from measuring mechanical properties in vivo (Reviewed in Moronkeji and Akhtar, 2015). Crucially, we find that in the mouse the Young's modulus increases with age, in line with the widely accepted view that age leads to tissue stiffening, indicative of similarities between murine and human skin. However estrogen deficiency rapidly leads to skin which is both weaker and more compliant modelling the effects associated with advanced human ageing where the skin is lax, fragile and more susceptible to skin tears particularly in aged females (El-Domyati et al., 2002, Kennedy and Kerse, 2011).

Proteomic analysis

One of the key questions we wish to address is if the dermal ECM proteome is affected in similar ways by estrogen deficiency and chronological ageing. We carried out mass spectrometry analysis of whole dermis samples from aged and ovariectomised young mice, and compared to young intact controls. This revealed a clear trend with the majority of ECM proteins decreased by both ageing and Ovx. However the analysis also revealed proteins which are reduced following ovariectomy but not altered by ageing which could hold key insights into the differences we observe in the mechanical properties of these 2 groups. The proteins were divided into families and discussed below

Fibrillar collagens and SLRPs

Surprisingly, by mass spectrometry analysis, we find the major fibrillar collagens to be increased in both the aged and estrogen-deprived states. However both ageing and Ovx have a detrimental effect on the SLRPs lumican, decorin, asporin and mimecan, with biglycan seemingly only affected by Ovx. The SLRPs have important roles in collagen fibrillgenisis, controlling the correct formation and spacing of the collagen fibres. Alterations in the correct formation of collagen will alter the mechanical properties of the tissue. In vitro lumican knockout mice and decorin knockout mice show skin fragility due to alterations in the spacing, size and formation of collagen fibrils (Chakravarti et al., 1998, Danielson et al., 1997). Additionally SLRPs are also able to protect collagen fibrils from proteolysis (Geng et al., 2006) therefore making the collagen more susceptible to degradation and in this case the extraction technique used for mass spectrometry. This may explain why we observe an apparent increase in the fibrillar collagens through mass spectrometry which is not reflected in the histology.

Whereas all of the SLRPs were reduced by Ovx, biglycan remained unaltered in aged tissue. There is evidence that decorin and biglycan can interact with the same binding site on collagen I (Schonherr et al., 1995) and in a decorin knockout mouse biglycan can functionally compensate during collagen fibrillogenesis in the cornea (Zhang et al., 2009), suggesting that aged tissue may be able to maintain healthier fibrillogenesis through the maintenance of biglycan.

Elastic fibre proteins

Elastic fibres are made principally of an elastin rich core surrounded by an outer mantle of fibrillin microfibrils. The elastin core is so highly cross-linked it is virtually impossible to extract from tissue therefore the key proteins we would expect to represent the elastic fibres are the fibrillins 1 and 2. We find that both these are reduced by Ovx and ageing. Fibullin-5 is essential for formation arrangement and stabilisation of new elastic fibres, demonstrated by evidence that mutation leads to the disease Cutis laxia (Loeys et al., 2002). Importantly, in our study this protein was found to be reduced only by estrogen-deprivation, and not by age. This could present a key reason the elastic fibres are more severely affected by estrogen deprivation than age. In the Ovx group the elastic fibre proteins proved to be the family most detrimentally affected by estrogen deprivation and this was also reflected in histological analysis.

Age and Ovx have differential effects on basement membrane proteins

The basement membrane proteins are seemingly more affected by estrogen deprivation than ageing. One of the proteins most differentially affected is HSPG2, alternatively named perlecan. This protein is important for maintaining basement membrane integrity especially under mechanical stress (Costell et al., 1999) and may be a contributing factor to the loss of tensile strength associated with Ovx. Oh et al (Oh et al., 2011) find perlecan to be reduced only in aged females, and not aged males. This, together with our findings, suggests perlecan to be particularly sensitive to a reduction in circulating estrogen.

Signalling Proteins

The only signalling protein which was found to be increased in the estrogen-deprived dermis was Serpina1d, a serine peptidase inhibitor whose key role is inhibiting elastase activity. The fact that the ECM protein family most reduced by the Ovx state is the elastic fibre proteins already suggests there is deregulation of elastic fibre homeostasis. Serpina1d both regulates and is regulated by elastase (Ingunuity software) suggesting that by this time point (7 weeks post-Ovx) a large increase in elastase activity, which has led to the dramatic loss of elastic fibres, has induced its own inhibitor.

The signalling protein found to be highest in the aged group is the peptidase Aebp1 Adipocyte enhancer binding protein1, known to have roles in adipogenesis. Aebp1 also causes upregulation of macrophages (Majdalawieh et al., 2007) which may contribute to the chronic inflammation state associated with ageing as well as the increased adipose tissue observed in both aged and estrogen deficient tissue.

In estrogen-deprived skin down regulation of the protease inhibitor serpina3k could leave the matrix more susceptible to degradation by proteases. Further to this serpina3K also has roles in protecting against oxidative stress and it is known that fibrillin-1, a key component of elastic fibres, is particularly susceptible to oxidative damage due to its unusually high cysteine and methionine residues (Watson et al., 2014, Hibbert et al., 2015). This may be further exacerbated by the down-regulation of perioxiredoxin 4, which is an antioxidant enzyme, leading to the huge loss of fibrillin-1 we observe in the estrogen-deprived tissue. Deregulation of elastic fibre proteins can also lead to aberrant TGF- β signalling as fibrillin-1 sequesters and inactivates TGF- β allowing fine tuning (Kaartinen and Warburton, 2003)

Histological analysis

It is widely accepted that the mechanical strength of tissue can be attributed to the fibrillar collagen; we therefore expected that age would lead to increased dermal fibrillar collagen and Ovx would lead to a loss. However histological analysis revealed little differences in either the abundance of ordered fibrillar collagen or the orientation of the fibrils. Additionally a second key contributor to the mechanical function of tissue is the elastic fibres and again we observed similarities not differences in the effects of estrogen deprivation and age on these protein assemblies, with both leading to a reduction in abundance. One key difference we did observe however is the presence of advanced glycation end products (AGEs), which were only increased with ageing. These form when proteins are exposed to sugars and non-enzymatic glycosylation occurs, primary in lysine residues, forming early glycation products (Ansari, 2011). These modified proteins undergo a number of further reactions leading to AGEs such as glucosepane (Sell,2005). This AGE is one of the major contributors to collagen crosslinking forming covalent bonds between lysine and arginine sidechains both within molecules and between different molecules (Gautieri, 2014), with excessive crosslinking of collagen leading to increased stiffness (Verzijl et al., 2002). AGE related crosslinks differ from lysyl oxidase (LOX) derived crosslinks which are enzymatically driven by LOX enzymes. These catalyse the formation of reactive aldehydes from lysine residues within the collagen or elastin fibril to form intra molecular crosslinks to stabilise the structure (Csiszar, 2001) however LOX activity is also found to be increased in photoaged skin which may further contribute to age associated tissue stiffening (Langton, 2016). The lack of correlation observed between protein abundance and mechanical properties suggests that post transcriptional modification could be a major contributor to the observed alterations in mechanical properties.

Overall conclusions

From this study we determine that ageing leads to tissue which is both stronger and stiffer perhaps due to post-translational modifications of proteins such as crosslinks formed between AGE's, with an overall general loss of ECM dermal proteins. Particularly susceptible to ageing are the elastic fibre proteins and SLRP's perhaps leaving the fibrillar collagens more vulnerable to degradation and extraction, as these were the only family of proteins increased by ageing. Interestingly very few proteins were reduced by ageing alone and not by estrogen deficiency and it appears that estrogen deprivation and ageing have similar effects on the dermal ECM proteins, generally driving a loss. However, the ECM proteins seem even more susceptible to degradation following estrogen deprivation than ageing supporting the theory that estrogen

deficiency is a key driver of ageing. From a mechanical point of view the loss of proteins following Ovx leads to tissue which is both weaker and more compliant and lax possibly in part due to a down regulation of all the detected SLRPs leading to dis regulation of collagen fibrillogenesis the opposite of ageing where excessive crosslinking may lead to stiffened tissue. This suggests that the overall abundance of major ECM proteins is not a predictor of mechanical properties of skin and that both smaller proteins and post translational modifications have major roles to play. Estrogen deprivation has incredibly rapid effects on the ECM proteins suggesting prompt intervention is required at the time of menopause to maintain both the protein homeostasis and tissue mechanical properties. Further work to establish if these effects are permanent or reversible would be advantageous to development of clinical intervention.

We conclude that Ovariectomy has rapid effects on the dermal ECM proteins and is a good model of the compositional remodelling associated with ageing skin. However it has proved to be a poor model of mechanical ageing. Further to this it also suggests that composition of ECM is not a good predictor of mechanical properties.



Figure 4.6 Summary schematic. (A) Age and estrogen deficiency affect the dermal proteome in similar ways however estrogen deficiency leads to a loss of a greater number of proteins in each represented family (SLRPS(yellow), Elastic fibres (Orange), Signalling proteins (black) and basement membrane proteins (green)). We propose that the loss of SLRPs leads to disrupted collagen fibrillogenesis and leaves the fibrils more susceptible to degradation (and extraction) and the estrogen deficient skin weaker, however increased crosslinking of the collagen fibrils with age causes an increase in stiffness and tensile strength. (B) A summary of overall findings from the mechanical testing of breaking strength, stiffness(Young's modulus) and viscoelastic properties (stress-relaxation) and the proteomic analysis by mass spectrometry where direction and size of arrows represent findings.

4.6 References

- AGACHE, P. G., MONNEUR, C., LEVEQUE, J. L. & DE RIGAL, J. 1980. Mechanical properties and Young's modulus of human skin in vivo. *Arch Dermatol Res*, 269, 221-32.
- AKHTAR, R., SHERRATT, M. J., CRUICKSHANK, J. K. & DERBY, B. 2011. Characterizing the elastic properties of tissues. *Mater Today (Kidlington)*, 14, 96-105.
- ANSARI, N.A., ALI, M., ALI, R. 2011 Glycated lysine residues: A marker for non-enzymatic protein glycation in age-related diseases *Disease markers* 30 317-324
- BAEZA, I., FDEZ-TRESGUERRES, J., ARIZNAVARRETA, C. & DE LA FUENTE, M. 2010. Effects of growth hormone, melatonin, oestrogens and phytoestrogens on the oxidized glutathione (GSSG)/reduced glutathione (GSH) ratio and lipid peroxidation in aged ovariectomized rats. *Biogerontology*, 11, 687-701.
- BORRAS, C., GAMBINI, J., GOMEZ-CABRERA, M. C., SASTRE, J., PALLARDO, F. V., MANN, G. E. & VINA, J. 2005. 17beta-oestradiol up-regulates longevity-related, antioxidant enzyme expression via the ERK1 and ERK2[MAPK]/NFkappaB cascade. *Aging Cell*, 4, 113-8.
- BOTTAI, G., MANCINA, R., MURATORI, M., DI GENNARO, P. & LOTTI, T. 2013. 17beta-estradiol protects human skin fibroblasts and keratinocytes against oxidative damage. *J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol*, 27, 1236-43.
- BOYER, G., LAQUIEZE, L., LE BOT, A., LAQUIEZE, S. & ZAHOUANI, H. 2009. Dynamic indentation on human skin in vivo: ageing effects. *Skin Res Technol*, **15**, 55-67.
- BRINCAT, M. P. 2000. Hormone replacement therapy and the skin. *Maturitas*, 35, 107-17.
- CAMPISI, J. 2012. Aging, Cellular Senescence, and Cancer. Annu Rev Physiol.
- CHAKRAVARTI, S., MAGNUSON, T., LASS, J. H., JEPSEN, K. J., LAMANTIA, C. & CARROLL, H. 1998. Lumican regulates collagen fibril assembly: skin fragility and corneal opacity in the absence of lumican. *J Cell Biol*, 141, 1277-86.
- CHEN, B., WEN, Y., WANG, H. & POLAN, M. L. 2003. Differences in estrogen modulation of tissue inhibitor of matrix metalloproteinase-1 and matrix metalloproteinase-1 expression in cultured fibroblasts from continent and incontinent women. *Am J Obstet Gynecol*, 189, 59-65.
- COOKE, M. S., EVANS, M. D., DIZDAROGLU, M. & LUNEC, J. 2003. Oxidative DNA damage: mechanisms, mutation, and disease. *FASEB J*, 17, 1195-214.
- COOPER, N. H., BALACHANDRA, J. P. & HARDMAN, M. J. 2015. Global Gene Expression Analysis in PKCalpha-/- Mouse Skin Reveals Structural Changes in the Dermis and Defective Wound Granulation Tissue. *J Invest Dermatol*, 135, 3173-82.
- COSTELL, M., GUSTAFSSON, E., ASZODI, A., MORGELIN, M., BLOCH, W., HUNZIKER, E., ADDICKS, K., TIMPL, R. & FASSLER, R. 1999. Perlecan maintains the integrity of cartilage and some basement membranes. *J Cell Biol*, 147, 1109-22.
- CSISZAR, K.2001 Lysyl oxidases: A novel multifunctional amine oxidase family *Progress in nucleic* acid research and molecular biology 70 1-32
- DALY, C. H. & ODLAND, G. F. 1979. Age-related changes in the mechanical properties of human skin. *J Invest Dermatol*, 73, 84-7.
- DANIELSON, K. G., BARIBAULT, H., HOLMES, D. F., GRAHAM, H., KADLER, K. E. & IOZZO, R. V. 1997. Targeted disruption of decorin leads to abnormal collagen fibril morphology and skin fragility. J Cell Biol, 136, 729-43.
- EL-DOMYATI, M., ATTIA, S., SALEH, F., BROWN, D., BIRK, D. E., GASPARRO, F., AHMAD, H. & UITTO, J. 2002. Intrinsic aging vs. photoaging: a comparative histopathological, immunohistochemical, and ultrastructural study of skin. *Exp Dermatol*, **11**, 398-405.
- EMMERSON, E., CAMPBELL, L., DAVIES, F. C., ROSS, N. L., ASHCROFT, G. S., KRUST, A., CHAMBON, P. & HARDMAN, M. J. 2012. Insulin-like growth factor-1 promotes wound healing in estrogen-deprived mice: new insights into cutaneous IGF-1R/ERalpha cross talk. J Invest Dermatol, 132, 2838-48.
- FENSKE, N. A. & LOBER, C. W. 1986. Structural and functional changes of normal aging skin. J Am Acad Dermatol, 15, 571-85.

- FRANCESCHI, C. & CAMPISI, J. 2014. Chronic inflammation (inflammaging) and its potential contribution to age-associated diseases. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci,* 69 Suppl 1, S4-9.
- GAUTIERI, A., REDAELLI, A., BUEHLER, M. J., VESENTINI, S. 2014 Age- and diabetes-related nonenzymatic crosslinks in collagen fibrils: Candidate amino acids involved in Advanced Glycation End-products *Matrix biol*, 34 89-95
- GENG, Y., MCQUILLAN, D. & ROUGHLEY, P. J. 2006. SLRP interaction can protect collagen fibrils from cleavage by collagenases. *Matrix Biol*, 25, 484-91.
- GOMORI, G. 1950. Aldehyde-fuchsin: a new stain for elastic tissue. Am J Clin Pathol, 20, 665-6.
- GRAHAM, H. K., AKHTAR, R., KRIDIOTIS, C., DERBY, B., KUNDU, T., TRAFFORD, A. W. & SHERRATT, M. J. 2011. Localised micro-mechanical stiffening in the ageing aorta. *Mech Ageing Dev*, 132, 459-67.
- GUEST, J. F., AYOUB, N., MCILWRAITH, T., UCHEGBU, I., GERRISH, A., WEIDLICH, D., VOWDEN, K.
 & VOWDEN, P. 2015. Health economic burden that wounds impose on the National Health Service in the UK. *BMJ Open*, 5, e009283.
- HAORAH, J., RAMIREZ, S. H., SCHALL, K., SMITH, D., PANDYA, R. & PERSIDSKY, Y. 2007. Oxidative stress activates protein tyrosine kinase and matrix metalloproteinases leading to blood-brain barrier dysfunction. *J Neurochem*, 101, 566-76.
- HIBBERT, S. A., WATSON, R. E., GIBBS, N. K., COSTELLO, P., BALDOCK, C., WEISS, A. S., GRIFFITHS,
 C. E. & SHERRATT, M. J. 2015. A potential role for endogenous proteins as sacrificial sunscreens and antioxidants in human tissues. *Redox Biol*, 5, 101-13.
- IMANISHI, T., HANO, T. & NISHIO, I. 2005. Estrogen reduces endothelial progenitor cell senescence through augmentation of telomerase activity. *J Hypertens*, 23, 1699-706.
- KAARTINEN, V. & WARBURTON, D. 2003. Fibrillin controls TGF-beta activation. *Nat Genet*, 33, 331-2.
- KENNEDY, P. & KERSE, N. 2011. Pretibial skin tears in older adults: a 2-year epidemiological study. J Am Geriatr Soc, 59, 1547-8.
- LANGTON, A. K., TSOURELI-NIKITA, E., GRIFFITHS, C. E. M., ANTONIOU, C., STRATIGOS, A., SHERRATT, M. J., WATOSN, R. E. B. 2016 Lysyl oxidase activity in human skin is increased by chronic UV-exposure and smoking *Br J Dermatol* Epub
- LOEYS, B., VAN MALDERGEM, L., MORTIER, G., COUCKE, P., GERNIERS, S., NAEYAERT, J. M. & DE PAEPE, A. 2002. Homozygosity for a missense mutation in fibulin-5 (FBLN5) results in a severe form of cutis laxa. *Hum Mol Genet*, **11**, **2113**-8.
- MAJDALAWIEH, A., ZHANG, L. & RO, H. S. 2007. Adipocyte enhancer-binding protein-1 promotes macrophage inflammatory responsiveness by up-regulating NF-kappaB via IkappaBalpha negative regulation. *Mol Biol Cell*, 18, 930-42.
- MCCONNELL, J. C., O'CONNELL, O. V., BRENNAN, K., WEIPING, L., HOWE, M., JOSEPH, L., KNIGHT, D., O'CUALAIN, R., LIM, Y., LEEK, A., WADDINGTON, R., ROGAN, J., ASTLEY, S. M., GANDHI, A., KIRWAN, C. C., SHERRATT, M. J. & STREULI, C. H. 2016. Increased peri-ductal collagen micro-organization may contribute to raised mammographic density. *Breast Cancer Res*, 18, 5.
- MORONKEJI, K. & AKHTAR, R. 2015. *Mechanical Properties of Aging Human Skin*, Springer International Publishing.
- OH, J. H., KIM, Y. K., JUNG, J. Y., SHIN, J. E. & CHUNG, J. H. 2011. Changes in glycosaminoglycans and related proteoglycans in intrinsically aged human skin in vivo. *Exp Dermatol*, 20, 454-6.
- OLOVNIKOV, A. M. 1996. Telomeres, telomerase, and aging: origin of the theory. *Exp Gerontol*, 31, 443-8.
- PIMIENTA, G. & PASCUAL, J. 2007. Canonical and alternative MAPK signaling. *Cell Cycle*, 6, 2628-32.
- PIRILA, E., PARIKKA, M., RAMAMURTHY, N. S., MAISI, P., MCCLAIN, S., KUCINE, A., TERVAHARTIALA, T., PRIKK, K., GOLUB, L. M., SALO, T. & SORSA, T. 2002. Chemically modified tetracycline (CMT-8) and estrogen promote wound healing in ovariectomized

rats: effects on matrix metalloproteinase-2, membrane type 1 matrix metalloproteinase, and laminin-5 gamma2-chain. *Wound Repair Regen*, 10, 38-51.

- PIRILA, E., RAMAMURTHY, N., MAISI, P., MCCLAIN, S., KUCINE, A., WAHLGREN, J., GOLUB, L., SALO, T. & SORSA, T. 2001. Wound healing in ovariectomized rats: effects of chemically modified tetracycline (CMT-8) and estrogen on matrix metalloproteinases -8, -13 and type I collagen expression. *Curr Med Chem*, 8, 281-94.
- SCHARFFETTER-KOCHANEK, K., WLASCHEK, M., BRENNEISEN, P., SCHAUEN, M., BLAUDSCHUN, R. & WENK, J. 1997. UV-induced reactive oxygen species in photocarcinogenesis and photoaging. *Biol Chem*, 378, 1247-57.
- SCHONHERR, E., WITSCH-PREHM, P., HARRACH, B., ROBENEK, H., RAUTERBERG, J. & KRESSE, H. 1995. Interaction of biglycan with type I collagen. *J Biol Chem*, 270, 2776-83.
- SELL, D. R., BIEMEL, K. M., REIHL, O., LEDERER, M. O., STRAUCH, C. M., MONNIER, V. M. 2005 Glucosepane Is a Major Protein Cross-link of the Senescent Human Extracellular Matrix RELATIONSHIP WITH DIABETES J Bio Chem 280 12310-12315
- SEN, C. K., GORDILLO, G. M., ROY, S., KIRSNER, R., LAMBERT, L., HUNT, T. K., GOTTRUP, F., GURTNER, G. C. & LONGAKER, M. T. 2009. Human skin wounds: a major and snowballing threat to public health and the economy. *Wound Repair Regen*, 17, 763-71.
- SGONC, R. & GRUBER, J. 2013. Age-related aspects of cutaneous wound healing: a mini-review. *Gerontology*, 59, 159-64.
- SHAPIRO, S. D., ENDICOTT, S. K., PROVINCE, M. A., PIERCE, J. A. & CAMPBELL, E. J. 1991. Marked longevity of human lung parenchymal elastic fibers deduced from prevalence of Daspartate and nuclear weapons-related radiocarbon. *J Clin Invest*, **87**, 1828-34.
- SHERRATT, M. J. 2009. Tissue elasticity and the ageing elastic fibre. Age (Dordr), 31, 305-25.
- SON, E. D., LEE, J. Y., LEE, S., KIM, M. S., LEE, B. G., CHANG, I. S. & CHUNG, J. H. 2005. Topical application of 17beta-estradiol increases extracellular matrix protein synthesis by stimulating tgf-Beta signaling in aged human skin in vivo. J Invest Dermatol, 124, 1149-61.
- VARANI, J., WARNER, R. L., GHARAEE-KERMANI, M., PHAN, S. H., KANG, S., CHUNG, J. H., WANG, Z. Q., DATTA, S. C., FISHER, G. J. & VOORHEES, J. J. 2000. Vitamin A antagonizes decreased cell growth and elevated collagen-degrading matrix metalloproteinases and stimulates collagen accumulation in naturally aged human skin. J Invest Dermatol, 114, 480-6.
- VERZIJL, N., DEGROOT, J., BEN, Z. C., BRAU-BENJAMIN, O., MAROUDAS, A., BANK, R. A., MIZRAHI, J., SCHALKWIJK, C. G., THORPE, S. R., BAYNES, J. W., BIJLSMA, J. W., LAFEBER, F. P. & TEKOPPELE, J. M. 2002. Crosslinking by advanced glycation end products increases the stiffness of the collagen network in human articular cartilage: a possible mechanism through which age is a risk factor for osteoarthritis. *Arthritis Rheum*, 46, 114-23.
- WATSON, R. E., GIBBS, N. K., GRIFFITHS, C. E. & SHERRATT, M. J. 2014. Damage to skin extracellular matrix induced by UV exposure. *Antioxid Redox Signal*, 21, 1063-77.
- WEST, M. D., PEREIRA-SMITH, O. M. & SMITH, J. R. 1989. Replicative senescence of human skin fibroblasts correlates with a loss of regulation and overexpression of collagenase activity. *Exp Cell Res*, 184, 138-47.
- ZHANG, G., CHEN, S., GOLDONI, S., CALDER, B. W., SIMPSON, H. C., OWENS, R. T., MCQUILLAN, D. J., YOUNG, M. F., IOZZO, R. V. & BIRK, D. E. 2009. Genetic evidence for the coordinated regulation of collagen fibrillogenesis in the cornea by decorin and biglycan. *J Biol Chem*, 284, 8888-97.

Chapter 5 Results

"Signalling through estrogen receptor alpha has an acute effect

on elastic fibres"

Contributions: CS was involved in experimental design and carried out experiments, analysed results and prepared manuscript MS was involved in experimental design EE was involved in manuscript preparation MH was involved in surgical procedure experimental design and manuscript preparation.

5 Signalling through estrogen receptor alpha has an acute effect on elastic fibres

Charis R Saville^{1,2} Elaine Emmerson³, and Michael J Sherratt¹ and Matthew J Hardman²

¹Centre for Tissue Injury and Repair, Faculty of Medical and Human Sciences, ²The Healing Foundation Centre, Faculty of Life Sciences, ³Cell and Tissue Biology, University of California, San Francisco, USA.

5.1 Abstract

The elastic fibre network endows tissues, such as those which make-up skin lungs and cardiovascular system, the ability to stretch and recoil and is crucial to maintain normal mechanical function. The effect of estrogen deprivation on the elastic fibre system is becoming increasingly apparent with a loss of circulating estrogen correlated with a dramatic loss of cutaneous elastic fibres. This wide acting steroid hormone is known to signal via two distinct receptors, ER α and ER β , which are differentially expressed. This study aimed to give a first insight into the role of the ER's in maintenance of elastic fibres utilising specific ER agonists PPT and DPN. There was an initial role for ER α in the maintenance of elastic fibre scaffold protein fibrillin-1 and down-regulation of hypodermal adipose tissue. Conversely ER β stimulation during wound healing delayed elastic fibre deposition into the wound bed. An additional insight from ER α -/- and ER β -/- mice revealed reduced elastic fibres in ER α -/- mice supporting the involvement of ER α signalling in correct elastic fibre deposition.
5.2 Introduction

Following menopause, which sees the cessation of ovarian function, estrogen levels are dramatically reduced. This loss of estrogen correlates with a rapid increase in the signs of skin ageing, which can be prevented using hormone replacement therapy (Verdier-Sevrain et al., 2006, Bolognia et al., 1989). Studies from numerous groups over several decades have linked estrogen deprivation to profound effects on skin physiology, including loss of elasticity, increased wrinkling, skin thinning and loss of hydration (Brincat et al., 1985, Sumino et al., 2004). Much of this previous work has focussed on collagen as the primary mediator of the signs of skin ageing (Sauerbronn et al., 2000, Brincat et al., 1987). However, we have recently demonstrated that estrogen deprivation also leads to severe alterations in the dermal elastic fibre mediated mechanical properties of murine skin (Chapter 3).

Since estrogen signals via multiple receptors/co-factors and estrogen signalling is complex, many uncertainties remain around how estrogen elicits these positive effects. Estrogen is known to signal via at least four different mechanisms, involving genomic and non-genomic pathways. The most widely explored "canonical" pathway involves two distinct estrogen receptors, termed ERa and ER β , which dimerise to regulate transcription of a wide range of genes (Heldring et al., 2007). The estrogen receptors are expressed in a wide range of tissues with differential expression of ER α and ER β (Dahlman-Wright et al., 2006). Both estrogen receptors are reportedly expressed in human skin however a detailed study of the distribution of ERs in human scalp reported ERB to be more widely expressed in a number of regions, including the epidermis, dermal fibroblasts and the blood vessels with ERa only localised in the sebaceous gland (Thornton et al., 2003a, Thornton et al., 2003b). Cultured human fibroblasts express both ER's with ERβ up-regulated in response to estradiol (Haczynski et al., 2004, Haczynski et al., 2002). Human keratinocytes have also been reported to express both ER's however it is ERB which is thought to be the dominant receptor in human keratinocytes (Thornton et al., 2003a, Verdier-Sevrain et al., 2004). A study of estrogen receptor expression in mouse skin found expression of both receptors in fibroblasts and keratinocytes (Campbell et al., 2010). Differential expression is also reported in human immune cells with ER α dominating in CD4+T cells and ER β more prevalent in B-cells (Phiel et al., 2005). In the mouse wound model, ER^β has been shown to be important for re-epithelialisation (Campbell et al., 2010) with ER α having anti-inflammatory effects pushing macrophages into the pro-healing, alternatively activated state (Campbell et al., 2014).

Mice null for each ER were generated nearly two decades ago and have provided major insight into the role of each receptor in tissue development, homeostasis and pathology (Reviewed in Couse and Korach, 1999). As one might expect both ERβ -/- and ERα -/- mice display a range of 109

reproductive phenotypes (Couse and Korach, 1999). In addition, ER α -/- mice display decreased bone density (Korach, 1994) and increased adipose deposits (Heine et al., 2000), while ER β -/- mice exhibit abnormalities in the cardiovascular (Otsuki et al., 2003) and respiratory systems (Morani et al., 2006) along with many other defects. In skin ER α plays a role in the prevention of skin flap necrosis (Toutain et al., 2009) and estrogen signalling through ER β , but not ER α , accelerates cutaneous wound healing despite a role for both ER's as anti-inflammatory (Campbell et al., 2010). Crucially, the estrogen receptor β agonist DPN accelerates cutaneous healing in an Ovx mouse model (Campbell et al., 2010), while rodent wounds treated with the estrogen receptor α agonist PPT exhibit significantly reduced wound tensile strength compared to placebo-treated Ovx rats (Gal et al., 2010). Of direct relevance skin collagen content is reportedly increased in ER α -/- female mice concurrent with decreased MMP-15 expression, with the opposite reported for ER β -/- mice (Markiewicz et al., 2013). Additionally ER β signalling has been shown to reduce MMP1, MMP 13 and cytokine production in UV challenged cultured fibroblasts (Chang et al., 2010).

Direct ER specific effects on the cutaneous elastic-fibre system and/or elastic fibre-mediated skin mechanics have yet to be determined. This is important as controversy continues to surround the direct therapeutic use of estrogen. It would be of important clinical benefit to develop ER signalling targeted interventions for skin ageing. Here, as a first step, we have employed the selective estrogen receptor agonists 2,3-bis(4-hydroxyphenyl)-propionitrile (DPN; 70-fold selective affinity for ER β) and 4,4',4''-(4-propyl-[1H]-pyrazole-1,3,5-triyl) (PPT; 410-fold selective affinity for ER α) to elucidate receptor specific effects on the elastic fibre network in both skin homeostasis and repair.

5.3 Methods

All animal procedures were performed under home office project licence (40/3713) in accordance with the UK animal scientific procedures act 1986 following University of Manchester ethical review. Female wild-type C57BL/6 females (Envigo) were used at 7-8 weeks of age at the beginning of procedures. ER α -/- and ER β -/- mice have been previously described (Dupont et al., 2000). This study used archived tissue originally described in (Campbell et al.,2010).

Ovariectomy and treatment with estrogen, PPT and DPN

Estrogen deprivation was induced in female mice by bilateral ovariectomy described in (Emmerson et al., 2012). Briefly, mice were anesthetised by inhalation of oxygen, nitrous oxide and isoflourane. Following ventral laparotomy, ovaries were located via exposure of the uterus and removed using sterile scissors. The body wall and skin were closed using sutures and

buprenorphine (0.1mg/kg) administered as analgesia. Uterine atrophy was used to confirm estrogen deprivation at the time of tissue collection (Zhao et al., 2012). Estrogen replacement was via a slow release 17beta-estradiol pellet inserted at the base of the neck (0.1mg - 60 day release) (Innovative research of America, Florida, USA). PPT or DPN at 330µg/kg (in corn oil) were administered s.c. (Campbell et al., 2010) three times per week for two weeks, followed by one time per week (7 week protocol) or three times per week (3 week protocol) and Ovx mice were injected with vehicle control the same time points. Mice were wounded two weeks prior to the end of the experiment with 2 x 1cm full thickness dorsal incisions as described (Emmerson et al., 2009) and allowed to heal by secondary intention for 14 days before sacrifice and analysis. Wounds and normal skin were collected and either fixed in formaldehyde for histology or processed for RNA isolation.

Cell culture conditions

Human dermal fibroblasts were cultured in phenol red-free DMEM (Sigma, UK) supplemented with L-glutamine and 10% charcoal stripped foetal bovine serum (Sigma, UK) to minimise estrogenic activity. Cells were treated with either 1µM PPT or DPN (Tocris, UK).

Histological and immunohistochemical analysis of tissue

Tissue was fixed in 10% formalin saline and embedded into paraffin blocks. Sections 6µm in thickness were stained with Gomori's aldehyde fuchsin to selectively stain elastic fibres (Gomori, 1950) or were subject to immunohistochemical analysis with the following antibodies: anti-fibrillin-1 goat polyclonal, anti-ER α rabbit polyclonal and anti-ER β rabbit polyclonal (Santa Cruz Biotechnology). Antibodies were detected using the VECTASTAIN ABC kit (Vector laboratories) and NovaRed kit (Vector laboratories) as recommended by the manufacturer. All images were taken using a Nikon eclipse 600 microscope with Spot camera (Image solutions Inc.). Elastic fibre images were analysed using image J 4.6r software (National institutes of Health, USA) to measure the % area occupied as described previously (Graham et al., 2010). Positively stained cell counts were performed using Image Pro Plus software (Media Cybernetics).

Gene expression analysis by quantitative real time PCR

Total RNA was isolated from snap frozen tissue or from cultured fibroblasts. Briefly, tissue samples were homogenised or cells were vortexed in Trizol reagent (Invitrogen, UK) and RNA was isolated in chloroform and purified using the RNA purelink kit (Life Technologies UK), cDNA was transcribed from RNA (Reverse Transcriptase kit, Promega, Madison, USA) and quantitative PCR was carried out on an Opticon quantitative PCR thermal cycler (Bio-Rad, UK) using the SYBR

green core kit (Eurogentec) (Gilliver et al., 2007). cDNA was diluted over 3 orders of magnitude and expression ratios normalised to housekeeping genes *Gapdh* and *Ywhaz*.

Target gene	Forward primer	Reverse primer	
Gapdh (mouse)	TGCCACTCAGAAGACTGTGG	GGATGCAGGGATGATGTTCT	
<i>Ywhaz</i> (mouse)	TTGAGCAGAAGACGGAAGGT	GAAGCATTGGGGATCAAGAA	
<i>ERα</i> (mouse)	AATAGCCCTGCCTTGTCCTT	ATAGATCATGGGCGGTTCAG	
ERβ (mouse)	TGTGTGTGAAGGCCATGATT	GTGTCAGCTTCCGGGCTACTC	
Fbn-1 (mouse)	CAGTGCATTAACACAACGC	TTCTTGCAGGTCCCATTTCC	
GAPDH (human)	TGCACCACCAACTGAGC	GGCATGGACTGTGGTCATGAG	
YWHAZ (human)	ACTTTTGGTACATTGTGGCTTCAA	CCGCCAGGACAAACCAGTAT	
FBN-1 (human)	CAGGACAGGCCCATGTTTTAC	GCACAGCAGAGCGTTTTTGT	

Table 5.1 Primer sequences

Protein analysis of tropoelastin synthesis in cultured human dermal fibroblasts

Human dermal fibroblasts were cultured for 14 days and treated with supplemented media to a final concentration 1µm PPT or DPN (media changed three times per week), alongside an untreated control (n=3). The media was collected on day 14 and added to lamelli sample buffer (Bio-Rad) containing 5% 2-mecaptoethanol (Bio-Rad). The samples were separated by SDS-PAGE, blotted onto nitrocellulose membrane and blocked with 5% non-fat milk 0.1% tween prior to incubation with primary antibody anti-elastin mouse (Santa Cruz Biotechnology). Detection was performed using peroxidase labelled anti-mouse secondary (GE Healthcare, UK) and ECL plus (GE Healthcare, UK).

5.4 Results

Estrogen receptor alpha selectively maintains cutaneous elastic fibres following Ovariectomy

It has previously been demonstrated that in the skin dermal elastic fibres positively correlate with estrogen levels (Chapter 3). To determine if signalling via ER α or ER β predominates in elastic fibre maintenance, mice underwent Ovx followed by three week treatment with ER agonists (PPT for ER α and DPN for ER β). Dermal elastic fibre density was measured from histological sections stained with Gomori's aldehyde fushsin (Gomori, 1950). We found that just 3 weeks of estrogen deprivation significantly reduced dermal elastic fibre density (Figure 5.1A and 5.1B). Crucially, this loss of elastic fibres was completely prevented by treatment with either 17beta-estradiol or the ER α agonist PPT. By contrast, treatment with the ER β agonist DPN did not significantly alter elastic fibre maintenance (Figure 5.1A). This ERα selective protection is maintained at the gene (Figure 5.1C) and protein (Figure 5.1D-E) expression level for the key elastic fibre component fibrillin 1. Indeed, both 17beta-estradiol and PPT (ERα agonist) initiate strong induction of fibrillin-1 gene expression in ovariectomised mouse skin. This suggests that these treatments may directly induce new fibrillin synthesis. Finally, cellular fibroblast expression of fibrillin-1 protein was also strongly and selectively increased in the skin of PPT treated mice (Figure 5.1D-E). Curiously, in longer term (7 week) estrogen-deficient tissue DPN was also able to protect the elastic fibre network from estrogen deficiency-associated loss (Supplemental figure 5.1).

To confirm this preferential role for ER α in elastic fibre development and homeostasis we turned to ER α -/- and ER β -/- mice. Examining histological skin tissue revealed a specific and significant reduction in dermal elastic fibres in ER α -/- mice alone. Indeed, ER β -/- mouse skin appeared phenotypically normal (Figure 5.2).



Figure 5.1 Elastic fibres are acutely and selectively induced by ER alpha activation in ovariectomised mice. (A) Relative change in dermal elastic fibre quantity (area) at 3 weeks post Ovariectomy (Ovx) or following co-treatment with 17beta-estradiol (E), ER α agonist (PPT) and ER β agonist DPN. Data are shown relative to intact (non-ovariectomised) mice. (B) Corresponding representative images of dermal elastic fibre staining with Gamoris aldehyde fuchsin. (C) Gene expression of *fbn1* in whole skin at 3 weeks post Ovx reveals upregulation with E and PPT. (D) Immunohistochemistry reveals dermal cells positive for the elastic fibre protein fibrillin-1 at 3 weeks post Ovx. Treatment with either PPT or E induced dermal positive cells. (E) Corresponding representative images of fibrillin-1 positive cells in each treatment group (arrows indicate positive staining). n=5-6, mean +/- SEM. *p<0.05 **p<0.01, scale bar = 60µm (B) and 40µm.



Figure 5.2 Estrogen Receptor alpha KO skin displays reduced elastic fibre density. (A) Dermal area of elastic fibres stained with Gamoris aldehyde fuchsin in ER α and ER β null tissue as a percentage of wild type control. (B) Representative images of elastic fibre staining in ER α and ER β null tissue n = 2 for ER β knockout, n=5 for WT, n=4 for the ER α knockout Data mean +/- SEM scale bar =40 μ m

ERβ stimulation delays wound elastic fibre deposition.

In normal skin homeostasis it is difficult to elucidate anabolic versus catabolic effects i.e. is estrogen maintaining elastic fibres by protecting them from degradation or inducing synthesis of new elastic fibres. Evidence presented in figure 5.1 suggested induction of new elastic fibre proteins (Figure 5.1C-E). We therefore investigated this further using an incisional wounding model, where synthesis of new elastic fibres is an integral part of the healing process that should be more easily quantified. A pilot study (data not shown) indicated measurable restoration of elastic fibres at 14 days post wounding. Thus elastic fibre deposition was assessed in mice at this 14 days post wounding time point, treated 17beta-estadiol, PPT or DPN during 3 weeks of Ovx. Restoration of elastic fibres into the healing wound bed was measured in histological sections from the centre of the wound stained with Gamori's aldehyde fuchsin (Figure 5.3A).

Following 3 weeks of estrogen deprivation wound elastic fibre restoration was delayed. This delay was partially restored by treatment with 17beta-estradiol or the ER α agonist PTT. Unexpectedly, treatment with the ER β agonist DPN led to a delay in elastic fibre formation over and above that observed in Ovx wild type mice (Figure 5.3B). The % area (density) of the newly formed elastic fibres was not significantly altered by any of the treatments (Figure 5.3C). With a longer period of Ovx (7 weeks) the negative effect of DPN treatment was lost (Supplemental

figure 5.2A). Thus, wound deposition largely mirrors findings in the normal skin, with an initial dominance of ER α signalling which is then lost. At the 7 week time point the density of the newly restored elastic fibres are significantly increased by 17 β -estridiol and maintained by PPT and DPN (Supplemental figure 5.2B)





Figure 5.3 ERB signalling exacerbates delayed wound elastic fibre deposition following ovariectomy. (A) Representative image of what is measured as the area of unrestored elastic fibres (Inside black line). (B) The wound area where elastic fibres have not yet been restored 14 days post wounding in mice which have been Ovx'd for 3 before the end timepoint. Following 3 weeks of estrogen deprivation, treatment with DPN delays the restoration of elastic fibres (C) The percentage area of resorted elastic fibres measured immediately adjacent to the unrestored area. This is unaffected by 3 weeks of Ovx. Data is Mean +/- SEM n=5-6 *p<0.05.

Estrogen receptor expression is altered by treatment with agonists

It has previously been demonstrated that short term (3 day) treatment, in a healing Ovx wound, with either DPN or PPT induces expression of ER β in the leading edge of the epidermis (Emmerson, 2010). Moreover, the SERM tamoxifen specifically up-regulates ER β expression in dermal cells *in vitro* (Hardman et al., 2008). However, the effects of longer term agonist treatments on ER expression in normal skin are unknown. Here we demonstrate that ovariectomy plus treatment with PPT and estrogen led to alterations in the expression of the estrogen receptors, namely a large increase at the transcriptional level of ER α and a trend towards increasing ER β (Figure 5.4A and B), Treatment with PPT also led to an increase in both ER α and ER β at the protein level, while DPN treatment only increased ER β expression (Figure 5.4C-F). These effects were less pronounced with longer term estrogen deprivation when the reduced treatment may have been insufficient to maintain induction (Supplemental figure 5.3A and 5.3B).



Figure 5.4 Estrogen receptor agonist treatment locally alters estrogen receptor expression. (A, B) Estrogen receptor alpha (*Esr1*) (A) and estrogen receptor beta (*Esr2*) (B) gene expression was measured in the skin of mice following 3 weeks of ovariectomy (Ovx) with or without ER agonist co-treatment. Both receptors were strongly induced by 17beta-estradiol and ER α agonist (PPT) treatment. (C) Parallel immunohistochemical analysis reveals that PPT alone increases the number of ER α positive fibroblasts 3 weeks post-Ovx and (D) By contrast, both PPT and DPN (ERbeta agonist) increased the number of ER β positive dermal fibroblasts 3 weeks post-Ovx, although DPN treatment was more variable and failed to reach statistical significance. (E,F) Corresponding representative images of ER α and ER β immunohistochemical localisation. Data shown mean +/-SEM *p<0.05 **p<0.01 n=5-6

Adipose hypertrophy is prevented via ERa signalling

Adipose tissue is emerging as one of the key mediators of elastic fibre homeostasis. It has previously been shown that adipose hypertrophy positively correlates with loss of elastic fibres in the skin (Ezure and Amano, 2015). We therefore explored differences in the subcutanous adipose tissue. We observed significant adipose hypertrophy in Ovx (Figure 5.5A and 5.5B) that was prevented by treatment with either 17beta-estradiol or the ER α agonist PPT. By contrast, treatment with DPN only partially rescued the Ovx-induced increase in adipose thickness (Figure 5.5A). This observed lack of rescue correlates with the lack of restored elastic fibres in the wound bed at 3 weeks post-Ovx. In addition, estrogen supplementation and deprivation (Ovx) are known to alter the hair cycle (unpublished observations and Chanda et al 2000). At 3 weeks post-Ovx 4 of 5 mice in the Ovx group and 3 of 5 in the DPN group were in the anagen stage of the hair cycle. By comparison no mice in the intact or the estrogen treated groups and just 1 in 5 of the PPT group was in anagen. Re-analysis accounting for hair cycle indicates that the cycle stage was only partly responsible for the observed differences (supplemental figure 5.4). Since it is known that there is crosstalk between hair follicles and the underlying subcutaneous adipose tissue (reviewed in Schmidt and Horsley, 2012) it seems likely that the observed number of mice in anagen is due to DPN group being particularly susceptible to fluctuation in adipose depth. Overall our results suggest that the prevention of Ovx-induced adipose hypertrophy is mediated by ER alpha.



Figure 5.5. **ER** α signalling prevents Ovx induced cutaneous adipose hypertrophy. (A) The depth of the adipose layer was measured in full thickness skin histological sections from mice 3 weeks post ovariectomy (OVX). Ovx induced adipose hypertrophy was entirely prevented by either estrogen or PPT treatment. Treatment with DPN failed to prevent adipose hypertrophy (B) Representative images from 3 and 7 weeks post Ovx tissue with treatments highlighting the adipose layer (between red lines) and an indication of the depth (Black arrows) n= 5-6, Scale bar = 100um Data shown mean +/-SEM *P<0.05 **P<0.01 ***P<0.001. ****p<0.0001

ERß induces key elastic fibre proteins in human dermal fibroblasts in vitro

To address cross-species conservation we cultured human dermal fibroblasts and measured the effect of PPT and DPN treatment on induction of elastic fibre proteins. Initially fibroblasts responded equally to treatment with PPT or DPN, inducing expression of fibrillin-1 (Figure 6A). However with longer treatment only DPN significantly induced expression with no increase following PPT treatment (Figure 6B). Secreted tropoelastin the soluble precursor to mature elastin was measured from the media. Both agonists led to an up-regulation of tropoelastin, however, only DPN treatment led to a statistically significant increase (Figure 6C). This data confirms that ER signalling directly influences elastic fibre production in human cells. The data may also correspond to a the apparent dominance of ER β in human skin fibroblasts (Thornton et al., 2003b) compared to murine skin which appears to have a stronger expression of both ERs (Campbell et al., 2010)



Figure 5.6 Human dermal fibroblasts induce *in vitro* expression of elastic fibre components in response to both ERalpha and ERbeta activation. (A) Monolayer cultured human dermal fibroblasts treated for 6 hours with either ER α agonist (PPT) or ER β agonist (DPN) showed induced expression of the elastic fibre scaffold component fibrillin-1 (*FBN1*). (B) By 24 hours post-treatment only DPN significantly induced *FBN1* expression. (C) At the protein level both PPT and DPN induced production of the soluble elastin precursor tropoelastin in monolayer cultured human dermal fibroblasts. N=3 *P<0.05

5.5 Discussion

We have previously reported that estrogen deprivation leads to a dramatic loss of dermal elastic fibres in an ovariectomised murine model of menopause. Moreover, this loss can be prevented with estrogen replacement (Chapter 3; Saville et al. in preparation). Here we extend this work with experiments designed to elucidate the relative contribution of ER α versus ER β signalling in estrogen's protective effects on skin ageing. Our data reveal that agonism of ER α is able to maintain dermal elastic fibres following ovariectomy, closely matching the effects of estrogen. Specifically, the protein fibrillin-1 forms an initial scaffold for the generation of new elastic fibres. Here we report pronounced induction of fibrillin-1 positive fibroblasts with both estrogen and PPT treatment, but not with the ER β agoinst DPN.

These data are clearly at odds with the concept that elastic fibres undergo minimal turnover in normal skin homeostasis (Davidson et al., 1986, Ramirez and Pereira, 1999, Zhang et al., 1999). To increase turnover and confirm this role we moved to a skin injury model, where new elastic fibre deposition is essential to restore the dermis. Here we find that ERB agonist treatment actually delays restoration of wound granulation tissue elastic fibres in line with our findings in unwounded skin. A previous study of wound healing identified $ER\alpha$ signalling as important for switching macrophages to the pro-resolutory alternatively activated phenotype (Campbell et al., 2014). Here this may make a more favourable environment for restoration of the matrix in the PPT treated samples. Another possibility is that estrogen signalling is linked to the rate of elastic fibre degradation due to changes in MMP expression or activation, ERB-/- mice have elevated MMP1 and MMP2 levels along with TIMP2 (Morani et al., 2006) and in an estrogen treated ERβ-/- wound model MMP9 was increased (Campbell et al., 2010) with ER α -/- mice showing decreased MMP-15 levels (Markiewicz et al., 2013). However, this seems at odds with our data but does suggest disregulation of matrix degrading enzymes with ER agonism, with MMPs known to have complex self-regulation (Sternlicht and Werb, 2001). Our data reveal a clear link to alterations in the subcutaneous adipose tissue. There is emerging evidence (Chapter 3 and Ezure and Amano, 2015l) that adjpocyte hypertrophy leads to elastic fibre degradation which may be mediated via up regulation of MMP9 (Ezure and Amano, 2015). We find that DPN is far less effective than either PPT or estrogen at preventing Ovx induced dermal adipocyte hypertrophy which may indeed contribute to reduced elastic fibre density. Further evidence from the ER α -/- mouse supports that signalling via this ER is important, but not critical, for correct abundance of the elastic fibres. Thus, other mechanisms must also contribute to induction or protection of elastic fibres.

The observed effects on elastic fibre induction are correlated to an initial specific up-regulation of both ER α and ER β by ER α agonist treatment alone. Short term (3 day) agonist stimulation has

been previously shown to induce ERβ in keratinocytes (Emmerson, 2010). *In vitro* treatment of fibroblasts with SERMS reveals raloxifen upregulates ERβ however tamoxifen initailly down regulates in the short term and then up regulates ERs with longer term treatment (Haczynski et al., 2004). We also observe temporal effects where the length of treatment varies ER expression (however it should be noted the 7 week dose was also reduced). After longer term (7 weeks) estrogen deprivation the initial differences in PPT and DPN treatment are lost and both are able to partially protect the elastic fibres from Ovx induced degradation in normal skin. A similar effect is observed in the wounds where the DPN induced lag is no longer found. This temporal change in estrogen receptor responsiveness may be due to temporally altered ER expression, with lack of ER induction at the 7 week timepoint.

Overall, stimulation of ERα clearly protects the dermal elastic fibres network from estrogendeprivation associated loss, with a corresponding protection against adipose hypertrophy. Although the response is species variable, both human dermal fibroblasts *in vitro* and mouse dermal cells *in vivo* are highly sensitive to ER stimulation directly up-regulating key elastic fibre proteins. Of wider relevance, the importance of elastic fibres in healthy ageing is not limited to skin health. They are critical for function of the cardiovascular and respiratory systems, which rely on the resilience conferred by these protein assemblies to function. It is likely that insight provided here in skin will translate to these other tissues, where ER specific stimulation may prove therapeutically effective.

5.6 References

- BOLOGNIA, J. L., BRAVERMAN, I. M., ROUSSEAU, M. E. & SARREL, P. M. 1989. Skin changes in menopause. *Maturitas*, 11, 295-304.
- BRINCAT, M., MONIZ, C. J., STUDD, J. W., DARBY, A., MAGOS, A., EMBUREY, G. & VERSI, E. 1985. Long-term effects of the menopause and sex hormones on skin thickness. *Br J Obstet Gynaecol*, 92, 256-9.
- BRINCAT, M., VERSI, E., MONIZ, C. F., MAGOS, A., DE TRAFFORD, J. & STUDD, J. W. 1987. Skin collagen changes in postmenopausal women receiving different regimens of estrogen therapy. *Obstet Gynecol*, 70, 123-7.
- CAMPBELL, L., EMMERSON, E., DAVIES, F., GILLIVER, S. C., KRUST, A., CHAMBON, P., ASHCROFT, G. S. & HARDMAN, M. J. 2010. Estrogen promotes cutaneous wound healing via estrogen receptor beta independent of its antiinflammatory activities. J Exp Med, 207, 1825-33.
- CAMPBELL, L., EMMERSON, E., WILLIAMS, H., SAVILLE, C. R., KRUST, A., CHAMBON, P., MACE, K. A. & HARDMAN, M. J. 2014. Estrogen receptor-alpha promotes alternative macrophage activation during cutaneous repair. J Invest Dermatol, 134, 2447-57.
- CHANG, K. C., WANG, Y., OH, I. G., JENKINS, S., FREEDMAN, L. P., THOMPSON, C. C., CHUNG, J. H. & NAGPAL, S. 2010. Estrogen receptor beta is a novel therapeutic target for photoaging. *Mol Pharmacol*, **77**, 744-50.

- COUSE, J. F. & KORACH, K. S. 1999. Estrogen receptor null mice: what have we learned and where will they lead us? *Endocr Rev*, 20, 358-417.
- DAHLMAN-WRIGHT, K., CAVAILLES, V., FUQUA, S. A., JORDAN, V. C., KATZENELLENBOGEN, J. A., KORACH, K. S., MAGGI, A., MURAMATSU, M., PARKER, M. G. & GUSTAFSSON, J. A. 2006. International Union of Pharmacology. LXIV. Estrogen receptors. *Pharmacol Rev*, 58, 773-81.
- DAVIDSON, J. M., HILL, K. E. & ALFORD, J. L. 1986. Developmental changes in collagen and elastin biosynthesis in the porcine aorta. *Dev Biol*, 118, 103-11.
- DUPONT, S., KRUST, A., GANSMULLER, A., DIERICH, A., CHAMBON, P. & MARK, M. 2000. Effect of single and compound knockouts of estrogen receptors alpha (ERalpha) and beta (ERbeta) on mouse reproductive phenotypes. *Development*, 127, 4277-91.
- EMMERSON, E., CAMPBELL, L., ASHCROFT, G. S. & HARDMAN, M. J. 2009. Unique and synergistic roles for 17beta-estradiol and macrophage migration inhibitory factor during cutaneous wound closure are cell type specific. *Endocrinology*, 150, 2749-57.
- EMMERSON, E., CAMPBELL, L., DAVIES, F. C., ROSS, N. L., ASHCROFT, G. S., KRUST, A., CHAMBON, P. & HARDMAN, M. J. 2012. Insulin-like growth factor-1 promotes wound healing in estrogen-deprived mice: new insights into cutaneous IGF-1R/ERalpha cross talk. J Invest Dermatol, 132, 2838-48.
- EMMERSON, E. P. 2010. *The role of estrogen and MIF in cutaneous wound healing* PhD, The University of Manchester.
- EZURE, T. & AMANO, S. 2015. Increment of subcutaneous adipose tissue is associated with decrease of elastic fibres in the dermal layer. *Exp Dermatol*, 24, 924-9.
- GAL, P., NOVOTNY, M., VASILENKO, T., DEPTA, F., SULLA, I. & TOMORI, Z. 2010. Decrease in wound tensile strength following post-surgical estrogen replacement therapy in ovariectomized rats during the early phase of healing is mediated via ER-alpha rather than ER-beta: a preliminary report. J Surg Res, 159, e25-8.
- GILLIVER, S. C., RUCKSHANTHI, J. P. D., ATKINSON, S. J. & ASHCROFT, G. S. 2007. Androgens influence expression of matrix proteins and proteolytic factors during cutaneous wound healing. *Laboratory Investigation*, 87, 871-881.
- GOMORI, G. 1950. Aldehyde-fuchsin: a new stain for elastic tissue. Am J Clin Pathol, 20, 665-6.
- GRAHAM, H. K., HODSON, N. W., HOYLAND, J. A., MILLWARD-SADLER, S. J., GARROD, D., SCOTHERN, A., GRIFFITHS, C. E., WATSON, R. E., COX, T. R., ERLER, J. T., TRAFFORD, A. W.
 & SHERRATT, M. J. 2010. Tissue section AFM: In situ ultrastructural imaging of native biomolecules. *Matrix Biol*, 29, 254-60.
- HACZYNSKI, J., TARKOWSKI, R., JARZABEK, K., SLOMCZYNSKA, M., WOLCZYNSKI, S., MAGOFFIN,
 D. A., JAKOWICKI, J. A. & JAKIMIUK, A. J. 2002. Human cultured skin fibroblasts express estrogen receptor alpha and beta. *Int J Mol Med*, 10, 149-53.
- HACZYNSKI, J., TARKOWSKI, R., JARZABEK, K., WOLCZYNSKI, S., MAGOFFIN, D. A., CZARNOCKI, K. J., ZIEGERT, M., JAKOWICKI, J. & JAKIMIUK, A. J. 2004. Differential effects of estradiol, raloxifene and tamoxifen on estrogen receptor expression in cultured human skin fibroblasts. Int J Mol Med, 13, 903-8.
- HARDMAN, M. J., EMMERSON, E., CAMPBELL, L. & ASHCROFT, G. S. 2008. Selective estrogen receptor modulators accelerate cutaneous wound healing in ovariectomized female mice. *Endocrinology*, 149, 551-7.
- HEINE, P. A., TAYLOR, J. A., IWAMOTO, G. A., LUBAHN, D. B. & COOKE, P. S. 2000. Increased adipose tissue in male and female estrogen receptor-alpha knockout mice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 97, 12729-34.
- HELDRING, N., PIKE, A., ANDERSSON, S., MATTHEWS, J., CHENG, G., HARTMAN, J., TUJAGUE, M., STROM, A., TREUTER, E., WARNER, M. & GUSTAFSSON, J. A. 2007. Estrogen receptors: how do they signal and what are their targets. *Physiol Rev*, 87, 905-31.
- KORACH, K. S. 1994. Insights from the study of animals lacking functional estrogen receptor. *Science*, 266, 1524-7.

- MARKIEWICZ, M., ZNOYKO, S., STAWSKI, L., GHATNEKAR, A., GILKESON, G. & TROJANOWSKA, M. 2013. A role for estrogen receptor-alpha and estrogen receptor-beta in collagen biosynthesis in mouse skin. *J Invest Dermatol*, 133, 120-7.
- MORANI, A., BARROS, R. P., IMAMOV, O., HULTENBY, K., ARNER, A., WARNER, M. & GUSTAFSSON, J. A. 2006. Lung dysfunction causes systemic hypoxia in estrogen receptor beta knockout (ERbeta-/-) mice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 103, 7165-9.
- OTSUKI, M., DAHLMAN-WRIGHT, K. & GUSTAFSSON, J. A. 2003. Cardiovascular roles of estrogen receptors: insights gained from knockout models. *Nucl Recept Signal*, **1**, e003.
- PHIEL, K. L., HENDERSON, R. A., ADELMAN, S. J. & ELLOSO, M. M. 2005. Differential estrogen receptor gene expression in human peripheral blood mononuclear cell populations. *Immunol Lett*, 97, 107-13.
- RAMIREZ, F. & PEREIRA, L. 1999. The fibrillins. Int J Biochem Cell Biol, 31, 255-9.
- SAUERBRONN, A. V., FONSECA, A. M., BAGNOLI, V. R., SALDIVA, P. H. & PINOTTI, J. A. 2000. The effects of systemic hormonal replacement therapy on the skin of postmenopausal women. *Int J Gynaecol Obstet*, 68, 35-41.
- STERNLICHT, M. D. & WERB, Z. 2001. How matrix metalloproteinases regulate cell behavior. *Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol*, 17, 463-516.
- SUMINO, H., ICHIKAWA, S., ABE, M., ENDO, Y., ISHIKAWA, O. & KURABAYASHI, M. 2004. Effects of aging, menopause, and hormone replacement therapy on forearm skin elasticity in women. *J Am Geriatr Soc*, 52, 945-9.
- THORNTON, M. J., TAYLOR, A. H., MULLIGAN, K., AL-AZZAWI, F., LYON, C. C., O'DRISCOLL, J. & MESSENGER, A. G. 2003a. The distribution of estrogen receptor beta is distinct to that of estrogen receptor alpha and the androgen receptor in human skin and the pilosebaceous unit. *J Investig Dermatol Symp Proc*, *8*, 100-3.
- THORNTON, M. J., TAYLOR, A. H., MULLIGAN, K., AL-AZZAWI, F., LYON, C. C., O'DRISCOLL, J. & MESSENGER, A. G. 2003b. Oestrogen receptor beta is the predominant oestrogen receptor in human scalp skin. *Exp Dermatol*, **12**, 181-90.
- TOUTAIN, C. E., BROUCHET, L., RAYMOND-LETRON, I., VICENDO, P., BERGES, H., FAVRE, J., FOUQUE, M. J., KRUST, A., SCHMITT, A. M., CHAMBON, P., GOURDY, P., ARNAL, J. F. & LENFANT, F. 2009. Prevention of skin flap necrosis by estradiol involves reperfusion of a protected vascular network. *Circ Res*, 104, 245-54, 12p following 254.
- VERDIER-SEVRAIN, S., BONTE, F. & GILCHREST, B. 2006. Biology of estrogens in skin: implications for skin aging. *Exp Dermatol*, 15, 83-94.
- VERDIER-SEVRAIN, S., YAAR, M., CANTATORE, J., TRAISH, A. & GILCHREST, B. A. 2004. Estradiol induces proliferation of keratinocytes via a receptor mediated mechanism. *FASEB J*, 18, 1252-4.
- ZHANG, M., PIERCE, R. A., WACHI, H., MECHAM, R. P. & PARKS, W. C. 1999. An open reading frame element mediates posttranscriptional regulation of tropoelastin and responsiveness to transforming growth factor beta1. *Mol Cell Biol*, 19, 7314-26.
- ZHAO, Q., SHEN,X., ZHANG, W.,ZHU, G., QI, J., DENG. L. 2012. Mice with increased angiogenesis and osteogenesis due to conditional activation of HIF pathway in osteoblasts are protected from ovariectomy induced bone loss. *Bone*, 50 763-770



5.7 Supplemental figures

Supplemental figure 5.1 Relative change in dermal elastic fibre quantity (area) at 7 weeks post Ovariectomy (Ovx) or following co-treatment with 17beta-estradiol (E), ER α agonist (PPT) and ER β agonist DPN. Data are shown relative to intact (non-ovariectomised) mice. n=5-6, mean +/- SEM. *p<0.05



Supplemental figure 5.2 Elastic fibres in healing 14 day wound bed (A) Area of unrestored elastic fibres in 14 day wounds following 7 weeks of ovx (B) the density of restored elastic fibres at the wound edge . n=5-6, mean +/- SEM. *p<0.05



Supplemental figure 5.3 Estrogen receptor expression 7 weeks Ovx (A) Gene expression if estrogen receptor alpha following 7 weeks of Ovx plus treatment with 17beta estradiol (E) ERalpha agoinist PPT or ER beta agoinist DPN (B) Gene expression if estrogen receptor alpha following 7 weeks of Ovx plus treatment with 17beta estradiol (E) ERalpha agoinist PPT or ER beta agoinist DPN . n=5-6, mean +/- SEM.



Supplemental figure 5.4 The effects of haircycle on adipose depth blue bars are samples in telogen only purple bars samples in anagen at 3 weeks post-Ovx n= 5 mice per group. Mice in anagen Int=0, Ovx=4, E=0, PPT=1 DPN=4

Chapter 6 Discussion

6 Discussion

Over the past century average life expectancy in the UK has increased by 34 years for men and 30 years for women and is predicted to continue to rise over the next decades (Hicks, 1999). With the average age of the population now higher than ever there is an urgent need to understand more about healthy ageing.

One of the most obvious external signs of ageing, is the appearance of the skin which becomes increasingly wrinkled with signs of dryness and laxity. Functionally, aged skin becomes weaker and more susceptible to damage. In females one of the key life events which accelerates this ageing phenotype is the menopause (Verdier-Sevrain et al., 2006), which results in a dramatic fall in the levels of circulating estrogen. Skin ageing is therefore correlated with the level of circulating estrogen. Evidence that HRT can reduce these detrimental effects, suggest that this correlation may be due to a causal link (Hall and Phillips, 2005, Brincat, 2000, Brincat et al., 1987).

When examined histologically, intrinsically aged skin is characterised by dermal atrophy, a reduction in cell numbers and a flattening of the dermal epidermal junction (Gilchrest, 1982). There is reported to be loss of the ECM components such as collagen and elastic fibres (Fenske and Lober, 1986, El-Domyati et al., 2002) an increase in MMP activity and a reduction in fibroblast function (Pimienta and Pascual, 2007, Jenkins, 2002, Langton et al., 2009). Indeed it is the ECM proteins which endow tissues with their mechanical properties, with the fibrillar collagens conferring tensile strength which is complemented by the elastic fibres which allow tissues to passively recoil following deformation (Kielty et al., 2002a). The mechanical properties of tissues are vital for their function, this is especially apparent in elastic tissues such as those which make up the cardiovascular and respiratory systems and Robert *et al* (Robert et al., 2008) went so far as to suggest that it is the elastic fibres which will ultimately determine lifespan. Importantly the skin acts as the external, visual, tissue however due to similarities in the structure of other tissues it is likely that they will also be affected in similar ways.

The key observations that i) ageing leads to alterations in mechanical properties of skin which in turn inducing wrinkling and ii) there is a rapid increase in the signs of skin ageing reported at the time of menopause in women which is reduced by HRT (Verdier-Sevrain et al., 2006, Brincat, 2000, Pierard et al., 1995a) lead us to test the hypothesis that: estrogen deprivation is a key driver of skin ageing leading to alterations in ECM proteins and mechanical function which mimics chronological ageing

6.1 Acute estrogen deficiency leads to rapid loss of dermal elastic fibres chapter 3

There have been a limited number of human studies which have measured elastic fibres in postmenopausal women. A notable study found elastic fibres to be prematurely degraded in a cohort of women in early menopause (Bolognia et al., 1989) there have been two studies of topical estrogen treatment reporting improvements in the elastic fibres. The first found local improvement in the size and concentration of elastic fibres following 3 weeks of treatment (Punnonen et al., 1987) and a second study reports improved morphology following 3 months treatment (Varila et al., 1995). However there have also been studies of longer term (6-12months) systemic estrogen treatment which did not find improvements in the elastic fibres (Sauerbronn et al., 2000, Haapasaari et al., 1997). Non-invasive studies have also been employed to measure skin extensibility as a measure of the elastic properties and report that skin extensibility increases with age and elasticity can be improved with HRT (Pierard et al., 1995a, Henry et al., 1997, Sator et al., 2001)

This conflicting data leaves many unanswered questions in the area of estrogen and the elastic fibres. Chapter 3 sought to determine if acute estrogen deprivation does indeed lead to ECM remodelling and alterations in mechanical properties of the skin, in particular changes in elastic fibres and if the mechanisms driving this are degradative or synthetic.

To address this, the Ovx mouse was used as an animal model of human menopause. Collected tissue was used to measure gross mechanical changes with corresponding histological and molecular analysis. Additionally human dermal fibroblasts were employed to assess the potential of estrogen to induce direct synthesis of ECM components in human cells.

The data presented in this chapter highlights the dramatic effect of estrogen deprivation on the mechanical properties of the skin, particularly the tensile strength, which is significantly reduced, with corresponding alterations in the Young's modulus and viscoelastic properties. The speed and severity of these effects support the reported steep increase in skin extensibility in the perimenopausal period (Pierard et al., 1995a). We have identified that, in contrast to fibrillar collagen, elastic fibres and their component proteins are highly sensitive to estrogen levels with estrogen deprivation leading to a dramatic reduction in elastic fibre abundance. Mechanistically we have identified significant adipose hypertrophy in estrogen deprived tissue as a potential key driver of this loss of elastic fibres. First identified by Ezure *et al* (Ezure and Amano, 2015) as a negative correlation between human BMI and elastic fibres, linked to increased MMP9 from enlarged adipocytes. Additionally we note increased gelatinase activity in the early stages of estrogen deprivation. Taken together this makes an unfavourable

environment for elastic fibres compounded by the fact that estrogen acts to dampen MMP activity (Ashcroft et al., 1999) and oxidative stress (Hernandez et al., 2000) to which microfibrils are highly sensitive (Sherratt et al., 2010, Hibbert et al., 2015) Leading on from the findings that estrogen deprivation leads to reduction in elastic fibres raises the complementary question, which is potentially even more interesting. That is if estrogen treatment is able to induce new elastic fibres. Treatment of human dermal fibroblasts with estrogen leads to induction of many of the proteins involved in the synthesis of new elastic fibres (Fibrillin-1, EMILIN1 and 2, Fibulin-2 and tropoelastin) and suggests estrogen may have the potential to induce deposition of new functional elastic fibres in human skin, an interesting area for further investigation. This evidence challenges a long standing dogma that elastic fibres are laid down during development and persist for a lifetime as a relatively static system and instead paints a picture of a dynamic and highly sensitive protein family. Additionally the use of human cells is important in highlighting the translation of the research from murine to human. If the elastic fibres are indeed able to be restored by estrogen treatment this could have a major impact on maintaining healthy tissues.

6.2 Acute estrogen deficiency is a key driver of age associated dermal protein loss chapter 4

The focus of Chapter 4 was to determine if estrogen deprivation is a key driver of age associated skin phenotype. Studies of human skin and menopause have identified a number of similarities to chronological skin ageing, such as dryness, atrophy, epidermal thinning, loss of collagen and increased wrinkling (Reviewed in Hall and Phillips, 2005). However in human studies it is impossible to distinguish between the effects of age and estrogen deficiency as they occur simultaneously. Direct comparison of chronologically aged and Ovx mouse skin gross mechanics, dermal proteome and histology was used to build a detailed picture of these two states.

Age and estrogen deficiency had opposing effects on the mechanical properties of the skin with age leading to increased tensile strength, Young's modulus and stress relaxation time, whereas estrogen deprivation led to decreased tensile strength, Young's modulus and stress relaxation time. These alterations suggest estrogen deprived skin is less able to withstand tension and more easily damaged, in line with the reported increase in skin slackness post-menopause (Pierard et al., 1995a) however the mechanical data for aged skin in the literature has inconsistencies, due to large variations in methodology (Moronkeji and Akhtar, 2015) it is generally accepted that age leads to tissue stiffening (higher Young's modulus) (Sherratt, 2013). In contrast the effects on the dermal proteome were synonymous between aged and Ovx samples. The majority of proteins were decreased with the notable exception of fibrillar collagens which increased. Only Ovx led to statistically significant alterations and also affected a

larger number of proteins, suggesting this has a greater or more consistent effect than ageing. The elastic fibre and SLRP protein families were particularly sensitive to estrogen deprivation which may have an effect on skin hydration and laxity both of which are reported to be affected post-menopausally (Sator et al., 2001). Histological analysis confirmed more severe loss of the elastic fibres following estrogen deprivation than age, however no alterations were observed in collagen staining, longer term studies do report alterations in collagen with estrogen deprivation (Fang et al., 2012, Polito et al., 2012) suggesting this time point may be too short for collagen alterations and highlighting how rapidly the elastic fibres are affected. As the mechanical properties are principally attributed to the ECM proteins (Muiznieks and Keeley, 2013, Gosline et al., 2002) it was expected that mechanics and protein abundance would correlate, however evidence from this study emphasised that the abundance of ECM proteins is not correlated with the mechanical properties of the tissue. The presence of age associated protein modifications such as advanced glycation end products may explain the differences in the mechanical properties, as they are known to increase collagen stiffness (Verzijl et al., 2002). This data has revealed that acute estrogen deprivation has severe effects on the dermal proteome, more so than chronological ageing. It maybe that in humans there are severe effects in the perimenopausal period and compensatory mechanisms restore the dermal proteins via an alternative pathway, such as ligand independent ER signalling (Emmerson et al., 2012). The study has confirmed that both elastic fibre proteins and SLRP's are highly sensitive to estrogen levels in line with reports from human studies of menopause, which find both loss of elasticity and increased dryness (Verdier-Sevrain et al., 2006, Sator et al., 2001), properties conferred by these two protein families respectively (Chen and Birk, 2013, Kielty et al., 2002a). Surprisingly what was also apparent from this study is how little correlation lies between ECM abundance and mechanical properties.

6.3 Signalling via estrogen receptor alpha may have important roles in the

maintenance of elastic fibres during acute estrogen deficiency chapter 5

HRT has been reported to have many positive effects in revealing many of the symptoms of menopause in both the short term and longer term maintenance of the health of many tissues including skin, bone, cardiovascular system (Sator et al., 2001, Mosekilde et al., 2000, Greendale et al., 1996). However it also has negative effects and has been linked to increased risk of breast, ovarian and womb cancer making it a far less appealing option for many women in the long term (Beral, 2003, Beral et al., 2007). It is clear that estrogen signalling plays roles in a huge variety of signalling pathways and has disparate effects in tissues. This drives an urgent need to understand estrogen signalling more fully to allow development of pharmacological intervention in a much more targeted manner. Estrogen is known to signal via 2 distinct receptors ERα and

ER β (Heldring et al., 2007). These offer the possibility of more targeted treatment and there has been much interest in the development of SERMS (Maximov et al., 2013). Chapter 5 investigated the potential of differential roles for the distinct estrogen receptors in the observed estrogen mediated effects on elastic fibres which emerged in chapter 3. Specific ER agonist (PPT and DPN) were employed in the Ovx mouse to offer a first insight in to the mechanism by which estrogen signalling may contribute to the maintenance or induction of elastic fibres. Additionally the possibility of human translation and the ability of treatments to directly induce elastic fibre proteins in human dermal fibroblasts were explored. Evidence provided in chapter 5 suggests that in the mouse, signalling through ERa may be responsible for up-regulation of elastic fibre proteins and additionally evidence from the ER α null mice suggest signalling via this receptor in necessary for the normal development and/or maintenance of elastic fibres. An additional key finding from this study is that ER α signalling is important in the regulation of adipocytes and sufficient to prevent estrogen deficiency induced adipocyte hypertrophy, which is emerging as a possible mechanism by which elastic fibres are degraded (Ezure and Amano, 2015). Evidence from human cell culture revealed an initial early induction of elastic fibre proteins by both PPT and DPN however at a later time point DPN signalling had a stronger effect. This highlights that signalling via ER's has direct influence on the induction of elastic fibre proteins and suggests there may be dose dependent or biphasic effects with the different treatments. Previously treatments with SERMS have been found to alter ER expression differently dependent on the length of treatment (Haczynski et al., 2004) further highlighting the complexity of estrogen signalling. The dominance of ER β in human skin may also offer an explanation for the apparent difference in the murine model and human cells (Thornton et al., 2003). Importantly there are direct effects on the fibroblast and elastic fibre proteins which would warrant further study.

Table 6.1 Overall conclusions

		Estrogen +Ve	Estrogen -Ve	Aged
Composition	Elastic Fibres	Slight increase	Large decrease	Slight decrease
	Elastic fibre proteins	Induced	Decreased	Decreased
	Collagen histology	Unchanged	Unchanged	Unchanged
	Collagen Mass spec	-	Increased	Increased
	SLRP's	-	Decreased	Decreased
				expt (Bgn)
Structure	Epidermal thickness	Unchanged	Unchanged	Unchanged
	Dermis thickness	Unchanged	Unchanged	Unchanged
	Subcutaneous Adipose	Decreased	Large increase	Increased
Mechanics	Breaking Strain	Maintained	Decreased	Increased
	Young's modulus	-	Decreased	Increased
	Stress relaxation time	-	Decreased	Increased
Mechanisms		ERa signalling	Increased	Increased AGE
		maintains elastic	gelatinise	associated
		fibres and	activity and	crosslinking
		decreases	adipose	may affect
		adipose	hypertrophy	influence
				mechanics

6.4 Overall conclusions

At the beginning of this thesis evidence from studies of postmenopausal skin and HRT suggested that estrogen levels correlated to ageing phenotype. (Verdier-Sevrain et al., 2006) With HRT reported to improve age associated epidermal thinning, hydration and collagen content (Hall and Phillips, 2005, Pierard et al., 1995a, Sauerbronn et al., 2000, Brincat et al., 1987). It is known that elasticity of skin can be improved by hormone replacement therapy (Pierard et al., 1995a, Sumino et al., 2004) and a very small study noted deterioration of the elastic fibres in early menopause (Bolognia et al., 1989). Along with collagen and elastic fibres other dermal components such as polysaccharides, hyaluronic acid and sebum are also increased by estrogen (Grosman et al., 1971, Danforth et al., 1974, Callens et al., 1996). Collagen has certainly been the primary focus of many studies, implicated as the main mediator in the development of skin wrinkles and principally responsible for mechanical properties (Verdier-Sevrain et al., 2006, Contet-Audonneau et al., 1999, Bosset et al., 2002). Leaving much less known about the elastic fibres in this context, however an early study related age related mechanical changes to alterations in the elastic fibre network (Daly and Odland, 1979). Mechanistically topical estrogen is able to induce expression of collagen, fibrillin and tropoelastin in human skin as well as 134

reducing MMP 1 (Son et al., 2005) At a cellular level estrogen can stimulate keratinocyte proliferation, inhibit apoptosis and protect both keratinocytes and fibroblasts from oxidative damage (Kanda and Watanabe, 2004, Kanda and Watanabe, 2003, Bottai et al., 2013). Despite a long history of investigation, a detailed study of the effects of acute estrogen deficiency on the mechanical properties of skin and direct comparison to the ECM proteins to our knowledge had not been carried out.

We have identified that the elastic fibre proteins are among the most sensitive to estrogen levels, being rapidly lost from the dermis following acute estrogen deprivation and highly induced in estrogen treated dermal fibroblasts. Estrogen deficiency initially leads to an up regulation of gelatinase activity at least in the initial 3 week period. This could, in part, be as a consequence of significant subcutaneous adipocyte hypertrophy which has been linked to increased MMP 9 production and elastic fibre degradation (Ezure and Amano, 2015). Crucially we have identified signalling via ER α is able to fully protect against Ovx induced increase in adipose tissue along with induction of fibrillin-1 and protection of elastic fibre homeostasis in Ovx tissue, offering a first insight for development of pharmacological intervention. A study of the dermal proteome during estrogen deficiency and supplementation confirmed the ECM proteins to be highly sensitive to estrogen levels having a greater and more consistent effect than age alone. The SLRP's stood out as particularly estrogen sensitive which may help explain both the alterations in skin hydration reported post menopause and also the alterations in skin collagen which require SLRP's for correct formation and protection (Chakravarti et al., 1998, Danielson et al., 1997, Geng et al., 2006). The study found that both age and estrogen deficiency affected the dermal proteome in a similar ways driving a general loss of proteins with the exception of fibrillar collagen. Intriguingly it also became apparent that the effects on the mechanical properties were opposing in all measured parameters. This not only raised interesting questions about the differences in the two states but also illustrated no correlation between protein abundance and mechanics.

6.5 Impact

The importance of maintaining health in later life has never been more pertinent with people living longer the pressures on the NHS are only set to increase. The possibility of maintaining healthier function of not only the skin but also other elastic fibre rich tissues such as the lungs and cardiovascular system could transform the health of the postmenopausal population dramatically and relieve pressures on the NHS and social care system. The elasticity of the arteries is critical for their function and the largest arteries close to the heart have the highest amount of elastic fibres. If the dramatic loss of elastic fibers we have observed in the skin following seven weeks of estrogen deprivation is indeed replicated in the blood vessels this would have a huge impact on the function. Evidence from the literature suggests that this is indeed the case with a higher risk of cardiovascular disease post menopause (Gordon et al., 1978, Kannel et al., 1976) which is reduced by HRT (Greendale et al., 1996). This strengthens the use of the Ovx mouse to model menopause as well as the transferability of discoveries from one elastic rich tissue being applicable to others. As the use of estrogen therapeutically has been linked to an increased risk of certain cancers the development of SERMs is perhaps a more interesting option. Evidence provided in chapter 5 that the elastic fibres can be maintained thorough distinct estrogen receptor signalling provides a promising beginning for future pharmacological developments.

6.6 Effects on original hypothesis

At the beginning of this work the hypothesis was that estrogen deprivation is a key driver of ageing phenotype and would have effects on both the mechanical properties and the ECM proteins in a way consistent with age.

It has been proven that estrogen deprivation indeed has drastic consequences for the ECM proteins, apparently even more detrimental than the effects of ageing and that the elastic fibres are especially susceptible to estrogen levels. The study has highlighted opposing effects of the two states on the mechanical properties of the tissue. This was surprising when the effects on the dermal proteome were so similar, and raised a very interesting theme that the mechanical properties do not correlate with the abundance of either fibrillar collagen or elastic fibres. The data supports the hypothesis that estrogen deprivation is a key driver of age associated ECM loss however this does not model the mechanical effects of ageing

6.7 Further work

This work has provided evidence that the ECM proteins are highly sensitive to estrogen levels especially the elastic fibre proteins however many important questions still remain

What are the mechanisms leading to loss of elastic fibres?

This study has shown potential increase in geleatinase activity in the estrogen deprived tissue may be driving the loss of elastic fibres, however the gelatinases responsible have not been identified. Directed IHC staining and qPCR to identify increases in specific ECM degrading enzymes MMPs, caspases, elastases could offer a better understanding of the mechanisms of degradation. Adiopocyte hypertrophy has also been highlighted as a potential driver of elastic fibre loss however we have not provided direct evidence for this. Further investigation into this using adipocyte cell culture and also specific harvesting of the adipose tissue for zymography experiments could dissect if estrogen deprived adipocytes are producing increased gelatinases. A third mechanism which may be at play is that of oxidative damage, this could be measured from its consequences such as increased protein carbonyls in Ovx tissue.

Is estrogen and/or PPT treatment able to induce new functional elastic fibres?

This study demonstrated estrogen supplementation is able to protect elastic fibres from Ovx associated loss and also able to induce key elastic fibre proteins. However has not provided direct evidence that estrogen can induce new functional elastic fibres. To address this key question, mice would be Ovx'd for 7 weeks to induce elastic fibre loss and then treated with estrogen or PPT for a period of 4 weeks. Histological analysis along with mechanical testing would be carried out the asses if the elastic fibres had been restored and if the mechanical properties were also equal to control tissue.

What is driving the differences in age and Ovx associated mechanical properties?

Intriguing evidence presented illustrated a lack of correlation between ECM abundance and mechanical properties. A potential explanation for this is the presence of post-translational modifications such as AGE associated cross links. This presents an area for further investigation which could utilise a mass spectrometry approach to identify specific post translational modifications.

Following on from these specific questions investigation into Selective estrogen receptor modulators (SERMS) is an obvious area to develop this research as these are developed to be far more specific than HRT reducing the risks of systemic estrogen signalling (Maximov et al., 2013) and one, raloxifene, has already shown promise in increasing elasticity of forearm skin (Sumino et al., 2009). The area of phytoestrogens, which are plant based compounds which mimic estrogen, is also a very appealing area for further research. Plants such a soybeans are rich in phytoestrogens and it has been suggested that the high levels of soy in Asian diets is linked to the lower rates of cardiovascular disease, bone fracture and menopausal symptoms (Tham et al., 1998). Phytoestogens have also been implicated in the reduction of skin ageing via their antioxidant properties and activation of ER β (Jackson et al., 2011). The idea of a natural estrogen replacement removes many of the concerns of pharmacological interventions therefore offering

a safer alternative. Suggestion from this study is that induction of the elastic fibres may well be more responsive to signalling though ERa. This could offer the potential for more targeted approach to specific maintenance of elastic tissues.

Another key area for investigation would be to look into the other elastic fibre rich tissues such as the arteries and lungs to assess if these findings are indeed preserved in other tissues. This would both highlight other areas for concern in postmenopausal health and potential areas for development of treatments along with determining the applicability of skin research into other ECM rich tissues and the transferability of findings. Of course the most pressing question in many areas of research is how applicable are the findings from murine studies to human health. It would therefore be of utmost importance to consider utilising human tissues to confirm the findings.

Overall acute estrogen deprivation leads to dramatic loss of ECM proteins especially the elastic fibres. This is likely to be driven by a combination of anabolic and catabolic mechanisms such as heightened gelatinase activity driven by subcutaneous adipocyte hypertrophy and a loss of elastic fibre protein induction which may be maintained via ERα signalling.

6.8 References

- ABE, R., DONNELLY, S. C., PENG, T., BUCALA, R. & METZ, C. N. 2001. Peripheral blood fibrocytes: differentiation pathway and migration to wound sites. *J Immunol*, 166, 7556-62.
- ALLEN, E. & E.A, D. 1923. An ovarian hormone prelimiary report on its localization, extraction and partial purification, and action in test animals *Jama*, 81, 819-821.
- ANTAL, M. C., KRUST, A., CHAMBON, P. & MARK, M. 2008. Sterility and absence of histopathological defects in nonreproductive organs of a mouse ERbeta-null mutant. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 105, 2433-8.
- ASHCROFT, G. S. & ASHWORTH, J. J. 2003. Potential role of estrogens in wound healing. *Am J Clin Dermatol*, 4, 737-43.
- ASHCROFT, G. S., DODSWORTH, J., VAN BOXTEL, E., TARNUZZER, R. W., HORAN, M. A., SCHULTZ, G. S. & FERGUSON, M. W. 1997. Estrogen accelerates cutaneous wound healing associated with an increase in TGF-beta1 levels. *Nat Med*, **3**, 1209-15.
- ASHCROFT, G. S., GREENWELL-WILD, T., HORAN, M. A., WAHL, S. M. & FERGUSON, M. W. 1999. Topical estrogen accelerates cutaneous wound healing in aged humans associated with an altered inflammatory response. *Am J Pathol*, 155, 1137-46.
- BAILEY, A. J. 2001. Molecular mechanisms of ageing in connective tissues. *Mech Ageing Dev*, 122, 735-55.
- BALDOCK, C., KOSTER, A. J., ZIESE, U., ROCK, M. J., SHERRATT, M. J., KADLER, K. E., SHUTTLEWORTH, C. A. & KIELTY, C. M. 2001. The supramolecular organization of fibrillin-rich microfibrils. J Cell Biol, 152, 1045-56.
- BATISSE, D., BAZIN, R., BALDEWECK, T., QUERLEUX, B. & LEVEQUE, J. L. 2002. Influence of age on the wrinkling capacities of skin. *Skin Res Technol*, **8**, 148-54.
- BERAL, V. 2003. Breast cancer and hormone-replacement therapy in the Million Women Study. *Lancet*, 362, 419-27.
- BERAL, V., BULL, D., GREEN, J. & REEVES, G. 2007. Ovarian cancer and hormone replacement therapy in the Million Women Study. *Lancet*, 369, 1703-10.
- BINIEK, K., LEVI, K. & DAUSKARDT, R. H. 2012. Solar UV radiation reduces the barrier function of human skin. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 109, 17111-6.
- BIRK, D. E. & BRUCKNER, P. 2005. Collagen suprastructures. Collagen, 247, 185-205.
- BIRK, D. E. & P, B. 2005. Collagen Suprastructures. Top Curr Chem, 247, 185-205.
- BJORKSTEN, J. 1968. The crosslinkage theory of aging. J Am Geriatr Soc, 16, 408-27.
- BOCKAMP, E., MARINGER, M., SPANGENBERG, C., FEES, S., FRASER, S., ESHKIND, L., OESCH, F. & ZABEL, B. 2002. Of mice and models: improved animal models for biomedical research. *Physiol Genomics*, **11**, 115-32.
- BOLOGNIA, J. L., BRAVERMAN, I. M., ROUSSEAU, M. E. & SARREL, P. M. 1989. Skin changes in menopause. *Maturitas*, 11, 295-304.
- BOSSET, S., BARRE, P., CHALON, A., KURFURST, R., BONTE, F., ANDRE, P., PERRIER, P., DISANT, F., LE VARLET, B. & NICOLAS, J. F. 2002. Skin ageing: clinical and histopathologic study of permanent and reducible wrinkles. *Eur J Dermatol*, 12, 247-52.
- BOTTAI, G., MANCINA, R., MURATORI, M., DI GENNARO, P. & LOTTI, T. 2013. 17beta-estradiol protects human skin fibroblasts and keratinocytes against oxidative damage. *J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol*, 27, 1236-43.
- BRESSAN, G. M., DAGA-GORDINI, D., COLOMBATTI, A., CASTELLANI, I., MARIGO, V. & VOLPIN, D. 1993. Emilin, a component of elastic fibers preferentially located at the elastinmicrofibrils interface. J Cell Biol, 121, 201-12.
- BRINCAT, M. P. 2000. Hormone replacement therapy and the skin. *Maturitas*, 35, 107-17.
- BRINCAT, M., MONIZ, C. J., STUDD, J. W., DARBY, A., MAGOS, A., EMBUREY, G. & VERSI, E. 1985. Long-term effects of the menopause and sex hormones on skin thickness. *Br J Obstet Gynaecol*, 92, 256-9.
- BRINCAT, M., VERSI, E., MONIZ, C. F., MAGOS, A., DE TRAFFORD, J. & STUDD, J. W. 1987. Skin collagen changes in postmenopausal women receiving different regimens of estrogen therapy. *Obstet Gynecol*, 70, 123-7.

- BRINKMANN, V., REICHARD, U., GOOSMANN, C., FAULER, B., UHLEMANN, Y., WEISS, D. S., WEINRAUCH, Y. & ZYCHLINSKY, A. 2004. Neutrophil extracellular traps kill bacteria. *Science*, 303, 1532-5.
- BURGESON, R. E. & CHRISTIANO, A. M. 1997. The dermal-epidermal junction. *Curr Opin Cell Biol*, 9, 651-8.
- CALLENS, A., VAILLANT, L., LECOMTE, P., BERSON, M., GALL, Y. & LORETTE, G. 1996. Does hormonal skin aging exist? A study of the influence of different hormone therapy regimens on the skin of postmenopausal women using non-invasive measurement techniques. *Dermatology*, 193, 289-94.
- CAMPBELL, L., EMMERSON, E., DAVIES, F., GILLIVER, S. C., KRUST, A., CHAMBON, P., ASHCROFT, G. S. & HARDMAN, M. J. 2010. Estrogen promotes cutaneous wound healing via estrogen receptor beta independent of its antiinflammatory activities. *J Exp Med*, 207, 1825-33.
- CAMPBELL, L., EMMERSON, E., WILLIAMS, H., SAVILLE, C. R., KRUST, A., CHAMBON, P., MACE, K. A. & HARDMAN, M. J. 2014. Estrogen receptor-alpha promotes alternative macrophage activation during cutaneous repair. J Invest Dermatol, 134, 2447-57.
- CAMPISI, J. 2013 Aging, Cellular Senescence, and Cancer. Annu Rev Physiol, 75, 685-705
- CARMEAN, C.M., CHOEN, R.N., BRADY, M.J. 2013 Systemic regulation of adipose metabolism biochimBiophys Acta
- CHAKRAVARTI, S., MAGNUSON, T., LASS, J. H., JEPSEN, K. J., LAMANTIA, C. & CARROLL, H. 1998. Lumican regulates collagen fibril assembly: skin fragility and corneal opacity in the absence of lumican. *J Cell Biol*, 141, 1277-86.
- CHANG, K. C., WANG, Y., OH, I. G., JENKINS, S., FREEDMAN, L. P., THOMPSON, C. C., CHUNG, J. H.
 & NAGPAL, S. 2010. Estrogen receptor beta is a novel therapeutic target for photoaging. *Mol Pharmacol*, 77, 744-50.
- CHASE, H.B., MONTAGNA, W., MALONE, J.D 1953 Changes in the skin in relation to the hair growth cycle Anat Rec116 75-81
- CHASE, H.B. 1954 Growth of the hair Physiol Rev 34 113-126
- CHEN, S. & BIRK, D. E. 2013. The regulatory roles of small leucine-rich proteoglycans in extracellular matrix assembly. *FEBS J*, 280, 2120-37.
- CHOLERIS, E., OGAWA, S., KAVALIERS, M., GUSTAFSSON, J. A., KORACH, K. S., MUGLIA, L. J. & PFAFF, D. W. 2006. Involvement of estrogen receptor alpha, beta and oxytocin in social discrimination: A detailed behavioral analysis with knockout female mice. *Genes Brain Behav*, 5, 528-39.
- CHRISTOPH, T., MULLER-ROVER, S., AUDRING, H., TOBIN, D.J., HERMES, B., COSTARELIS, G., RUKERT, R., PAUS, R. 2000 An extended epidermal response heals cutaneous wounds in the absence of a hair follicle stem cell contribution. *Br J Dermatol* 142 862-73
- CICATIELLO, L., COBELLIS, G., ADDEO, R., PAPA, M., ALTUCCI, L., SICA, V., BRESCIANI, F., LEMEUR, M., KUMAR, V. L., CHAMBON, P. & ET AL. 1995. In vivo functional analysis of the mouse estrogen receptor gene promoter: a transgenic mouse model to study tissue-specific and developmental regulation of estrogen receptor gene transcription. *Mol Endocrinol*, 9, 1077-90.
- CONTET-AUDONNEAU, J. L., JEANMAIRE, C. & PAULY, G. 1999. A histological study of human wrinkle structures: comparison between sun-exposed areas of the face, with or without wrinkles, and sun-protected areas. *Br J Dermatol*, 140, 1038-47.
- COTTA-PEREIRA, G., GUERRA RODRIGO, F. & BITTENCOURT-SAMPAIO, S. 1976. Oxytalan, elaunin, and elastic fibers in the human skin. *J Invest Dermatol*, 66, 143-8.
- CREIDI, P., FAIVRE, B., AGACHE, P., RICHARD, E., HAUDIQUET, V. & SAUVANET, J. P. 1994. Effect of a conjugated oestrogen (Premarin) cream on ageing facial skin. A comparative study with a placebo cream. *Maturitas*, 19, 211-23.
- CUMBERBATCH, M., DEARMAN, R. J., GRIFFITHS, C. E. & KIMBER, I. 2000. Langerhans cell migration. *Clin Exp Dermatol*, 25, 413-8.

- DALY, C. H. & ODLAND, G. F. 1979. Age-related changes in the mechanical properties of human skin. *J Invest Dermatol*, 73, 84-7.
- DANFORTH, D. N., VEIS, A., BREEN, M., WEINSTEIN, H. G., BUCKINGHAM, J. C. & MANALO, P. 1974. The effect of pregnancy and labor on the human cervix: changes in collagen, glycoproteins, and glycosaminoglycans. *Am J Obstet Gynecol*, 120, 641-51.
- DANIELSON, K. G., BARIBAULT, H., HOLMES, D. F., GRAHAM, H., KADLER, K. E. & IOZZO, R. V. 1997. Targeted disruption of decorin leads to abnormal collagen fibril morphology and skin fragility. J Cell Biol, 136, 729-43.
- DAVID A. D. PARRY, J. S. 2005. Fibrous Proteins: Coiled-coils, Collagen and Elastomers, USA, Elsevier.
- DAVIDSON, J. M. 1998. Animal models for wound repair. Arch Dermatol Res, 290 Suppl, S1-11.
- DENDA, M., KOYAMA, J., HORI, J., HORII, I., TAKAHASHI, M., HARA, M. & TAGAMI, H. 1993. Ageand sex-dependent change in stratum corneum sphingolipids. *Arch Dermatol Res*, 285, 415-7.
- DEONARINE, K., PANELLI, M. C., STASHOWER, M. E., JIN, P., SMITH, K., SLADE, H. B., NORWOOD, C., WANG, E., MARINCOLA, F. M. & STRONCEK, D. F. 2007. Gene expression profiling of cutaneous wound healing. *J Transl Med*, 5, 11.
- DOLIANA, R., MONGIAT, M., BUCCIOTTI, F., GIACOMELLO, E., DEUTZMANN, R., VOLPIN, D., BRESSAN, G. M. & COLOMBATTI, A. 1999. EMILIN, a component of the elastic fiber and a new member of the C1q/tumor necrosis factor superfamily of proteins. *J Biol Chem*, 274, 16773-81.
- DORSETT-MARTIN, W. A. 2004. Rat models of skin wound healing: a review. *Wound Repair Regen*, 12, 591-9.
- DOUGLAS, T., HEINEMANN, S., BIERBAUM, S., SCHARNWEBER, D. & WORCH, H. 2006. Fibrillogenesis of collagen types I, II, and III with small leucine-rich proteoglycans decorin and biglycan. *Biomacromolecules*, **7**, 2388-93.
- DOVI, J. V., SZPADERSKA, A. M. & DIPIETRO, L. A. 2004. Neutrophil function in the healing wound: adding insult to injury? *Thromb Haemost*, 92, 275-80.
- DOWNING, A. K., KNOTT, V., WERNER, J. M., CARDY, C. M., CAMPBELL, I. D. & HANDFORD, P. A. 1996. Solution structure of a pair of calcium-binding epidermal growth factor-like domains: implications for the Marfan syndrome and other genetic disorders. *Cell*, 85, 597-605.
- DRISKELL, R.R., JAHODA, C.A.B., CHUONG, C., WATT, F.M., HORSLEY, V. 2014 Defining dermal adipose tissue *Exp derrm* 23, 629-631
- DUNN, L. B., DAMESYN, M., MOORE, A. A., REUBEN, D. B. & GREENDALE, G. A. 1997. Does estrogen prevent skin aging? Results from the First National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES I). *Arch Dermatol*, 133, 339-42.
- DUPONT, S., KRUST, A., GANSMULLER, A., DIERICH, A., CHAMBON, P. & MARK, M. 2000. Effect of single and compound knockouts of estrogen receptors alpha (ERalpha) and beta (ERbeta) on mouse reproductive phenotypes. *Development*, 127, 4277-91.
- ECKERT, R. L. & RORKE, E. A. 1989. Molecular biology of keratinocyte differentiation. *Environ Health Perspect*, 80, 109-16.
- EL-DOMYATI, M., ATTIA, S., SALEH, F., BROWN, D., BIRK, D. E., GASPARRO, F., AHMAD, H. & UITTO, J. 2002. Intrinsic aging vs. photoaging: a comparative histopathological, immunohistochemical, and ultrastructural study of skin. *Exp Dermatol*, 11, 398-405.
- EMING, S. A., KRIEG, T. & DAVIDSON, J. M. 2007. Inflammation in wound repair: molecular and cellular mechanisms. *J Invest Dermatol*, 127, 514-25.
- EMMEN, J. M. & KORACH, K. S. 2003. Estrogen receptor knockout mice: phenotypes in the female reproductive tract. *Gynecol Endocrinol*, **17**, 169-76.
- EMMERSON, E. & HARDMAN, M. J. 2012. The role of estrogen deficiency in skin ageing and wound healing. *Biogerontology*, 13, 3-20.

- EMMERSON, E., CAMPBELL, L., ASHCROFT, G. S. & HARDMAN, M. J. 2009. Unique and synergistic roles for 17beta-estradiol and macrophage migration inhibitory factor during cutaneous wound closure are cell type specific. *Endocrinology*, 150, 2749-57.
- EMMERSON, E., CAMPBELL, L., ASHCROFT, G. S. & HARDMAN, M. J. 2010. The phytoestrogen genistein promotes wound healing by multiple independent mechanisms. *Mol Cell Endocrinol*, 321, 184-93.
- EMMERSON, E., CAMPBELL, L., DAVIES, F. C., ROSS, N. L., ASHCROFT, G. S., KRUST, A., CHAMBON, P. & HARDMAN, M. J. 2012. Insulin-like growth factor-1 promotes wound healing in estrogen-deprived mice: new insights into cutaneous IGF-1R/ERalpha cross talk. J Invest Dermatol, 132, 2838-48.
- ENMARK, E. & GUSTAFSSON, J. A. 1999. Oestrogen receptors an overview. J Intern Med, 246, 133-8.
- EPSTEIN, E. H., JR. & MUNDERLOH, N. H. 1978. Human skin collagen. Presence of type I and type III at all levels of the dermis. *J Biol Chem*, 253, 1336-7.
- EZURE, T. & AMANO, S. 2015. Increment of subcutaneous adipose tissue is associated with decrease of elastic fibres in the dermal layer. *Exp Dermatol*, 24, 924-9.
- FANG, M., LIROFF, K. G., TURNER, A. S., LES, C. M., ORR, B. G. & HOLL, M. M. 2012. Estrogen depletion results in nanoscale morphology changes in dermal collagen. J Invest Dermatol, 132, 1791-7.
- FENSKE, N. A. & LOBER, C. W. 1986. Structural and functional changes of normal aging skin. J Am Acad Dermatol, 15, 571-85.
- FERNANDES, K. J., MCKENZIE, I. A., MILL, P., SMITH, K. M., AKHAVAN, M., BARNABE-HEIDER, F., BIERNASKIE, J., JUNEK, A., KOBAYASHI, N. R., TOMA, J. G., KAPLAN, D. R., LABOSKY, P. A., RAFUSE, V., HUI, C. C. & MILLER, F. D. 2004. A dermal niche for multipotent adult skinderived precursor cells. *Nat Cell Biol*, 6, 1082-93.
- FISHER, C. R., GRAVES, K. H., PARLOW, A. F. & SIMPSON, E. R. 1998. Characterization of mice deficient in aromatase (ArKO) because of targeted disruption of the cyp19 gene. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 95, 6965-70.
- FISHER, G. J., DATTA, S. C., TALWAR, H. S., WANG, Z. Q., VARANI, J., KANG, S. & VOORHEES, J. J. 1996. Molecular basis of sun-induced premature skin ageing and retinoid antagonism. *Nature*, 379, 335-9.
- FLIEGNER, D., SCHUBERT, C., PENKALLA, A., WITT, H., KARARIGAS, G., DWORATZEK, E., STAUB, E., MARTUS, P., RUIZ NOPPINGER, P., KINTSCHER, U., GUSTAFSSON, J. A. & REGITZ-ZAGROSEK, V. 2010. Female sex and estrogen receptor-beta attenuate cardiac remodeling and apoptosis in pressure overload. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol*, 298, R1597-606.
- FRANCIS, C. & ROBERT, L. 1984. Elastin and elastic fibres in normal and pathologic skin. *int J Dermatol*, 23, 166-179.
- FRANTZ, C., STEWART, K. M. & WEAVER, V. M. 2010. The extracellular matrix at a glance. *J Cell Sci*, 123, 4195-200.
- GARCIA-PEREZ, M. A., NOGUERA, I., HERMENEGILDO, C., MARTINEZ-ROMERO, A., TARIN, J. J. & CANO, A. 2006. Alterations in the phenotype and function of immune cells in ovariectomy-induced osteopenic mice. *Hum Reprod*, 21, 880-7.
- GELSE, K., POSCHL, E. & AIGNER, T. 2003. Collagens--structure, function, and biosynthesis. *Adv Drug Deliv Rev*, 55, 1531-46.
- GEMS, D. & DOONAN, R. 2009. Antioxidant defense and aging in C. elegans: is the oxidative damage theory of aging wrong? *Cell Cycle*, 8, 1681-7.
- GENG, Y., MCQUILLAN, D. & ROUGHLEY, P. J. 2006. SLRP interaction can protect collagen fibrils from cleavage by collagenases. *Matrix Biol*, 25, 484-91.
- GHERSETICH, I., LOTTI, T., CAMPANILE, G., GRAPPONE, C. & DINI, G. 1994. Hyaluronic acid in cutaneous intrinsic aging. *int J Dermatol*, 33, 119-22.
- GIBSON, T., STARK, H. & EVANS, J. H. 1969. Directional variation in extensibility of human skin in vivo. *J Biomech*, *2*, 201-4.

GILCHREST, B. A. 1982. Age-associated changes in the skin. J Am Geriatr Soc, 30, 139-43.

GORDON, M. K. & HAHN, R. A. 2010 Collagens. *Cell Tissue Res*, 339, 247-57.

- GORDON, T., KANNEL, W. B., HJORTLAND, M. C. & MCNAMARA, P. M. 1978. Menopause and coronary heart disease. The Framingham Study. *Ann Intern Med*, 89, 157-61.
- GOSLINE, J., LILLIE, M., CARRINGTON, E., GUERETTE, P., ORTLEPP, C. & SAVAGE, K. 2002. Elastic proteins: biological roles and mechanical properties. *Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci*, 357, 121-32.
- GRAGNANI, A., WARDE, M., FURTADO, F. & FERREIRA, L. M. 2010. Topical tamoxifen therapy in hypertrophic scars or keloids in burns. *Arch Dermatol Res*, 302, 1-4.
- GRAHAM, H. K., HODSON, N. W., HOYLAND, J. A., MILLWARD-SADLER, S. J., GARROD, D., SCOTHERN, A., GRIFFITHS, C. E., WATSON, R. E., COX, T. R., ERLER, J. T., TRAFFORD, A. W.
 & SHERRATT, M. J. 2010. Tissue section AFM: In situ ultrastructural imaging of native biomolecules. *Matrix Biol*, 29, 254-60.
- GREENDALE, G. A., BODIN-DUNN, L., INGLES, S., HAILE, R. & BARRETT-CONNOR, E. 1996. Leisure, home, and occupational physical activity and cardiovascular risk factors in postmenopausal women. The Postmenopausal Estrogens/Progestins Intervention (PEPI) Study. Arch Intern Med, 156, 418-24.
- GROSMAN, N., HVIDBERG, E. & SCHOU, J. 1971. The effect of oestrogenic treatment on the acid mucopolysaccharide pattern in skin of mice. *Acta Pharmacol Toxicol (Copenh)*, 30, 458-64.
- GUDJONSSON, J. E., JOHNSTON, A., DYSON, M., VALDIMARSSON, H. & ELDER, J. T. 2007. Mouse models of psoriasis. *J Invest Dermatol*, 127, 1292-308.
- HAAPASAARI, K. M., RAUDASKOSKI, T., KALLIOINEN, M., SUVANTO-LUUKKONEN, E., KAUPPILA, A., LAARA, E., RISTELI, J. & OIKARINEN, A. 1997. Systemic therapy with estrogen or estrogen with progestin has no effect on skin collagen in postmenopausal women. *Maturitas*, 27, 153-62.
- HACZYNSKI, J., TARKOWSKI, R., JARZABEK, K., WOLCZYNSKI, S., MAGOFFIN, D. A., CZARNOCKI, K. J., ZIEGERT, M., JAKOWICKI, J. & JAKIMIUK, A. J. 2004. Differential effects of estradiol, raloxifene and tamoxifen on estrogen receptor expression in cultured human skin fibroblasts. Int J Mol Med, 13, 903-8.
- HALL, G. & PHILLIPS, T. J. 2005. Estrogen and skin: the effects of estrogen, menopause, and hormone replacement therapy on the skin. *J Am Acad Dermatol*, 53, 555-68; quiz 569-72.
- HAORAH, J., RAMIREZ, S. H., SCHALL, K., SMITH, D., PANDYA, R. & PERSIDSKY, Y. 2007. Oxidative stress activates protein tyrosine kinase and matrix metalloproteinases leading to blood-brain barrier dysfunction. *J Neurochem*, 101, 566-76.
- HARDMAN, M. J. & ASHCROFT, G. S. 2008. Estrogen, not intrinsic aging, is the major regulator of delayed human wound healing in the elderly. *Genome Biol*, 9, R80.
- HARDMAN, M. J., EMMERSON, E., CAMPBELL, L. & ASHCROFT, G. S. 2008. Selective estrogen receptor modulators accelerate cutaneous wound healing in ovariectomized female mice. *Endocrinology*, 149, 551-7.
- HARLEY, C. B., FUTCHER, A. B. & GREIDER, C. W. 1990. Telomeres shorten during ageing of human fibroblasts. *Nature*, 345, 458-60.
- HAYFLICK, L. & MOORHEAD, P. S. 1961. The serial cultivation of human diploid cell strains. *Exp Cell Res*, 25, 585-621.
- HEINE, P. A., TAYLOR, J. A., IWAMOTO, G. A., LUBAHN, D. B. & COOKE, P. S. 2000. Increased adipose tissue in male and female estrogen receptor-alpha knockout mice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 97, 12729-34.
- HELDRING, N., PIKE, A., ANDERSSON, S., MATTHEWS, J., CHENG, G., HARTMAN, J., TUJAGUE, M., STROM, A., TREUTER, E., WARNER, M. & GUSTAFSSON, J. A. 2007. Estrogen receptors: how do they signal and what are their targets. *Physiol Rev*, 87, 905-31.

- HENDRIKS, F. M., BROKKEN, D., VAN EEMEREN, J. T., OOMENS, C. W., BAAIJENS, F. P. & HORSTEN, J. B. 2003. A numerical-experimental method to characterize the non-linear mechanical behaviour of human skin. *Skin Res Technol*, 9, 274-83.
- HENRY, F., PIERARD-FRANCHIMONT, C., CAUWENBERGH, G. & PIERARD, G. E. 1997. Age-related changes in facial skin contours and rheology. *J Am Geriatr Soc*, 45, 220-2.
- HERNANDEZ, I., DELGADO, J. L., DIAZ, J., QUESADA, T., TERUEL, M. J., LLANOS, M. C. & CARBONELL, L. F. 2000. 17beta-estradiol prevents oxidative stress and decreases blood pressure in ovariectomized rats. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol*, 279, R1599-605.
- HESS, W.M., SEEGMILLER, R.E., GARDNER, J.S., ALLEN, J.V., BARENDREGT, S. 1990Human hair morphology: a scanning electron microscopy study on a male Caucasoid and a computerized classification of regional differences *scanning micros.* 4, 375-86
- HIBBERT, S. A., WATSON, R. E., GIBBS, N. K., COSTELLO, P., BALDOCK, C., WEISS, A. S., GRIFFITHS, C. E. & SHERRATT, M. J. 2015. A potential role for endogenous proteins as sacrificial sunscreens and antioxidants in human tissues. *Redox Biol*, 5, 101-13.
- HICKS, J. 1999. A century of change Trends in UK statistics since 1900. House of Commons paper 99/111
- HILL, R. A. & BOON, W. C. 2009. Estrogens, brain, and behavior: lessons from knockout mouse models. *Semin Reprod Med*, 27, 218-28.
- HINZ, B. 2007. Formation and function of the myofibroblast during tissue repair. J Invest Dermatol, 127, 526-37.
- HOLIKOVA, Z., HERCOGOVA, J., PIZAK, J. & SMETANA, K., JR. 2001. Dendritic cells and their role in skin-induced immune responses. *J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol*, **15**, **116**-20.
- HU, H. L., FORSEY, R. J., BLADES, T. J., BARRATT, M. E., PARMAR, P. & POWELL, J. R. 2000. Antioxidants may contribute in the fight against ageing: an in vitro model. *Mech Ageing Dev*, 121, 217-30.
- HWANG, K. A., YI, B. R. & CHOI, K. C. 2011. Molecular mechanisms and in vivo mouse models of skin aging associated with dermal matrix alterations. *Lab Anim Res*, 27, 1-8.
- IOZZO, R. V. 1999. The biology of the small leucine-rich proteoglycans. Functional network of interactive proteins. *J Biol Chem*, 274, 18843-6.
- ISOGAI, Z., ONO, R. N., USHIRO, S., KEENE, D. R., CHEN, Y., MAZZIERI, R., CHARBONNEAU, N. L., REINHARDT, D. P., RIFKIN, D. B. & SAKAI, L. Y. 2003. Latent transforming growth factor beta-binding protein 1 interacts with fibrillin and is a microfibril-associated protein. *J Biol Chem*, 278, 2750-7.
- JACKSON, R. L., GREIWE, J. S. & SCHWEN, R. J. 2011. Ageing skin: oestrogen receptor beta agonists offer an approach to change the outcome. *Exp Dermatol*, 20, 879-82.
- JACQUEMOUD, C., BRUYERE-GARNIER, K. & CORET, M. 2007. Methodology to determine failure characteristics of planar soft tissues using a dynamic tensile test. *J Biomech*, 40, 468-75.
- JAKACKA, M., ITO, M., MARTINSON, F., ISHIKAWA, T., LEE, E. J. & JAMESON, J. L. 2002. An estrogen receptor (ER)alpha deoxyribonucleic acid-binding domain knock-in mutation provides evidence for nonclassical ER pathway signaling in vivo. *Mol Endocrinol,* 16, 2188-201.
- JAMESON, J. M., SHARP, L. L., WITHERDEN, D. A. & HAVRAN, W. L. 2004. Regulation of skin cell homeostasis by gamma delta T cells. *Front Biosci*, 9, 2640-51.
- JENKINS, G. 2002. Molecular mechanisms of skin ageing. *Mech Ageing Dev*, 123, 801-10.
- JIN, K. 2010. Modern Biological Theories of Aging. Aging Dis, 1, 72-74.
- JUNQUEIRA, L. C. U., MONTES, G. S., MARTINS, J. E. C., JOAZEIRO, P. P. & 1983. Dermal Collagen Distribution A histochemical and ultrastructural study. *Histochemisrty*, **79**, 397-403.
- KADOYA, K., SASAKI, T., KOSTKA, G., TIMPL, R., MATSUZAKI, K., KUMAGAI, N., SAKAI, L. Y., NISHIYAMA, T. & AMANO, S. 2005. Fibulin-5 deposition in human skin: decrease with ageing and ultraviolet B exposure and increase in solar elastosis. *Br J Dermatol*, 153, 607-12.
- KANDA, N. & WATANABE, S. 2003. 17beta-estradiol inhibits oxidative stress-induced apoptosis in keratinocytes by promoting Bcl-2 expression. *J Invest Dermatol*, 121, 1500-9.
- KANDA, N. & WATANABE, S. 2004. 17beta-estradiol stimulates the growth of human keratinocytes by inducing cyclin D2 expression. *J Invest Dermatol*, 123, 319-28.
- KANITAKIS, J. 2002. Anatomy, histology and immunohistochemistry of normal human skin. *Eur J Dermatol*, 12, 390-9; quiz 400-1.
- KANNEL, W. B., HJORTLAND, M. C., MCNAMARA, P. M. & GORDON, T. 1976. Menopause and risk of cardiovascular disease: the Framingham study. *Ann Intern Med*, 85, 447-52.
- KEENE, D. R., MADDOX, B. K., KUO, H. J., SAKAI, L. Y. & GLANVILLE, R. W. 1991. Extraction of extendable beaded structures and their identification as fibrillin-containing extracellular matrix microfibrils. J Histochem Cytochem, 39, 441-9.
- KIELTY, C. M. 2006. Elastic fibres in health and disease. Expert Rev Mol Med, 8, 1-23.
- KIELTY, C. M., SHERRATT, M. J. & SHUTTLEWORTH, C. A. 2002. Elastic fibres. *J Cell Sci*, 115, 2817-28.
- KIELTY, C. M., SHERRATT, M. J., MARSON, A. & BALDOCK, C. 2005. Fibrillin microfibrils. *Adv Protein Chem*, 70, 405-36.
- KIELTY, C. M., WESS, T. J., HASTON, L., ASHWORTH, J. L., SHERRATT, M. J. & SHUTTLEWORTH, C. A. 2002b. Fibrillin-rich microfibrils: elastic biopolymers of the extracellular matrix. J Muscle Res Cell Motil, 23, 581-96.
- KOHEN, R. 1999. Skin antioxidants: their role in aging and in oxidative stress- new approaches for their evaluation. *Biomed Pharmacother*, 53, 181-192.
- KOHL, E., STEINBAUER, J., LANDTHALER, M. & SZEIMIES, R. M. 2011. Skin ageing. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol, 25, 873-84.
- KORACH, K. S. 1994. Insights from the study of animals lacking functional estrogen receptor. *Science*, 266, 1524-7.
- KREGE, J. H., HODGIN, J. B., COUSE, J. F., ENMARK, E., WARNER, M., MAHLER, J. F., SAR, M., KORACH, K. S., GUSTAFSSON, J. A. & SMITHIES, O. 1998. Generation and reproductive phenotypes of mice lacking estrogen receptor beta. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 95, 15677-82.
- KUC, I. M. & SCOTT, P. G. 1997. Increased diameters of collagen fibrils precipitated in vitro in the presence of decorin from various connective tissues. *Connect Tissue Res*, 36, 287-96.
- KUIPER, G. G., ENMARK, E., PELTO-HUIKKO, M., NILSSON, S. & GUSTAFSSON, J. A. 1996. Cloning of a novel receptor expressed in rat prostate and ovary. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 93, 5925-30.
- LAFONTAN, M. 2012 Historical perspectives in fat cell biology: The fat cell as a model for the investigation of hormonal and metabolic pathways *Am j Physiol cell Pysiol* 302 327-359
- LAI-CHEONG, J. M., JA. 2009. Structure and function of skin, hair and nails *Medicine*, 37, 223-226
- LANGER, K. 1978. On the anatomy and physiology of the skin *British Journal of plastic surgery* 17, 93-106.
- LANGTON, A. K., GRIFFITHS, C. E., SHERRATT, M. J. & WATSON, R. E. 2012. Cross-linking of structural proteins in ageing skin: an in situ assay for the detection of amine oxidase activity. *Biogerontology*.
- LANGTON, A.K., HERRICK, S.E., HEADON, D.J. 2008 An extended epidermal response heals cutaneous wounds in the absence of a hair follicle stem cell contribution. *J Invest Dermatol* 128, 1311-8
- LANGTON, A. K., SHERRATT, M. J., GRIFFITHS, C. E. & WATSON, R. E. 2009. A new wrinkle on old skin: the role of elastic fibres in skin ageing. *Int J Cosmet Sci*.
- LANIR, Y. & FUNG, Y. C. 1974. Two-dimensional mechanical properties of rabbit skin. I. Experimental system. *J Biomech*, 7, 29-34.
- LAVKER, R. M., ZHENG, P. S. & DONG, G. 1987. Aged skin: a study by light, transmission electron, and scanning electron microscopy. *J Invest Dermatol*, 88, 44s-51s.

- LEE, E. J., JAKACKA, M., DUAN, W. R., CHIEN, P. Y., MARTINSON, F., GEHM, B. D. & JAMESON, J. L. 2001. Adenovirus-directed expression of dominant negative estrogen receptor induces apoptosis in breast cancer cells and regression of tumors in nude mice. *Mol Med*, 7, 773-82.
- LEE, W. L., HARRISON, R. E. & GRINSTEIN, S. 2003. Phagocytosis by neutrophils. *Microbes Infect,* 5, 1299-306.
- LIU, Z. A. Y., K 2008. The Preconditioning and Stress Relaxation of Skin Tissue. Journal of Biomedical & Pharmaceutical Engineering 2, 22-28.
- LUBAHN, D. B., MOYER, J. S., GOLDING, T. S., COUSE, J. F., KORACH, K. S. & SMITHIES, O. 1993. Alteration of reproductive function but not prenatal sexual development after insertional disruption of the mouse estrogen receptor gene. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 90, 11162-6.
- MAKRANTONAKI, E., VOGEL, K., FIMMEL, S., OEFF, M., SELTMANN, H. & ZOUBOULIS, C. C. 2008. Interplay of IGF-I and 17beta-estradiol at age-specific levels in human sebocytes and fibroblasts in vitro. *Exp Gerontol*, 43, 939-46.
- MARGOLIS, D. J., KNAUSS, J. & BILKER, W. 2002. Hormone replacement therapy and prevention of pressure ulcers and venous leg ulcers. *Lancet*, 359, 675-7.
- MARICICH, S. M., WELLNITZ, S. A., NELSON, A. M., LESNIAK, D. R., GERLING, G. J., LUMPKIN, E. A. & ZOGHBI, H. Y. 2009. Merkel cells are essential for light-touch responses. *Science*, 324, 1580-2.
- MARTINEZ, F. O., GORDON, S., LOCATI, M. & MANTOVANI, A. 2006. Transcriptional profiling of the human monocyte-to-macrophage differentiation and polarization: new molecules and patterns of gene expression. *J Immunol*, 177, 7303-11.
- MAXIMOV, P. Y., LEE, T. M. & JORDAN, V. C. 2013. The discovery and development of selective estrogen receptor modulators (SERMs) for clinical practice. *Curr Clin Pharmacol*, 8, 135-55.
- MCCONNELL, J. C., O'CONNELL, O. V., BRENNAN, K., WEIPING, L., HOWE, M., JOSEPH, L., KNIGHT, D., O'CUALAIN, R., LIM, Y., LEEK, A., WADDINGTON, R., ROGAN, J., ASTLEY, S. M., GANDHI, A., KIRWAN, C. C., SHERRATT, M. J. & STREULI, C. H. 2016. Increased peri-ductal collagen micro-organization may contribute to raised mammographic density. *Breast Cancer Res*, 18, 5.
- MITCHISON, T. J. & CRAMER, L. P. 1996. Actin-based cell motility and cell locomotion. *Cell*, 84, 371-9.
- MIYATA, T., WADA, Y., CAI, Z., IIDA, Y., HORIE, K., YASUDA, Y., MAEDA, K., KUROKAWA, K. & VAN YPERSELE DE STRIHOU, C. 1997. Implication of an increased oxidative stress in the formation of advanced glycation end products in patients with end-stage renal failure. *Kidney Int*, 51, 1170-81.
- MORAGAS, A., CASTELLS, C. & SANS, M. 1993. Mathematical morphologic analysis of agingrelated epidermal changes. *Anal Quant Cytol Histol*, 15, 75-82.
- MORANI, A., BARROS, R. P., IMAMOV, O., HULTENBY, K., ARNER, A., WARNER, M. & GUSTAFSSON, J. A. 2006. Lung dysfunction causes systemic hypoxia in estrogen receptor beta knockout (ERbeta-/-) mice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 103, 7165-9.
- MORONKEJI, K. & AKHTAR, R. 2015. *Mechanical Properties of Aging Human Skin*, Springer International Publishing.
- MOSEKILDE, L., BECK-NIELSEN, H., SORENSEN, O. H., NIELSEN, S. P., CHARLES, P., VESTERGAARD, P., HERMANN, A. P., GRAM, J., HANSEN, T. B., ABRAHAMSEN, B., EBBESEN, E. N., STILGREN, L., JENSEN, L. B., BROT, C., HANSEN, B., TOFTENG, C. L., EIKEN, P. & KOLTHOFF, N. 2000. Hormonal replacement therapy reduces forearm fracture incidence in recent postmenopausal women - results of the Danish Osteoporosis Prevention Study. *Maturitas*, 36, 181-93.
- MOVERARE, S., LINDBERG, M. K., FAERGEMANN, J., GUSTAFSSON, J. A. & OHLSSON, C. 2002. Estrogen receptor alpha, but not estrogen receptor beta, is involved in the regulation of

the hair follicle cycling as well as the thickness of epidermis in male mice. J Invest Dermatol, 119, 1053-8.

- MUIZNIEKS, L. D. & KEELEY, F. W. 2013. Molecular assembly and mechanical properties of the extracellular matrix: A fibrous protein perspective. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 1832, 866-75.
- MULLER-ROVER, S., FOITZIK, K., PAUS, R. 2001 A Comprehensive Guide for the Accurate Classification of Murine Hair Follicles in Distinct Hair Cycle Stages J invest dermatol 177 3-15
- NAREYECK, G., SEIDLER, D. G., TROYER, D., RAUTERBERG, J., KRESSE, H. & SCHONHERR, E. 2004. Differential interactions of decorin and decorin mutants with type I and type VI collagens. *Eur J Biochem*, 271, 3389-98.
- NAYLOR, E. C., WATSON, R. E. & SHERRATT, M. J. 2011. Molecular aspects of skin ageing. *Maturitas*, 69, 249-56.
- NEWMAN, S. L., HENSON, J. E. & HENSON, P. M. 1982. Phagocytosis of senescent neutrophils by human monocyte-derived macrophages and rabbit inflammatory macrophages. *J Exp Med*, 156, 430-42.
- NILSSON, M., DAHLMAN, I., RYDEN, M., NORDSTROM, E. A., GUSTAFSSON, J. A. ARNER, P., DAHLMAN-WRIGHT, K. 2007 Oestrogen receptor alpha gene expression levels are reduced in obese compared to normal weight females *Inter J Obesity* 30 900-907
- NOLI, C. & MIOLO, A. 2001. The mast cell in wound healing. Vet Dermatol, 12, 303-13.
- NOMURA, M., ANDERSSON, S., KORACH, K. S., GUSTAFSSON, J. A., PFAFF, D. W. & OGAWA, S. 2006. Estrogen receptor-beta gene disruption potentiates estrogen-inducible aggression but not sexual behaviour in male mice. *Eur J Neurosci*, 23, 1860-8.
- OGAWA, S., ENG, V., TAYLOR, J., LUBAHN, D. B., KORACH, K. S. & PFAFF, D. W. 1998. Roles of estrogen receptor-alpha gene expression in reproduction-related behaviors in female mice. *Endocrinology*, 139, 5070-81.
- OHNEMUS, U., UENALAN, M., CONRAD, F., HANDJISKI, B., MECKLENBURG, L., NAKAMURA, M., INZUNZA, J., GUSTAFSSON, J. A. & PAUS, R. 2005. Hair cycle control by estrogens: catagen induction via estrogen receptor (ER)-alpha is checked by ER beta signaling. *Endocrinology*, 146, 1214-25.
- OLIVIERI, J., SMALDONE, S. & RAMIREZ, F. 2010. Fibrillin assemblies: extracellular determinants of tissue formation and fibrosis. *Fibrogenesis Tissue Repair*, **3**, **24**.
- OLOVNIKOV, A. M. 1996. Telomeres, telomerase, and aging: origin of the theory. *Exp Gerontol*, 31, 443-8.
- OTSUKI, M., DAHLMAN-WRIGHT, K. & GUSTAFSSON, J. A. 2003. Cardiovascular roles of estrogen receptors: insights gained from knockout models. *Nucl Recept Signal*, **1**, e003.
- PARTRIDGE, S. M., ELSDEN, D. F. & THOMAS, J. 1963. Constitution of the cross-linkages in elastin. *Nature*, 197, 1297-8.
- PERRIMON, N. & BERNFIELD, M. 2001. Cellular functions of proteoglycans--an overview. *Semin Cell Dev Biol*, 12, 65-7.
- PIERARD, G. E., LETAWE, C., DOWLATI, A. & PIERARD-FRANCHIMONT, C. 1995. Effect of hormone replacement therapy for menopause on the mechanical properties of skin. *J Am Geriatr Soc*, 43, 662-5.
- PIERARD, G. E., NIKKELS-TASSOUDJI, N. & PIERARD-FRANCHIMONT, C. 1995b. Influence of the test area on the mechanical properties of skin. *Dermatology*, 191, 9-15.
- PIERARD-FRANCHIMONT, C., LETAWE, C., GOFFIN, V. & PIERARD, G. E. 1995. Skin water-holding capacity and transdermal estrogen therapy for menopause: a pilot study. *Maturitas*, 22, 151-4.
- PILCHER, B. K., WANG, M., QIN, X. J., PARKS, W. C., SENIOR, R. M. & WELGUS, H. G. 1999. Role of matrix metalloproteinases and their inhibition in cutaneous wound healing and allergic contact hypersensitivity. *Ann N Y Acad Sci*, 878, 12-24.
- PIMIENTA, G. & PASCUAL, J. 2007. Canonical and alternative MAPK signaling. *Cell Cycle*, 6, 2628-32.

- POCHI, P. E., STRAUSS, J. S. & DOWNING, D. T. 1979. Age-related changes in sebaceous gland activity. *J Invest Dermatol*, 73, 108-11.
- POLITO, F., MARINI, H., BITTO, A., IRRERA, N., VACCARO, M., ADAMO, E. B., MICALI, A., SQUADRITO, F., MINUTOLI, L. & ALTAVILLA, D. 2012. Genistein aglycone, a soy-derived isoflavone, improves skin changes induced by ovariectomy in rats. *Br J Pharmacol*, 165, 994-1005.
- POLJSAK, B. & DAHMANE, R. 2011. Free radicals and extrinsic skin aging. *Dermatology research and practice*, 2012.
- PUNNONEN, R. & KUURNE, T. 1987. Estrogen and progestin receptors in intracranial tumors. *Horm Res*, 27, 74-7.
- PUNNONEN, R., VAAJALAHTI, P. & TEISALA, K. 1987. Local oestriol treatment improves the structure of elastic fibers in the skin of postmenopausal women. *Ann Chir Gynaecol Suppl*, 202, 39-41.
- RAJKUMAR, V. S., SHIWEN, X., BOSTROM, M., LEONI, P., MUDDLE, J., IVARSSON, M., GERDIN, B., DENTON, C. P., BOU-GHARIOS, G., BLACK, C. M. & ABRAHAM, D. J. 2006. Platelet-derived growth factor-beta receptor activation is essential for fibroblast and pericyte recruitment during cutaneous wound healing. *Am J Pathol*, 169, 2254-65.
- RAURAMO, L. & PUNNONEN, R. 1969. [Effect of oral estrogen treatment with estriol succinate on the skin of castrated women]. *Z Haut Geschlechtskr*, 44, 463-70.
- RIVERA-GONZALEZ, G., SHOOK, B., HORSLEY. V. 2014 Adiocytes in health and disease CSH perspec in med
- ROBB, B. W., WACHI, H., SCHAUB, T., MECHAM, R. P. & DAVIS, E. C. 1999. Characterization of an in vitro model of elastic fiber assembly. *Mol Biol Cell*, 10, 3595-605.
- ROBERT, L., ROBERT, A. M. & FULOP, T. 2008. Rapid increase in human life expectancy: will it soon be limited by the aging of elastin? *Biogerontology*, 9, 119-33.
- ROCK, M. J., CAIN, S. A., FREEMAN, L. J., MORGAN, A., MELLODY, K., MARSON, A., SHUTTLEWORTH, C. A., WEISS, A. S. & KIELTY, C. M. 2004. Molecular basis of elastic fiber formation. Critical interactions and a tropoelastin-fibrillin-1 cross-link. J Biol Chem, 279, 23748-58.
- RODRIGUES, L. 2001. EEMCO guidance to the in vivo assessment of tensile functional properties of the skin. Part 2: instrumentation and test modes. *Skin Pharmacol Appl Skin Physiol*, 14, 52-67.
- ROSEN, E. D., MACDOUGALD, O. A., 2006 Adipocyte differentiation from the inside out *Nat rev* molec cell biol 7 885-896
- ROUTLEY, C. E. & ASHCROFT, G. S. 2009. Effect of estrogen and progesterone on macrophage activation during wound healing. *Wound Repair Regen*, **17**, 42-50.
- RUSSELL, S. T., ELEY, H. & TISDALE, M. J. 2007. Mechanism of attenuation of angiotensin-Ilinduced protein degradation by insulin-like growth factor-I (IGF-I). *Cell Signal*, 19, 1583-95.
- SANDBERG, L. B., WEISSMAN, N. & GRAY, W. R. 1971. Structural features of tropoelastin related to the sites of cross-links in aortic elastin. *Biochemistry*, 10, 52-6.
- SARDY, M. 2009. Role of matrix metalloproteinases in skin ageing. *Connect Tissue Res*, 50, 132-8.
- SATOR, P. G., SCHMIDT, J. B., SATOR, M. O., HUBER, J. C. & HONIGSMANN, H. 2001. The influence of hormone replacement therapy on skin ageing: a pilot study. *Maturitas*, 39, 43-55.
- SAUERBRONN, A. V., FONSECA, A. M., BAGNOLI, V. R., SALDIVA, P. H. & PINOTTI, J. A. 2000. The effects of systemic hormonal replacement therapy on the skin of postmenopausal women. *Int J Gynaecol Obstet*, 68, 35-41.
- SAVILLE, C. R. & HARDMAN, M. J. 2015. The Role of Estrogen Deficiency in Skin Aging and Wound Healing *In:* FARAGE, M. A., MILLER, K. W., FURGATE WOODS, N. & MAIBACH, H. I. (eds.) *Skin, Mucosa and Menopause.* Springer.

- SCHARFFETTER-KOCHANEK, K., WLASCHEK, M., BRENNEISEN, P., SCHAUEN, M., BLAUDSCHUN, R. & WENK, J. 1997. UV-induced reactive oxygen species in photocarcinogenesis and photoaging. *Biol Chem*, 378, 1247-57.
- SHAH, M. G. & MAIBACH, H. I. 2001. Estrogen and skin. An overview. *Am J Clin Dermatol*, 2, 143-50.
- SHAPIRO, S. D., ENDICOTT, S. K., PROVINCE, M. A., PIERCE, J. A. & CAMPBELL, E. J. 1991. Marked longevity of human lung parenchymal elastic fibers deduced from prevalence of Daspartate and nuclear weapons-related radiocarbon. J Clin Invest, 87, 1828-34.
- SHERRATT, M. J. 2009. Tissue elasticity and the ageing elastic fibre. Age (Dordr), 31, 305-25.
- SHERRATT, M. J. 2013. Age-Related Tissue Stiffening: Cause and Effect. Adv Wound Care (New Rochelle), 2, 11-17.
- SHERRATT, M. J., BALDOCK, C., HASTON, J. L., HOLMES, D. F., JONES, C. J., SHUTTLEWORTH, C. A., WESS, T. J. & KIELTY, C. M. 2003. Fibrillin microfibrils are stiff reinforcing fibres in compliant tissues. J Mol Biol, 332, 183-93.
- SHERRATT, M. J., BAYLEY, C. P., REILLY, S. M., GIBBS, N. K., GRIFFITHS, C. E. & WATSON, R. E. 2010. Low-dose ultraviolet radiation selectively degrades chromophore-rich extracellular matrix components. *J Pathol*, 222, 32-40.
- SHERRATT, M. J., WESS, T. J., BALDOCK, C., ASHWORTH, J., PURSLOW, P. P., SHUTTLEWORTH, C.
 A. & KIELTY, C. M. 2001. Fibrillin-rich microfibrils of the extracellular matrix: ultrastructure and assembly. *Micron*, 32, 185-200.
- SHIM, G. J., WANG, L., ANDERSSON, S., NAGY, N., KIS, L. L., ZHANG, Q., MAKELA, S., WARNER, M. & GUSTAFSSON, J. A. 2003. Disruption of the estrogen receptor beta gene in mice causes myeloproliferative disease resembling chronic myeloid leukemia with lymphoid blast crisis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 100, 6694-9.
- SHUGHRUE, P. J., ASKEW, G. R., DELLOVADE, T. L. & MERCHENTHALER, I. 2002. Estrogen-binding sites and their functional capacity in estrogen receptor double knockout mouse brain. *Endocrinology*, 143, 1643-50.
- SILVER, F. H., FREEMAN, J. W. & DEVORE, D. 2001. Viscoelastic properties of human skin and processed dermis. *Skin Res Technol*, **7**, 18-23.
- SILVER, F. H., KATO, Y. P., OHNO, M. & WASSERMAN, A. J. 1992. Analysis of mammalian connective tissue: relationship between hierarchical structures and mechanical properties. *J Long Term Eff Med Implants*, 2, 165-98.
- SINGER, A. J. & CLARK, R. A. 1999. Cutaneous wound healing. *N Engl J Med*, 341, 738-46.
- SINHA, S., NEVETT, C., SHUTTLEWORTH, C. A. & KIELTY, C. M. 1998. Cellular and extracellular biology of the latent transforming growth factor-beta binding proteins. *Matrix Biol*, 17, 529-45.
- SON, E. D., LEE, J. Y., LEE, S., KIM, M. S., LEE, B. G., CHANG, I. S. & CHUNG, J. H. 2005. Topical application of 17beta-estradiol increases extracellular matrix protein synthesis by stimulating tgf-Beta signaling in aged human skin in vivo. *J Invest Dermatol*, 124, 1149-61.
- SPALDING, K.L., ARNER, E., WESTERMARK, P.O., BERNARD, S., BUCHHOZ, B.A., BERGMANN, O., BLOMQVIST, L., HOFFSTEDT, J., NASLUND, E., BRITTON, T., Et al. 2008 Dynamics of fat cell turnover in humans *Nature* 453 783-787
- STEPLEWSKI, A., KASINSKAS, A. & FERTALA, A. 2012. Remodeling of the dermal-epidermal junction in bilayered skin constructs after silencing the expression of the p.R2622Q and p.G2623C collagen VII mutants. *Connect Tissue Res*, 53, 379-89.
- STEVENSON, S., NELSON, L. D., SHARPE, D. T. & THORNTON, M. J. 2008. 17beta-estradiol regulates the secretion of TGF-beta by cultured human dermal fibroblasts. *J Biomater Sci Polym Ed*, 19, 1097-109.
- SUMINO, H., ICHIKAWA, S., ABE, M., ENDO, Y., ISHIKAWA, O. & KURABAYASHI, M. 2004. Effects of aging, menopause, and hormone replacement therapy on forearm skin elasticity in women. *J Am Geriatr Soc*, 52, 945-9.

- SUMINO, H., ICHIKAWA, S., KASAMA, S., TAKAHASHI, T., KUMAKURA, H., TAKAYAMA, Y., KANDA, T., MURAKAMI, M. & KURABAYASHI, M. 2009. Effects of raloxifene and hormone replacement therapy on forearm skin elasticity in postmenopausal women. *Maturitas*, 62, 53-7.
- SWOPE, D. L., CASTRANIO, T., HARRELL, J. C., MISHINA, Y. & KORACH, K. S. 2002. AF-2 knock-in mutation of estrogen receptor alpha: Cre-loxP excision of a PGK-neo cassette from the 3' UTR. *Genesis*, 32, 99-101.
- TALWAR, H. S., GRIFFITHS, C. E., FISHER, G. J., HAMILTON, T. A. & VOORHEES, J. J. 1995. Reduced type I and type III procollagens in photodamaged adult human skin. *J Invest Dermatol*, 105, 285-90.
- THAM, D. M., GARDNER, C. D. & HASKELL, W. L. 1998. Clinical review 97: Potential health benefits of dietary phytoestrogens: a review of the clinical, epidemiological, and mechanistic evidence. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 83, 2223-35.

THORNTON, M. J. 2002. The biological actions of estrogens on skin. *Exp Dermatol*, 11, 487-502.

- THORNTON, M. J., TAYLOR, A. H., MULLIGAN, K., AL-AZZAWI, F., LYON, C. C., O'DRISCOLL, J. & MESSENGER, A. G. 2003. Oestrogen receptor beta is the predominant oestrogen receptor in human scalp skin. *Exp Dermatol*, 12, 181-90.
- THURSTAN, S. A., GIBBS, N. K., LANGTON, A. K., GRIFFITHS, C. E., WATSON, R. E. & SHERRATT, M. J. 2012. Chemical consequences of cutaneous photoageing. *Chem Cent J*, 6, 34.
- TIMPL, R. 1996. Macromolecular organization of basement membranes. *Curr Opin Cell Biol,* 8, 618-24.
- TREUTING, P. M., DINTZIS, S., LIGGITT, D. & C.W, F. (eds.) 2012. Comparative anatomy and histology a mouse and human atlas
- TSOURELI-NIKITA, E., WATSON, R. E. & GRIFFITHS, C. E. 2006. Photoageing: the darker side of the sun. *Photochem Photobiol Sci*, 5, 160-4.
- TSUKAHARA, K., MORIWAKI, S., OHUCHI, A., FUJIMURA, T. & TAKEMA, Y. 2001. Ovariectomy accelerates photoaging of rat skin. *Photochem Photobiol*, 73, 525-31.
- TSUKAHARA, K., NAKAGAWA, H., MORIWAKI, S., KAKUO, S., OHUCHI, A., TAKEMA, Y. & IMOKAWA, G. 2004. Ovariectomy is sufficient to accelerate spontaneous skin ageing and to stimulate ultraviolet irradiation-induced photoageing of murine skin. *Br J Dermatol*, 151, 984-94.
- VARILA, E., RANTALA, I., OIKARINEN, A., RISTELI, J., REUNALA, T., OKSANEN, H. & PUNNONEN, R. 1995. The effect of topical oestradiol on skin collagen of postmenopausal women. *Br J Obstet Gynaecol*, 102, 985-9.
- VERDIER-SEVRAIN, S., BONTE, F. & GILCHREST, B. 2006. Biology of estrogens in skin: implications for skin aging. *Exp Dermatol*, 15, 83-94.
- VERDIER-SEVRAIN, S., YAAR, M., CANTATORE, J., TRAISH, A. & GILCHREST, B. A. 2004. Estradiol induces proliferation of keratinocytes via a receptor mediated mechanism. *FASEB J*, 18, 1252-4.
- VERZIJL, N., DEGROOT, J., BEN, Z. C., BRAU-BENJAMIN, O., MAROUDAS, A., BANK, R. A., MIZRAHI, J., SCHALKWIJK, C. G., THORPE, S. R., BAYNES, J. W., BIJLSMA, J. W., LAFEBER, F. P. & TEKOPPELE, J. M. 2002. Crosslinking by advanced glycation end products increases the stiffness of the collagen network in human articular cartilage: a possible mechanism through which age is a risk factor for osteoarthritis. *Arthritis Rheum*, 46, 114-23.
- VERZIJL, N., DEGROOT, J., THORPE, S. R., BANK, R. A., SHAW, J. N., LYONS, T. J., BIJLSMA, J. W., LAFEBER, F. P., BAYNES, J. W. & TEKOPPELE, J. M. 2000. Effect of collagen turnover on the accumulation of advanced glycation end products. *J Biol Chem*, 275, 39027-31.
- WAGENSEIL, J. E. & MECHAM, R. P. 2007. New insights into elastic fiber assembly. *Birth Defects Res C Embryo Today*, 81, 229-40.
- WAGNER, E. F., SCHONTHALER, H. B., GUINEA-VINIEGRA, J. & TSCHACHLER, E. 2010. Psoriasis: what we have learned from mouse models. *Nat Rev Rheumatol*, 6, 704-14.

- WALKER, V. R. & KORACH, K. S. 2004. Estrogen receptor knockout mice as a model for endocrine research. *Ilar J*, 45, 455-61.
- WALTER, P., GREEN, S., GREENE, G., KRUST, A., BORNERT, J. M., JELTSCH, J. M., STAUB, A., JENSEN, E., SCRACE, G., WATERFIELD, M. & ET AL. 1985. Cloning of the human estrogen receptor cDNA. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 82, 7889-93.
- WANG, M. C., LU, Y. & BALDOCK, C. 2009. Fibrillin microfibrils: a key role for the interbead region in elasticity. *J Mol Biol*, 388, 168-79.
- WATSON, R. E., GRIFFITHS, C. E., CRAVEN, N. M., SHUTTLEWORTH, C. A. & KIELTY, C. M. 1999. Fibrillin-rich microfibrils are reduced in photoaged skin. Distribution at the dermalepidermal junction. *J Invest Dermatol*, 112, 782-7.
- WEINBAUM, J. S., BROEKELMANN, T. J., PIERCE, R. A., WERNECK, C. C., SEGADE, F., CRAFT, C. S., KNUTSEN, R. H. & MECHAM, R. P. 2008. Deficiency in microfibril-associated glycoprotein-1 leads to complex phenotypes in multiple organ systems. *J Biol Chem*, 283, 25533-43.
- WEINERT, B. T. & TIMIRAS, P. S. 2003. Invited review: Theories of aging. J Appl Physiol (1985), 95, 1706-16.
- WESS, T. J., PURSLOW, P. P. & KIELTY, C. M. 1998. X-Ray diffraction studies of fibrillin-rich microfibrils: effects of tissue extension on axial and lateral packing. *J Struct Biol*, 122, 123-7.
- WICKETT, R. R., WISSCHER, M.O 2006. Structure and function of the epidermal barrier AM J infect Control, 34, S98-S110WINSOR, T., BURCH G.E 1944. Differential roles of layers of human epigastric skin on diffusion rate of water. Arch Intern Med, 74, 428-436.
- WISE, S. G. & WEISS, A. S. 2009. Tropoelastin. Int J Biochem Cell Biol, 41, 494-7.
- WOOD, E. J., BLADON, P. T. 1985. The Human Skin, Edward Arnold (Publishers) Ltd.
- WYSOCKI, A. B. 1999. Skin anatomy, physiology, and pathophysiology. *Nurs Clin North Am*, 34, 777-97, v.
- YOON, I. K., KIM, H. K., KIM, Y. K., SONG, I. H., KIM, W., KIM, S., BAEK, S. H., KIM, J. H. & KIM, J. R.
 2004. Exploration of replicative senescence-associated genes in human dermal fibroblasts by cDNA microarray technology. *Exp Gerontol*, 39, 1369-78.
- ZHANG, M., PIERCE, R. A., WACHI, H., MECHAM, R. P. & PARKS, W. C. 1999. An open reading frame element mediates posttranscriptional regulation of tropoelastin and responsiveness to transforming growth factor beta1. *Mol Cell Biol*, 19, 7314-26.

7 Method Appendix

Tissue preparation

Tissue Fixative

Centramide 0.5g

Sodium chloride 9g

Distilled water 920ml

Formaldehyde 40ml

Acetic acid 20ml

Vectabond

Slides incubated in 100% acetone for 5 minutes

Slides transferred to 350ml acetone containing 1 vial of vectabond solution (Vector laboratories, UK)

Histological analysis

Immunohistochemistry

PBS

Phosphate buffer (Sigma) 25ml

Sodium Chloride 6g

Up to 1I with distilled water

Citrate buffer

Citric acid 2.1g

Distilled water 900ml

pH to 6.0

Make up to 1L with distilled water

Blocking Serum (Vector laboratories, UK)

PBS 10 ml

Normal blocking serum 3 drops (Vector laboratories, UK)

Secondary antibody (Vector laboratories, UK)

PBS 10ml

ABC Reagent

PBS 10ml

4 drops of Reagent A (Vector laboratories, UK)
4 drops of Reagent B (Vector laboratories, UK)
Biotinylated antibody 2 drops (Vector laboratories, UK)
Novared (Vector laboratories, UK)
Distilled water 10 ml
Reagent 1 6 drops (Vector laboratories, UK)
Reagent 2 4 drops (Vector laboratories, UK)
Reagent 3 4 drops (Vector laboratories, UK)
Hydrogen peroxide 4 drops (Vector laboratories, UK)

Histological stains

Aldehyde fuchsin

Basic fuchsin 5g

Distilled water 150ml

Ethanol 350ml

Solution mixed and warmed to dissolve then filtered before adding

Hydrochloric acid 5ml

Paraldehyde 10ml

Aniline Blue

Analine Blue 25 g

Glacial acetic acid 20 ml

Distilled water 1L

Biebrich scarlet-acid fuchsin

Brebrich scarlet (1% aqueous) 360ml

Acid fuchsin (1% aqueous) 40ml

Glacial acetic acid 4ml

Weigert Hematoxylin

Solution A

Haemotoxylin 10g

IMS 950ml

Distilled water 50ml <u>Solution B</u> Ferric chloride (29% aqueous) 20ml Distilled water 275 ml Glacial acetic acid 5ml Working solution is equal parts A and B **Phosphomolybdic/Phospotungstic Acid solution** Phosphmolybdic acid 25g Phospotungstic acid 25g

Distilled water 1

Quantitative Real-time PCR

qPCR Matermix (per reaction)

MESA green mastermix (Eurogentec) 12.5µl

Nuclease free water $2.5 \mu l$

Forward primer 0.225µl

Reverse primer $0.225 \mu l$

Protein analysis

Western blot

Running buffer

10 x Tris-glycine SDS (Bio-Rad) 100ml

Distilled water 900ml

Separating gel

4 x Tris- HCL pH8.8 3.75ml

10% SDS 150µl

10% Ammonium persulphate (Bio-Rad) 50µl

0.8% Bisacrylamide (National Diagnostics) 5ml

Distilled water 6.25ml

Stacking gel

0.8% Bisacrylamide (National Diagnostics) 0.6ml

4 x Tris- HCL pH6.8 1.25ml

10% SDS 50µl

10% Ammonium persulphate (Bio-Rad) 25µl

TBS-Tween (10X)

Tris base 6g

Sodium chloride 9g

Tween 20 100ml

Up to 1I with distilled water

Used at 1x (100ml in 900ml distilled water)

TBS-Tween Milk

Skim milk powder 5g

1x TBST 100ml

Transfer buffer

10x Tris-Glycine SDS (Bio-Rad) 100ml

Methanol 200ml

Distilled water 700ml

Mass spectrometry

Digest buffer

1mM calcium chloride

25mM ammonium bicarbonate

ExNa extraction buffer

2M NaCl

25mM ammonium bicarbonate

25mM dithiothretol

Injection solution

5% acetonitrile

0.1% trifluroacetic acid in water